



Essays in Applied Econometrics and Education

Citation

Barrios, Thomas. 2014. Essays in Applied Econometrics and Education. Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University.

Permanent link

http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:12274546

Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#LAA

Share Your Story

The Harvard community has made this article openly available. Please share how this access benefits you. <u>Submit a story</u>.

Accessibility

Essays in Applied Econometrics and Education

A dissertation presented

by

Thomas Barrios

to

The Department of Economics

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in the subject of

Economics

Harvard University

Cambridge, Massachusetts

April 2014

© 2014 Thomas Barrios

All rights reserved.

Essays in Applied Econometrics and Education

Abstract

This dissertation consists of three essays. First, we explore the implications of correlations that do not vanishing for units in different clusters for the actual and estimated precision of least squares estimators. Our main theoretical result is that with equal-sized clusters, if the covariate of interest is randomly assigned at the cluster level, only accounting for nonzero covariances at the cluster level, and ignoring correlations between clusters as well as differences in within-cluster correlations, leads to valid confidence intervals. Next, we examine the choice of pairs in matched pair randomized experiments. We show that stratifying on the conditional expectation of the outcome given baseline variables is optimal in matched-pair randomized experiments. Last, we measure the effect of decreased course availability on grades, degree attainment, and transfer to four-year colleges using a regression discontinuity from course enrollment queues due to oversubscribed courses. We find that in the short run students substitute unavailable courses with others.

Contents

	Abst	tract	iii						
	Ack	nowledgments	ix						
In	trodu	ction	1						
1	Clus	stering, Spatial Correlations and Randomization Inference	3						
	1.1	Introduction	3						
	1.2	Framework	5						
	1.3	Spatial Correlation Patterns in Earnings	8						
	1.4	Randomization Inference	17						
	1.5	Randomization Inference with Cluster-level Randomization	19						
	1.6	Variance Estimation Under Misspecification	21						
	1.7	Spatial Correlation in State Averages	23						
	1.8	A Small Simulation Study	26						
	1.9	Conclusion	29						
2	Ontimal Stratification in Randomized Experiments								
_	2.1	Introduction \ldots	30						
	2.2	Main Result	34						
		2.2.1 General solution to the matching problem	41						
	2.3	Matching in Practice	43						
	2.4	Inference in Matched Pair Randomization	45						
		2.4.1 Treatment Compliance	46						
	2.5	Model Selection and Prediction Methods	46						
		2.5.1 AIC and BIC	47						
		2.5.2 Ridge and Lasso	50						
	2.6	Data and Simulations	51						
		2.6.1 Dataset descriptions	51						
		2.6.2 Data generating process	53						
		2.6.3 Benchmark performance	56						

		2.6.4	Choice of matching variable	57
		2.6.5	Are standard errors the correct size?	57
		2.6.6	Performance with smaller training set	59
		2.6.7	Performance in small experiments	59
		2.6.8	Performance in large experiments	60
	2.7	Literati	ure	61
		2.7.1	Extensions to other randomization settings	66
	2.8	Conclu	sion	68
3	Cou	rse Avai	ilability and College Enrollment: Evidence from administrative data and	l
	enro	ollment o	liscontinuities	69
	3.1	Introdu	ction	69
	3.2	Institut	ional Background and Data	72
		3.2.1	Course Enrollment	73
		3.2.2	Instrument Construction	74
	3.3	Identifi	cation and Reduced-Form Evidence	77
		3.3.1	Identification	77
		3.3.2	First Stage	80
		3.3.3	Validity Checks	82
		3.3.4	No Sorting Across Wait List Position	83
		3.3.5	Reduced Form Evidence	85
	3.4	IV Res	ults	87
		3.4.1	Course Enrollment	88
		3.4.2	GPA and Persistence	91
		3.4.3	Enrollment at 4-year and other 2-year colleges	91
	3.5	Subgro	up Analysis and Robustness Checks	92
	3.6	Conclu	sions	95
Re	eferen	ices		96
Ar	opend	lix A A	ppendix to Chapter 1	104
-	A.1	Supple	mentary Results	104
Aŗ	opend	lix B A	ppendix to Chapter 2	111
	B .1	Supple	mentary Results	111
	B.2	Supple	mentary Tables	121
Aŗ	opend	lix C A	ppendix to Chapter 3	125
	C .1	Supple	mentary Tables	125

List of Tables

1.1	Sample Sizes	8					
1.2	Summary Statistics	9					
1.3	Estimates for Clustering Variances for Demeaned Log Earnings 13						
1.4	p-values for Mantel Statistics, based on 10,000,000 draws and one-sided alternatives	25					
1.5	Size of <i>t</i> -tests (in %) using different variance estimators (500,000 draws). \ldots	28					
2.1	Counter example where treatment effect not independent of (X, ϵ)	41					
2.2	Dataset Summary Statistics	55					
2.3	DGP Descriptions 1-3	56					
2.4	DGP Descriptions 4-6	57					
2.5	Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods	58					
2.6	Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods	58					
2.7	Power for Multiple Randomization Methods	59					
3.1	Hypothetical Enrollment Log	75					
3.2	Summary Statistics: Race	76					
3.3	Summary Statistics: Demographics	77					
3.4	First Stage OLS Regressions	82					
3.5	TSLS Estimates of Effects on Course Enrollment	89					
3.6	TSLS Estimates of Effects on Course Enrollment (CCT)	90					
3.7	TSLS Estimates of Effects on GPA and Persistence (CCT)	91					
3.8	TSLS Estimates of Effects on Four-Year College and Two-Year College Enrollment						
	(CCT)	92					
B .1	Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods 1	121					
B.2	Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods 1	121					
B.3	Power for Multiple Randomization Methods 1	122					
B. 4	Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods 2	122					
B.5	Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods 2	122					
B.6	Power for Multiple Randomization Methods 2	123					
B .7	Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods 3	123					

B.8	Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods 3	123
B.9	Power for Multiple Randomization Methods 3	124
C.1	Cubic Local Polynomial Results, (CCT)	126
C.2	Local Linear TSLS, with control variables (BW of 5)	127
C.3	Local Linear TSLS, with more extensive control variables (BW of 5)	128
C.4	Local Linear TSLS, with more extensive control variables (BW of 3)	129

List of Figures

1.1	Covariance of Demeaned Log(Earnings) by Distance Between Individuals	11
1.2	Covariance of Demeaned Log(Earnings) by Distance Between Individuals	12
1.3	States with minimum wage higher than federal minimum wage	15
1.4	New England/East North Central States	16
2.1	Counter example where treatment effect not independent of (X, ϵ)	42
2.2	How auxiliary data is used in Matched Pair Randomization	44
3.1	First Stage: Mean Enrollment in Wait-listed Section as a Function of Relative Wait	
	List Position	81
3.2	Smoothness on Covariates: Race and Citizenship Indicators	83
3.3	Smoothness on Covariates: Age, Gender, a priori Education	84
3.4	No Sorting Across Wait-list position	85
3.5	Enrollment in Other Sections, all subjects, concurrent term	86
3.6	Enrollment in Other Sections in the same subject, concurrent term	87
3.7	Stayed in School, 1 year	88

Acknowledgments

Financial support for research in the first chapter was generously provided through NSF grant 0820361. My coauthors and I are grateful for comments by participants in the econometrics lunch seminar at Harvard University, and in particular for discussions with Gary Chamberlain. I am grateful to my Ph.D. advisers Gary Chamberlain, Ed Glaeser, Guido Imbens, and Larry Katz for their generous guidance in writing the second chapter. I thank Don Rubin, Max Kasy, Claudia Goldin, Stefano DellaVigna, Roland Fryer, Michael Kremer, Sendhil Mullainathan, Jose Montiel Olea, Raj Chetty, Rick Hornbeck, Nathaniel Hilger, and Silvia Robles for helpful comments. I am grateful to seminar participants at the Harvard Labor, Development, and Econometrics workshops and at the MIT Development workshop. Financial support for research in the second chapter was generously provided through an Education Innovation Lab Research Fellowship. My coauthors and I thank Larry Katz and Ed Glaeser for helpful comments on the third chapter. We thank Dean Jerry Rosenberg for helpful information on registration and wait lists.

To my parents, Susan Ipongi, Greg Butler, Gail Bunch, Michele Thompson, Richard Rankins, Robert Lawson, Moori Schiesel-Manning, Richard Nolan, David Lee, and Theresa Olele.

Introduction

This dissertation consists of three chapters. The first examines clustering, spatial correlation and randomization inference. The second explores optimal stratification in matched pair randomized experiments. The third uses evidence from administrative data and enrollment discontinuities to examine the effect course availability on college enrollment.

The first chapter is motivated by the observation that it is standard practice in empirical work to allow for clustering in the error covariance matrix if the explanatory variables of interest vary at a more aggregate level than the units of observation. Often, however, the structure of the error covariance matrix is more complex, with correlations varying in magnitude within clusters, and not vanishing between clusters. Here we explore the implications of such correlations for the actual and estimated precision of least squares estimators. We show that with equal sized clusters, if the covariate of interest is randomly assigned at the cluster level, only accounting for non-zero covariances at the cluster level, and ignoring correlations between clusters, leads to valid standard errors and confidence intervals. However, in many cases this may not suffice. For example, state policies exhibit substantial spatial correlations. As a result, ignoring spatial correlations in outcomes beyond that accounted for by the clustering at the state level, may well bias standard errors. We illustrate our findings using the 5% public use census data. Based on these results we recommend researchers assess the extent of spatial correlations in explanatory variables beyond state level clustering, and if such correlations are present, take into account spatial correlations beyond the clustering correlations typically accounted for.

The second chapter is motivated by the question of how best to randomize with many baseline

covariates. We show that stratifying on the conditional expectation of the outcome given baseline variables is optimal in matched-pair randomized experiments. The assignment minimizes the variance of the post-treatment difference in mean outcomes between treatment and controls. Optimal pairing depends only on predicted values of outcomes for experimental units, where the predicted values are the conditional expectations. After randomization, both frequentist inference and randomization inference depend only on the actual strata chosen and not on estimated predicted values. This gives experimenters a way to use big data (possibly more covariates than the number of experimental units) ex-ante while maintaining simple post-experiment inference techniques. Optimizing the randomization with respect to one outcome allows researchers to credibly signal the outcome of interest prior to the experiment. Inference can be conducted in the standard way by regressing the outcome on treatment and strata indicators. We illustrate the application of the methodology by running simulations based on a set of field experiments. We find that optimal designs have mean squared errors 23% less than randomized designs.

The third chapter examines the effect course availability on college enrollment. Community colleges serve close to half of the undergraduate students in the United States and tuition at two-year public/non-profit colleges is mostly a public expenditure. We measure the effect of decreased course availability on grades, degree attainment, and transfer to four-year colleges using a regression discontinuity from course enrollment queues due to oversubscribed courses. Using a panel from a large California community college and the National Student Clearinghouse we find that in the short run students substitute unavailable courses with others. We find no significant effects on later outcomes, given the precision of our tests, however we cannot rule out economically significant effects.

Chapter 1

Clustering, Spatial Correlations and Randomization Inference¹

1.1 Introduction

Many economic studies that analyze the effects of interventions on economic behavior study interventions that are constant within clusters whereas the outcomes vary at a more disaggregate level. In a typical example, and the one we focus on in this paper, outcomes are measured at the individual level, whereas interventions or treatments vary only at the state (cluster) level. Often, the effect of interventions is estimated using least squares regression. Since the mid-eighties (Liang and Zeger, 1986; Moulton, 1986), empirical researchers in social sciences have generally been aware of the implications of within-cluster correlations in outcomes for the precision of such estimates. The typical approach is to allow for correlation between outcomes in the same cluster in the specification of the error covariance matrix. However, there may well be more complex correlation patterns in the data.

¹Co-authored with Rebecca Diamond, Guido W. Imbens, and Michal Kolesar

Correlation in outcomes between individuals may extend beyond state boundaries, it may vary in magnitude between states, and it may be stronger in more narrowly defined geographical areas.

In this paper we investigate the implications, for the repeated sampling variation of least squares estimators based on individual-level data, of the presence of correlation structures beyond those which are constant within and identical across states, and which vanish between states. First, we address the empirical question whether in census data on earnings with states as clusters such correlation patterns are present to a substantially meaningful degree. We estimate general spatial correlations for the logarithm of earnings, and find that, indeed, such correlations are present, with substantial correlations within groups of nearby states, and correlations within smaller geographic units (specifically pumas, public use microdata areas) considerably larger than within states. Second, we address whether accounting for such correlations is important for the properties of confidence intervals for the effects of state-level regulations. We report theoretical results, as well as demonstrate their relevance both using illustrations based on earnings data and state regulations, and Monte Carlo evidence. The theoretical results show that if covariate values are as good as randomly assigned to clusters, implying there is no spatial correlation in the covariates beyond the clusters, variance estimators that incorporate only cluster-level outcome correlations remain valid despite the misspecification of the error-covariance matrix. Whether this theoretical result is useful in practice depends on the magnitude of the spatial correlations in the covariates. We provide some illustrations that show that, given the spatial correlation patterns we find in the individual-level variables, spatial correlations in state level regulations can have a substantial impact on the precision of estimates of the effects of interventions.

The paper draws on three strands of literature that have largely evolved separately. First, it is related to the literature on clustering and difference-in-differences estimation, where a primary focus is on adjustments to standard errors to take into account clustering of explanatory variables. See, e.g., Liang and Zeger (1986), Moulton (1986), Bertrand, Duflo, and Mullainathan (2004), Hansen (2009), and the textbook discussions in Angrist and Pischke (2009), Diggle, Heagerty, Liang, and Zeger (2002), and Wooldridge (2002). Second, the current paper draws on the literature on spatial statistics. Here a major focus is on the specification and estimation of the covariance structure of spatially linked data.

For a textbook discussion see Schabenberger and Gotway (2004). In interesting recent work Bester, Conley and Hansen (2009) and Ibragimov and Müller (2009) link some of the inferential issues in the spatial and clustering literatures. Finally, we use results from the literature on randomization inference going back to Fisher (1925) and Neyman (1923). For a recent discussion see Rosenbaum (2002). Although the calculation of Fisher exact p-values based on randomization inference is frequently used in the spatial statistics literature (e.g., Schabenberger and Gotway, 2004), and sometimes in the clustering literature (Bertrand, Duflo and Mullainathan, 2004; Abadie, Diamond, and Hainmueller, 2009), Neyman's approach to constructing confidence intervals using the randomization distribution is rarely used in these settings. We will argue that the randomization perspective provides useful insights into the interpretation of confidence intervals in the context of spatially linked data.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 1.2 we introduce the basic set-up. Next, in Section 1.3, using census data on earnings, we establish the presence of spatial correlation patterns beyond the constant-within-state correlations typically allowed for. In Section 1.4 we discuss randomization-based methods for inference, first focusing on the case with randomization at the individual level. Section 1.5 extends the results to cluster-level randomization. In Section 1.6, we present the main theoretical results. We show that if cluster-level covariates are randomly assigned to the clusters, the standard variance estimator based on within-cluster correlations can be robust to misspecification of the error-covariance matrix. Next, in Section 1.7 we show, using Mantel-type tests, that a number of regulations exhibit substantial regional correlations, suggesting that ignoring the error correlation structure may not be justified. Section 1.8 reports the results of a small simulation study. Section 1.9 concludes. Proofs are collected in an appendix.

1.2 Framework

Consider a setting where we have information on N units, say individuals in the United States, indexed by i = 1, ..., N. Associated with each unit is a location Z_i , measuring latitude and longitude for individual *i*. Associated with a location *z* are a unique puma P(z) (public use microdata area, a census-defined area with at least 100,000 individuals), a state S(z), and a division D(z) (also a census defined concept, with nine divisions in the United States). In our application the sample is divided into 9 divisions, which are then divided into a total of 49 states (we leave out individuals from Hawaii and Alaska, and include the District of Columbia as a separate state), which are then divided into 2,057 pumas. For individual *i*, with location Z_i , let P_i , S_i , and D_i , denote the puma, state, and division associated with the location Z_i . The distance d(z, z') between two locations *z* and *z'* is defined as the shortest distance, in miles, on the earth's surface connecting the two points. To be precise, let $z = (z_{\text{lat}}, z_{\text{long}})$ be the latitude and longitude of a location. Then the formula for the distance in miles between two locations *z* and *z'* we use is

$$d(z, z') = 3,959 \times \arccos(\cos(z_{\text{long}} - z'_{\text{long}}) \cdot \cos(z_{\text{lat}}) \cdot \cos(z'_{\text{lat}}) + \sin(z_{\text{lat}}) \cdot \sin(z'_{\text{lat}})).$$

In this paper, we focus primarily on estimating the slope coefficient β in a linear regression of some outcome Y_i (e.g., the logarithm of individual level earnings for working men) on a binary intervention W_i (e.g., a state-level regulation), of the form

$$Y_i = \alpha + \beta \cdot W_i + \varepsilon_i. \tag{1.1}$$

A key issue is that the explanatory variable W_i may be constant withing clusters of individuals. In our application W_i varies at the state level.

Let ε denote the *N*-vector with typical element ε_i , and let **Y**, **W**, **P**, **S**, and **D**, denote the *N*-vectors with typical elements Y_i , W_i , P_i , S_i , and D_i . Let ι_N denote the *N*-vector of ones, let $X_i = (1, W_i)$, and let **X** and **Z** denote the $N \times 2$ matrices with *i*th rows equal to X_i and Z_i , respectively, so that we can write in matrix notation

$$\mathbf{Y} = \iota_N \cdot \alpha + \mathbf{W} \cdot \beta + \varepsilon = \mathbf{X} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \end{pmatrix}' + \varepsilon.$$
(1.2)

Let $N_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_i$, $N_0 = N - N_1$, $\overline{W} = N_1/N$, and $\overline{Y} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_i/N$. We are interested in the distribution of the ordinary least squares estimators:

$$\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (Y_i - \overline{Y}) \cdot (W_i - \overline{W})}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (W_i - \overline{W})^2}, \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{\alpha}_{\text{ols}} = \overline{Y} - \hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \cdot \overline{W}.$$

The starting point is the following model for the conditional distribution of \mathbf{Y} given the location \mathbf{Z} and the covariate \mathbf{W} :

Assumption 1. (Model)

$$\mathbf{Y} \mid \mathbf{W} = \mathbf{w}, \mathbf{Z} = \mathbf{z} \sim \mathcal{N}(\iota_N \cdot \alpha + \mathbf{w} \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}, \Omega(\mathbf{z}))$$

Under this assumption we can infer the exact (finite sample) distribution of the least squares estimator, conditional on the covariates **X**, and the locations **Z**.

Lemma 1. (DISTRIBUTION OF LEAST SQUARES ESTIMATOR) Suppose Assumption 1 holds. Then $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ is unbiased and Normally distributed,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\hat{\beta}_{ols} \mid \mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z}\right] = \beta, \quad and \quad \hat{\beta}_{ols} \mid \mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z} \sim \mathcal{N}\left(\beta, \mathbb{V}_{M}(\mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z})\right), \tag{1.3}$$

where

$$\mathbb{V}_{M}(\mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z}) = \frac{1}{N^{2} \cdot \overline{W}^{2} \cdot (1 - \overline{W})^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{W} & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \iota_{N} & \mathbf{W} \end{pmatrix}' \Omega(\mathbf{Z}) \begin{pmatrix} \iota_{N} & \mathbf{W} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{W} \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.4)

We write the model-based variance $\mathbb{V}_M(\mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z})$ as a function of \mathbf{W} and \mathbf{Z} to make explicit that this variance is conditional on both the treatment indicators \mathbf{W} and the locations \mathbf{Z} . This lemma follows directly from the standard results on least squares estimation and is given without proof. Given Assumption 1, the exact distribution for the least squares coefficients $(\hat{\alpha}_{ols}, \hat{\beta}_{ols})'$ is Normal, centered at $(\alpha, \beta)'$ and with covariance matrix $(\mathbf{X}'\mathbf{X})^{-1} (\mathbf{X}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{X}) (\mathbf{X}'\mathbf{X})^{-1}$. We then obtain (1.4) by writing out the component matrices of the joint variance of $(\hat{\alpha}_{ols}, \hat{\beta}_{ols})'$.

It is also useful to consider the variance of $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$, conditional on the locations **Z**, and conditional on $N_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_i$, without conditioning on the entire vector **W**. With some abuse of language, we refer to this as the unconditional variance $\mathbb{V}_U(\mathbf{Z})$ (although it is still conditional on **Z** and N_1). Because the conditional and unconditional expectation of $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ are both equal to β , it follows that the unconditional

variance is simply the expected value of the conditional variance:

$$\Psi_U(\mathbf{Z}) = \mathbb{E}[\Psi_M(\mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z}) | \mathbf{Z}]
= \frac{N^2}{N_0^2 \cdot N_1^2} \cdot \mathbb{E}\left[(\mathbf{W} - N_1 / N \cdot \iota_N)' \Omega(\mathbf{W} - N_1 / N \cdot \iota_N) | \mathbf{Z}\right].$$
(1.5)

1.3 Spatial Correlation Patterns in Earnings

_

In this section we provide some evidence for the presence and structure of spatial correlations, that is, how Ω varies with **Z**. Specifically we show in our application, first, that the structure is more general than the state-level correlations that are typically allowed for, and second, that this matters for inference. We use data from the 5% public use sample from the 2000 census outlined in Table 1.1.

Number of observation in the sample	2,590,190
Number of PUMAs in the sample	2,057
Average number of observations per PUMA	1,259
Standard deviation of number of observations per PUMA	409
Number of states (incl DC, excl AK, HA, PR) in the sample	49
Average number of observations per state	52,861
Standard deviation of number of observations per state	58,069
Number of divisions in the sample	9
Average number of observations per division	287,798
Standard deviation of number of observations per division	134,912

Table 1.1: Sample Sizes

Our sample consists of 2,590,190 men at least 20 and at most 50 years old, with positive earnings. We exclude individuals from Alaska, Hawaii, and Puerto Rico (these states share no boundaries with other states, and as a result spatial correlations may be very different than those for other states), and treat DC as a separate state, for a total of 49 "states". Table 1.2 presents some summary statistics for the sample. Our primary outcome variable is the logarithm of yearly earnings, in deviations from the overall mean, denoted by Y_i . The overall mean of log earnings is 10.17, the overall standard deviation

is 0.97. We do not have individual level locations. Instead we know for each individual only the puma (public use microdata area) of residence, and so we take Z_i to be the latitude and longitude of the center of the puma of residence.

	log earnings	years of educ	hours worked
Average	10.17	13.05	43.76
Stand Dev	0.97	2.81	11.00
Average of PLIMA Averages	10.17	13.06	43 69
Stand Dev of PUMA Averages	0.27	0.95	1.63
Average of State Averages	10.14	13.12	43.94
Stand Dev of State Averages	0.12	0.33	0.75
Average of Division Averages	10.17	13.08	43.80
Stand Dev of Division Averages	0.09	0.31	0.48

 Table 1.2: Summary Statistics

Let \mathbf{Y} be the variable of interest, in our case log earnings in deviations from the overall mean. Suppose we model the vector \mathbf{Y} as

$$\mathbf{Y} \mid \mathbf{Z} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \boldsymbol{\gamma})).$$

If researchers have covariates that vary at the state level, the conventional strategy is to allow for correlation at the same level of aggregation ("clustering by state"), and model the covariance matrix as

$$\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma) = \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} \cdot \mathbf{1}_{i=j} + \sigma_{S}^{2} \cdot \mathbf{1}_{S_{i}=S_{j}} = \begin{cases} \sigma_{S}^{2} + \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} & \text{if } i = j \\ \sigma_{S}^{2} & \text{if } i \neq j, \ S_{i} = S_{j} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

where $\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ is the (i, j)th element of $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$. The first variance component, σ_{ε}^2 , captures the variance of idiosyncratic errors, uncorrelated across different individuals. The second variance component, σ_s^2 captures correlations between individuals in the same state. Estimating σ_{ε}^2 and σ_s^2 on our sample of 2,590,190 individuals by maximum likelihood leads to $\hat{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}^2 = 0.929$ and $\hat{\sigma}_s^2 = 0.016$. The question addressed in this section is whether the covariance structure in (1.6) provides an accurate approximation to the true covariance matrix $\Omega(\mathbf{Z})$. We provide two pieces of evidence that it is not.

The first piece of evidence against the simple covariance matrix structure is based on simple descriptive measures of the correlation patterns as a function of distance between individuals. For a distance d (in miles), define the overall, within-state, and out-of-state covariances as

$$C(d) = \mathbb{E}\left[Y_i \cdot Y_j \middle| d(Z_i, Z_j) = d\right],$$
$$C_S(d) = \mathbb{E}\left[Y_i \cdot Y_j \middle| S_i = S_j, d(Z_i, Z_j) = d\right]$$

and

$$C_{\overline{S}}(d) = \mathbb{E}\left[Y_i \cdot Y_j \middle| S_i \neq S_j, d(Z_i, Z_j) = d\right].$$

If the model in (1.6) was correct, then $C_S(d)$ should be constant (but possibly non-zero) as a function of the distance *d*, and $C_{\overline{S}}(d)$ should be equal to zero for all *d*.

We estimate these covariances using averages of the products of individual level outcomes for pairs of individuals whose distance is within some bandwidth h of the distance d:

$$\widehat{C(d)} = \sum_{i < j} \mathbf{1}_{|d(Z_i, Z_j) - d| \le h} \cdot Y_i \cdot Y_j \Big| \sum_{i < j} \mathbf{1}_{|d(Z_i, Z_j) - d| \le h},$$

$$\widehat{C_S(d)} = \sum_{i < j, S_i = S_j} \mathbf{1}_{|d(Z_i, Z_j) - d| \le h} \cdot Y_i \cdot Y_j \Big| \sum_{i < j, S_i = S_j} \mathbf{1}_{|d(Z_i, Z_j) - d| \le h},$$

and

$$\widehat{C_{\overline{S}}(d)} = \sum_{i < j} \mathbf{1}_{S_i \neq S_j} \cdot \mathbf{1}_{|d(Z_i, Z_j) - d| \le h} \cdot Y_i \cdot Y_j \bigg| \sum_{i < j, S_i \neq S_j} \mathbf{1}_{|d(Z_i, Z_j) - d| \le h}.$$

Figures 1.1 and 1.2 show the covariance functions for two choices of the bandwidth, h = 20 and h = 50 miles, for the overall, within-state, and out-of-state covariances. The main conclusion from the center panels of the figures is that within-state correlations decrease with distance. The lower panels of the figures suggest that correlations for individuals in different states are non-zero, also decrease with distance, and are of a magnitude similar to within-state correlations. Thus, these figures suggest that the simple covariance model in (1.6) is not an accurate representation of the true covariance

structure.



Figure 1.1: Covariance of Demeaned Log(Earnings) by Distance Between Individuals

As a second piece of evidence we consider various parametric structures for the covariance matrix $\Omega(\mathbf{Z})$ that generalize (1.6). At the most general level, we specify the following form for $\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$:

$$\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma) = \begin{cases} \sigma_{\text{dist}}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(Z_i, Z_j)) + \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 + \sigma_P^2 + \sigma_\varepsilon^2 & \text{if } i = j, \\ \sigma_{\text{dist}}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(Z_i, Z_j)) + \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 + \sigma_P^2 & \text{if } i \neq j, P_i = P_j, \\ \sigma_{\text{dist}}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(Z_i, Z_j)) + \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 & \text{if } P_i \neq P_j, S_i = S_j, \\ \sigma_{\text{dist}}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(Z_i, Z_j)) + \sigma_D^2 & \text{if } S_i \neq S_j, D_i = D_j, \\ \sigma_{\text{dist}}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(Z_i, Z_j)) & \text{if } D_i \neq D_j. \end{cases}$$
(1.7)



Figure 1.2: Covariance of Demeaned Log(Earnings) by Distance Between Individuals

Beyond state level correlations this specification allows for correlations at the puma level (captured by σ_P^2) and at the division level (captured by σ_D^2). In addition we allow for spatial correlation as a smooth function geographical distance, declining at an exponential rate, captured by $\sigma_{dist}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(z, z'))$. Although more general than the typical covariance structure allowed for, this model still embodies important restrictions, notably that correlations do not vary by location. A more general model might allow variances or covariances to vary directly by the location *z*, e.g., with correlations stronger or weaker in the Western versus the Eastern United States, or in more densely or sparsely populated parts of the country.

Table 1.3 gives maximum likelihood estimates for the covariance parameters γ given various re-

σ_{ϵ}^2	σ_D^2	σ_s^2	σ_P^2	$\sigma_{\rm dis}^2$	а	LLH	s.e.($(\hat{oldsymbol{eta}})$
	D	5	1	uis			Min Wage	NE/ENC
0.9388	0	0	0	0	0	1213298.1	0.0015	0.0015
[0.0008]								
0.9294	0	0.01610	0	0	0	1200407.0	0.0700	0.057
[0.0008]		[0.0018]						
[]		[]						
0.8683	0	0.0111	0.0659	0	0	1116976.4	0.0679	0.049
[0 0008]	-	[0.0029]	[0.0022]	-	-			
[0.0000]		[0.002)]	[0.0022]					
0 9294	0.0056	0.0108	0	0	0	1200403 1	0 0909	0.081
1 00008	[0 0020]	[0 0020]	0	0	Ū	1200 105.1	0.0707	0.001
[0.0000]	[0.0020]	[0.0020]						
0 8683	0.0056	0.0058	0.0660	0	0	1116972.0	0.0805	0.0760
1 8000 01	[0 0033]	[0.0021]	[0.0021]	0	Ū	1110772.0	0.0005	0.0700
[0.0000]	[0.0055]	[0.0021]	[0.0021]					
0 8683	0.0080	0.0008	0.0331	0.0324	0.0468	1603400.9	0.0860	0.0854
1 8000 01	[0 0049]	[0.0012]	[0.0021]	[0.0030]	[0.0051]	1005 100.5	0.0000	0.0051
[0.0000]	[0.00+7]	[0.0012]	[0.0021]	[0.0050]	[0.0051]			

 Table 1.3: Estimates for Clustering Variances for Demeaned Log Earnings

strictions, based on the log earnings data, with standard errors based on the second derivatives of the log likelihood function. To put these numbers in perspective, the estimated value for α in the most general model, $\hat{\alpha} = 0.0293$, implies that the pure spatial component, $\sigma_{dist}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(z, z'))$, dies out fairly quickly: at a distance of about twenty-five miles the spatial covariance due to the $\sigma_{dist}^2 \cdot \exp(-\alpha \cdot d(z, z'))$ component is half what it is at zero miles. The covariance of log earnings for two individuals in the same puma is 0.080/0.948 = 0.084. For these data, the covariance between log earnings and years of education is approximately 0.3, so the within-puma covariance is substantively important, equal to about 30% of the log earnings and education covariance. For two individuals in the same state, but in different pumas and ignoring the spatial component, the total covariance is 0.013. The estimates suggest that much of what shows up as within-state correlations in a model that incorporates only within-state correlations, in fact captures much more local, within-puma, correlations.

To show that these results are typical for the type of correlations found in individual level economic data, we calculated results for the same models as in Table 1.3 for two other variables collected in the census, years of education and hours worked. Results for those variables are reported in an earlier version of the paper that is available online. In all cases puma-level correlations are a magnitude larger than within-state, out-of-puma level correlations, and within-division correlations are of the same order of magnitude as within-state correlations.

The two sets of results, the covariances by distance and the model-based estimates of cluster contributions to the variance, both suggest that the simple model in (1.6) that assumes zero covariances for individuals in different states, and constant covariances for individuals in the same state irrespective of distance, is at odds with the data. Covariances vary substantially within states, and do not vanish at state boundaries.

Now we turn to the second question of this section, whether the magnitude of the correlations we reported matters for inference. In order to assess this we look at the implications of the models for the correlation structure for the precision of least squares estimates. To make this specific, we focus on the model in (1.1), with log earnings as the outcome Y_i , and W_i equal to an indicator that individual *i* lives in a state with a minimum wage that is higher than the federal minimum wage in the year 2000.

This indicator takes on the value one for individuals living in nine states in our sample, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Massachusetts, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington, and DC, and zero for all other states in our sample (see Figure 1.3 for a visual impression). (The data come from the website http://www.dol.gov/whd/state/stateMinWageHis.htm. To be consistent with the 2000 census, we use the information from 2000, not the current state of the law.)





In the second to last column in Table 1.3, under the label "Min Wage," we report in each row the standard error for $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ based on the specification for $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ in that row. To be specific, if $\hat{\Omega} = \Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \hat{\gamma})$ is the estimate for $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ in a particular specification, the standard error is

s.e.
$$(\hat{\beta}_{ols}) = \left(\frac{1}{N^2 \overline{W}^2 (1 - \overline{W})^2} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{W} \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}' (\iota_N \mathbf{W})' \Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \hat{\gamma}) (\iota_N \mathbf{W}) \begin{pmatrix} \overline{W} \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} \right)^{1/2}$$

With no correlation between units at all, the estimated standard error is 0.002. If we allow only for state level correlations, Model (1.6), the estimated standard error goes up to 0.080, demonstrating the well known importance of allowing for correlation at the level that the covariate varies. There are two general points to take away from the column with standard errors. First, the biggest impact

Figure 1.4: New England/East North Central States



on the standard errors comes from incorporating state-level correlations (allowing σ_s^2 to differ from zero), even though according to the variance component estimates other variance components are substantially more important. Second, among the specifications that allow for $\sigma_s^2 \neq 0$, however, there is still a substantial amount of variation in the implied standard errors. Incorporating only σ_s^2 leads to a standard error around 0.0870, whereas also including division-level correlations ($\sigma_D^2 \neq 0$) increase that to approximately 0.090, an increase of 15%. We repeat this exercise for a second binary covariate, with the results reported in the last column of Table 1.3. In this case the covariate takes on the value one only for the New England (Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Connecticut, Vermont, New Hampshire) and East-North-Central states (Wisconsin, Michigan, Illinois, Indiana, and Ohio, corresponding to more geographical concentration than for the minimum wage states (see Figure 1.4). In this case the impact on the standard errors of mis-specifying the covariance structure is even bigger, with the most general specification leading to standard errors that are almost 50% bigger than those based on the state-level correlations specification (1.6). In the next three sections we explore theoretical results that provide some insight into these empirical findings.

1.4 Randomization Inference

In this section we consider a different approach to analyzing the distribution of the least squares estimator, based on randomization inference (e.g., Rosenbaum, 2002). Recall the linear model (1.1),

$$Y_i = \alpha + \beta \cdot W_i + \varepsilon_i$$
, with $\varepsilon | \mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Omega(\mathbf{Z}))$.

In Section 1.2 we analyzed the properties of the least squares estimator $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ under repeated sampling. To be precise, the sampling distribution for $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ was defined by repeated sampling in which we keep both the vector of treatments **W** and the location **Z** fixed on all draws, and redraw only the vector of residuals ε for each sample. Under this repeated sampling thought-experiment, the exact variance of $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ is $\mathbb{V}_M(\mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z})$ as given in Lemma 1.

It is possible to construct confidence intervals in a different way, based on a different repeated sampling thought-experiment. Instead of conditioning on the vector **W** and **Z**, and resampling the ε , we can condition on ε and **Z**, and resample the vector **W**. To be precise, let $Y_i(0)$ and $Y_i(1)$ denote the potential outcomes under the two levels of the treatment W_i , and let **Y**(0) and **Y**(1) denote the corresponding *N*-vectors. Then let $Y_i = Y_i(W_i)$ be the realized outcome. We assume that the effect of the treatment is constant, $Y_i(1) - Y_i(0) = \beta$. Defining $\alpha = \mathbb{E}[Y_i(0)]$, the residual is $\varepsilon_i = Y_i - \alpha - \beta \cdot W_i$. In this section we focus on the simplest case, where the covariate of interest W_i is completely randomly assigned, conditional on $\sum_{i=1}^{N} W_i = N_1$.

Assumption 2. RANDOMIZATION

$$\operatorname{pr}(\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{w} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}) = 1 \left| \begin{pmatrix} N \\ N_1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ for all } \mathbf{w} \text{ s.t. } \sum_{i=1}^N w_i = N_1. \right|$$

Under this assumption we can infer the exact (finite sample) variance for the least squares estimator for $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ conditional on **Z** and (**Y**(0), **Y**(1)):

Lemma 2. Suppose that Assumption 2 holds and that the treatment effect $Y_i(1) - Y_i(0) = \beta$ is constant

for all individuals. Then (i), $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ conditional on (**Y**(0), **Y**(1)) and **Z** is unbiased for β ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left|\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}}\right|\mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right| = \beta,$$
(1.8)

and, (ii), its exact conditional (randomization-based) variance is

$$\mathbb{V}_{R}(\mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}) = \mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{ols} | \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) = \frac{N}{N_{0} \cdot N_{1} \cdot (N-2)} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\varepsilon_{i} - \overline{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}, \quad (1.9)$$

where $\overline{\varepsilon} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \varepsilon_i / N$.

Note that although the variance is exact, we do not have exact Normality, unlike the result in Lemma 1.

In the remainder of this section we explore two implications of the randomization perspective. First of all, although the model and randomization variances \mathbb{V}_M and \mathbb{V}_R are exact if both Assumptions 1 and 2 hold, they differ because they refer to different conditioning sets. To illustrate this, let us consider the bias and variance under a third repeated sampling thought experiment, without conditioning on either \mathbf{W} or ε , just conditioning on the locations \mathbf{Z} and (N_0, N_1) , maintaining both the model and the randomization assumption.

Lemma 3. Suppose Assumptions 1 and 2 hold. Then (i), $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ is unbiased for β ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\hat{\beta}_{ols} \middle| \mathbf{Z}, N_0, N_1\right] = \beta, \qquad (1.10)$$

(*ii*), *its exact unconditional variance is:*

$$\mathbb{V}_{U}(\mathbf{Z}) = \left(\frac{1}{N-2}\operatorname{trace}(\Omega(\mathbf{Z})) - \frac{1}{N\cdot(N-2)}\iota'_{N}\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\iota_{N}\right) \cdot \frac{N}{N_{0}\cdot N_{1}},$$
(1.11)

and (iii),

$$\mathbb{V}_U(\mathbf{Z}) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}_R(\mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}) | \mathbf{Z}, N_0, N_1\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}_M(\mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z}) | \mathbf{Z}, N_0, N_1\right].$$

For the second point, suppose we had focused on the repeated sampling variance for $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ conditional on W and Z, but possibly erroneously modeled the covariance matrix as constant times the identify matrix, $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}) = \sigma^2 \cdot I_N$. Under such a model one would have concluded that the exact sampling distribution for $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ would be

$$\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} | \mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z} \sim \mathcal{N} \left(\beta, \sigma^2 \cdot \frac{N}{N_0 \cdot N_1} \right),$$
(1.12)

If the covariate was randomly assigned to the states, the normalized version of this variance would converge to \mathbb{V}_R in (1.9). Hence, and this is a key insight of this section, if the assignment \mathbb{W} is completely random, and the treatment effect is constant, one can ignore the off-diagonal elements of $\Omega(\mathbb{Z})$, and (mis-)specify $\Omega(\mathbb{Z})$ as $\sigma^2 \cdot I_N$. Although the resulting variance estimator will *not* be estimating the variance under the repeated sampling thought experiment that one may have in mind, (namely $\mathbb{V}_M(\mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Z})$), it leads to valid confidence intervals under the randomization distribution. The result that the mis-specification of the covariance matrix need not lead to inconsistent standard errors if the covariate of interest is randomly assigned has been noted previously. Greenwald (1983) writes: "when the correlation patterns of the independent variables are unrelated to those across the errors, then the least squares variance estimates are consistent." Angrist and Pischke (2009) write, in the context of clustering, that: "if the [covariate] values are uncorrelated within the groups, the grouped error structure does not matter for standard errors." The preceding discussion interprets this result formally from a randomization perspective.

1.5 Randomization Inference with Cluster-level Randomization

Now let us return to the setting that is the main focus of the paper. The covariate of interest, W_i , varies only between clusters (states), and is constant within clusters. Instead of assuming that W_i is randomly assigned at the individual level, we now assume that it is randomly assigned at the cluster level. Let Mbe the number of clusters, M_1 the number of clusters with all individuals assigned $W_i = 1$, and M_0 the number of clusters with all individuals assigned to $W_i = 0$. The cluster indicator is

$$C_{im} = \mathbf{1}_{S_i = m} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if individual } i \text{ is in cluster/state } m, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

with **C** the $N \times M$ matrix with typical element C_{im} . For randomization inference we condition on **Z**, ε , and M_1 . Let N_m be the number of individuals in cluster m. We now look at the properties of $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ over the randomization distribution induced by this assignment mechanism. To keep the notation precise, let \tilde{W} be the M-vector of assignments at the cluster level, with typical element \tilde{W}_m . Let $\tilde{Y}(0)$ and $\tilde{Y}(1)$ be M-vectors, with m-th element equal to $\tilde{Y}_m(0) = \sum_{i:C_{im}=1} Y_i(0)/N_m$, and $\tilde{Y}_m(1) = \sum_{i:C_{im}=1} Y_i(1)/N_m$ respectively. Similarly, let $\tilde{\varepsilon}$ be an M-vector with m-th element equal to $\tilde{\varepsilon}_m = \sum_{i:C_{im}=1} \varepsilon_i/N_m$, and let $\tilde{\varepsilon} = \sum_{m=1}^M \tilde{\varepsilon}_m/M$.

Formally the assumption on the assignment mechanism is now:

Assumption 3. (Cluster Randomization)

$$\operatorname{pr}(\tilde{\mathbf{W}} = \tilde{\mathbf{w}} | \mathbf{Z} = \mathbf{z}) = 1 / \begin{pmatrix} M \\ M_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
, for all $\tilde{\mathbf{w}}$, s.t. $\sum_{m=1}^{M} \tilde{w}_m = M_1$, and 0 otherwise.

We also make the assumption that all clusters are the same size:

Assumption 4. (Equal Cluster Size) $N_m = N/M$ for all m = 1, ..., M.

Lemma 4. Suppose Assumptions 3 and 4 hold, and the treatment effect $Y_i(1) - Y_i(0) = \beta$ is constant. Then (i), the exact sampling variance of $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$, conditional on **Z** and ε , under the cluster randomization distribution is

$$\mathbb{V}_{CR}(\mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}) = \frac{M}{M_0 \cdot M_1 \cdot (M-2)} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_m - \overline{\tilde{\varepsilon}}\right)^2, \qquad (1.13)$$

(ii) if also Assumption 1 holds, then the unconditional variance is

$$\mathbb{V}_{U}(\mathbf{Z}) = \frac{M^{2}}{M_{0} \cdot M_{1} \cdot (M-2) \cdot N^{2}} \cdot \left(M \cdot \text{trace}\left(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{C}\right) - \iota'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\iota\right).$$
(1.14)

The unconditional variance is a special case of the expected value of the unconditional variance in (1.5), with the expectation taken over **W** given the cluster-level randomization. This result can be generalized by allowing the random assignment to clusters to hold only conditional on covariates.

1.6 Variance Estimation Under Misspecification

In this section we present the main theoretical result in the paper. It extends the result in Section 1.4 on the robustness of model-based variance estimators under complete randomization to the case where the model-based variance estimator accounts for clustering, but not necessarily for all spatial correlations, and that treatment is randomized at cluster level.

Suppose the model generating the data is the linear model in (1.1), with a general covariance matrix $\Omega(\mathbf{Z})$, and Assumption 1 holds. The researcher estimates a parametric model that imposes a potentially incorrect structure on the covariance matrix. Let $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ be the parametric model for the error covariance matrix. The model is misspecified in the sense that there need not be a value γ such that $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}) = \Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$. The researcher then proceeds to calculate the variance of $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ as if the postulated model is correct. The question is whether this implied variance based on a misspecified covariance structure leads to correct inference.

The example we are most interested in is characterized by a clustering structure by state. In that case $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ is the $N \times N$ matrix with $\gamma = (\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2, \sigma_S^2)'$, where

$$\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}, \sigma_{S}^{2}) = \begin{cases} \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \sigma_{S}^{2} & \text{if } i = j \\ \sigma_{S}^{2} & \text{if } i \neq j, S_{i} = S_{j}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.15)

Initially, however, we allow for any parametric structure $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$. The true covariance matrix $\Omega(\mathbf{Z})$ may include correlations that extend beyond state boundaries, and that may involve division-level correlations or spatial correlations that decline smoothly with distance as in the specification (1.7).

Under the (misspecified) parametric model $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$, let $\tilde{\gamma}$ be the pseudo true value, defined as the value of γ that maximizes the expectation of the logarithm of the likelihood function,

$$\tilde{\gamma} = \arg \max_{\gamma} \mathbb{E} \left[-\frac{1}{2} \cdot \ln \left(\det \left(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma) \right) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \cdot \mathbf{Y}' \Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)^{-1} \mathbf{Y} \middle| \mathbf{Z} \right].$$

Given the pseudo true error covariance matrix $\Omega(\tilde{\gamma})$, the corresponding pseudo-true model-based

variance of the least squares estimator, conditional on W and Z, is

$$\mathbb{V}_{M}(\Omega(\mathbf{Z},\tilde{\gamma}),\mathbf{W},\mathbf{Z}) = \frac{1}{N^{2}\overline{W}^{2}(1-\overline{W})^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{W} \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}' \begin{pmatrix} \iota_{N} & \mathbf{W} \end{pmatrix}' \Omega(\mathbf{Z},\tilde{\gamma}) \begin{pmatrix} \iota_{N} & \mathbf{W} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{W} \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Because for some \mathbb{Z} the true covariance matrix $\Omega(\mathbb{Z})$ differs from the misspecified one, $\Omega(\mathbb{Z}, \tilde{\gamma})$, it follows that in general this pseudo-true conditional variance $\mathbb{V}_M(\Omega(\mathbb{Z}, \tilde{\gamma}), \mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Z})$ will differ from the true variance $\mathbb{V}_M(\Omega(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Z})$. Here we focus on the expected value of $\mathbb{V}_M(\Omega(\mathbb{Z}, \tilde{\gamma}), \mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Z})$, conditional on \mathbb{Z} , under assumptions on the distribution of \mathbb{W} . Let us denote this expectation by $\mathbb{V}_U(\Omega(\mathbb{Z}, \tilde{\gamma}), \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{V}_M(\Omega(\mathbb{Z}, \tilde{\gamma}), \mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Z})|\mathbb{Z}]$. The question is under what conditions on the specification of the error-covariance matrix $\Omega(\mathbb{Z}, \gamma)$, in combination with assumptions on the assignment process, this unconditional variance is equal to the expected variance with the expectation of the variance under the correct error-covariance matrix, $\mathbb{V}_U(\Omega(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{V}_M(\Omega(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Z})|\mathbb{Z}]$.

The following theorem shows that if the randomization of W is at the cluster level, then solely accounting for cluster level correlations is sufficient to get valid confidence intervals.

Theorem 1. (Clustering with Misspecified Error-Covariance Matrix)

Suppose that Assumptions 1, 3, and 4 hold, and suppose that that $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ is specified as in (1.15). Then $\mathbb{V}_U(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \tilde{\gamma}), \mathbf{Z}) = \mathbb{V}_U(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}), \mathbf{Z}).$

This is the main theoretical result in the paper. It implies that if cluster level explanatory variables are randomly allocated to clusters, there is no need to consider covariance structures beyond those that allow for cluster level correlations. In our application, if the covariate (state minimum wage exceeding federal minimum wage) were as good as randomly allocated to states, then there is no need to incorporate division or puma level correlations in the specification of the covariance matrix. It is in that case sufficient to allow for correlations between outcomes for individuals in the same state. Formally the result is limited to the case with equal sized clusters. There are few exact results for the case with variation in cluster size, although if the variation is modest, one might expect the current results to provide some guidance.

In many econometric analyses researchers specify the conditional distribution of the outcome given

some explanatory variables, and ignore the joint distribution of the explanatory variables. The result in Theorem 1 shows that it may be useful to pay attention to this distribution. Depending on the joint distribution of the explanatory variables, the analyses may be robust to mis-specification of particular aspects of the conditional distribution. In the next section we discuss some methods for assessing the relevance of this result.

1.7 Spatial Correlation in State Averages

The results in the previous sections imply that inference is substantially simpler if the explanatory variable of interest is randomly assigned, either at the unit or cluster level. Here we discuss tests originally introduced by Mantel (1967) (see, e.g., Schabenberger and Gotway, 2004) to analyze whether random assignment is consistent with the data, against the alternative hypothesis of some spatial correlation. These tests allow for the calculation of exact, finite sample, p-values. To implement these tests we use the location of the units. To make the discussion more specific, we test the random assignment of state-level variables against the alternative of spatial correlation.

Let Y_s be the variable of interest for state *s*, for s = 1, ..., S, where state *s* has location Z_s (the centroid of the state). In the illustrations of the tests we use an indicator for a state-level regulation, and the state-average of an individual-level outcome. The null hypothesis of no spatial correlation in the Y_s can be formalized as stating that conditional on the locations **Z**, each permutation of the values (Y_1, \ldots, Y_S) is equally likely. With *S* states, there are *S*! permutations. We assess the null hypothesis by comparing, for a given statistic $M(\mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{Z})$, the value of the statistic given the actual **Y** and **Z**, with the distribution of the statistic generated by randomly permuting the **Y** vector.

The tests we focus on in the current paper are based on Mantel statistics (e.g., Mantel, 1967; Schabenberger and Gotway, 2004). These general form of the statistics we use is Geary's c (also known as a Black-White or BW statistic in the case of binary outcomes), a proximity-weighted average of squared pairwise differences:

$$G(\mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{Z}) = \sum_{s=1}^{S-1} \sum_{t=s+1}^{S} (Y_s - Y_t)^2 \cdot d_{st},$$
(1.16)

where $d_{st} = d(Z_s, Z_t)$ is a non-negative weight monotonically related to the proximity of the states s and t. Given a statistic, we test the null hypothesis of no spatial correlation by comparing the value of the statistic in the actual data set, G^{obs} , to the distribution of the statistic under random permutations of the Y_s . The latter distribution is defined as follows. Taking the S units, with values for the variable Y_1, \ldots, Y_s , we randomly permute the values Y_1, \ldots, Y_s over the S units. For each of the S! permutations g we re-calculate the Mantel statistic, say G_g . This defines a discrete distribution with S! different values, one for each allocation. The one-sided exact p-value is defined as the fraction of allocations g (out of the set of S! allocations) such that the associated Mantel statistic G_g is less than or equal to the observed Mantel statistic G^{obs} :

$$p = \frac{1}{S!} \sum_{g=1}^{S!} \mathbf{1}_{G^{\text{obs}} \ge G_g}.$$
 (1.17)

A low value of the p-value suggests rejecting the null hypothesis of no spatial correlation in the variable of interest. In practice the number of allocations is often too large to calculate the exact p-value and so we approximate the p-value by drawing a large number of allocations, and calculating the proportion of statistics less than or equal to the observed Mantel statistic. In the calculations below we use 10,000,000 draws from the randomization distribution.

We use six different measures of proximity. First, we define the proximity d_{st} as states *s* and *t* sharing a border:

$$d_{st}^{B} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } s, t \text{ share a border,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.18)

Second, we define d_{st} as an indicator for states *s* and *t* belonging to the same census division of states (recall that the US is divided into 9 divisions):

$$d_{st}^{D} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } D_{s} = D_{t}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.19)

The last four proximity measures are functions of the geographical distance between states s and

$$d_{st}^{GD} = -d\left(Z_s, Z_t\right), \qquad \text{and} \ d_{st}^{\alpha} = \exp\left(-\alpha \cdot d\left(Z_s, Z_t\right)\right) \tag{1.20}$$

where d(z, z') is the distance in miles between two locations z and z', and Z_s is the latitude and longitude of state s, measured as the latitude and longitude of the centroid for each state. We use $\alpha = 0.00138$, $\alpha = 0.00276$, and $\alpha = 0.00693$. For these values the proximity index declines by 50% at distances of 500, 250, and 100 miles.

We calculate the p-values for the Mantel test statistic based on three variables. First, an indicator for having a state minimum wage higher than the federal minimum wage. This indicator takes on the value 1 in nine out of the forty nine states in our sample, with these nine states mainly concentrated in the North East and the West Coast. Second, we calculate the p-values for the average of the logarithm of yearly earnings. Third, we calculate the p-values for the indicator for NW and ENC states. The results for the three variables and six statistics are presented in Table 1.4. All three variables exhibit considerable spatial correlation. Interestingly the results are fairly sensitive to the measure of proximity. From these limited calculations, it appears that sharing a border is a measure of proximity that is sensitive to the type of spatial correlations in the data.

Table 1.4: p-values for Mantel Statistics, based on 10,000,000 draws and one-sided alternatives

Proximity \rightarrow	Border	Divison	$-d(Z_s, Z_t)$	$\exp(-\alpha \cdot d(Z_s, Z_t))$		
				$\alpha = 0.00138$	$\alpha = 0.00276$	$\alpha = 0.00693$
	0.0002	0.0000	0.0007	0.0474	0.0224	0.0022
Minimum wage	0.0002	0.0032	0.0087	0.2674	0.0324	0.0033
Log wage	0.0005	0.0239	0.0692	0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Education	< 0.0001	0.0314	0.0028	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Hours Worked	0.0055	0.8922	0.0950	0.0243	0.0086	0.0182
Weeks Worked	0.0018	0.5155	0.1285	0.0217	0.0533	0.3717
weeks worked	0.0010	0.0100	0.1200	0.0217	0.0000	0.0717

t:
1.8 A Small Simulation Study

We carried out a small simulation study to investigate the relevance of the theoretical results from Section 1.6. In all cases the model was

$$Y_i = \alpha + \beta \cdot W_i + \varepsilon_i,$$

with N = 2,590,190 observations to mimic our actual data. In our simulations every state has the same number of individuals, and every puma within a given state has the same number of individuals. We considered three distributions for W_i . In all cases W_i varies only at the state level. In the first case $W_i = 1$ for individuals in nine randomly chosen states. In the second case $W_i = 1$ for the the nine minimum wage states. In the third case $W_i = 1$ for the eleven NE and ENC states. The distribution for ε is in all cases Normal with mean zero and covariance matrix Ω . The general specification we consider for Ω is

$$\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma) = \begin{cases} \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 + \sigma_P^2 + \sigma_\varepsilon^2 & \text{if } i = j, \\ \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 + \sigma_P^2 & \text{if } i \neq j, P_i = P_j, \\ \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 & \text{if } P_i \neq P_j, S_i = S_j, \\ \sigma_D^2 & \text{if } S_i \neq S_j, D_i = D_j, \end{cases}$$

We look at two different sets of values for $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2, \sigma_P^2, \sigma_S^2, \sigma_D^2)$, (0.9294, 0, 0.0161, 0) (only state level correlations) and (0.8683, 0.0056, 0.0058, 0.0660) (puma, state and division level correlations), motivated by estimates in Section 1.3.

Given the data, we consider five methods for estimating the variance of the least squares estimator $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$, and thus for constructing confidence intervals. The first is based on the randomization distribution:

$$\hat{\mathbb{V}}_{CR}(\mathbf{Y}(0),\mathbf{Y}(1),\mathbf{Z}) = \frac{M}{M_0 \cdot M_1 \cdot (M-2)} \sum_{m=1}^M \hat{\varepsilon}_m^2,$$

where $\hat{\tilde{\varepsilon}}_m$ is the average value of the residual $\hat{\varepsilon}_i = Y_i - \hat{\alpha}_{ols} - \hat{\beta}_{ols} \cdot W_i$ over cluster *m*. The second, third

and fourth variances are model-based:

$$m\hat{m}v_{M}(\hat{\Omega}(\mathbf{Z}),\mathbf{W},\mathbf{Z}) = \frac{1}{N^{2} \cdot \overline{W}^{2} \cdot (1-\overline{W})^{2}} (\overline{W} - 1) \begin{pmatrix} \iota_{N} & \mathbf{W} \end{pmatrix}' \hat{\Omega}(\mathbf{Z}) \begin{pmatrix} \iota_{N} & \mathbf{W} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{W} \\ -1 \end{pmatrix},$$

using different estimates for $\hat{\Omega}(\mathbf{Z})$. First we use an infeasible estimator, namely the true value for $\Omega(\mathbf{Z})$. Second, we specify

$$\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma) = \begin{cases} \sigma_S^2 + \sigma_\varepsilon^2 & \text{if } i = j, \\ \\ \sigma_S^2 & \text{if } i \neq j, S_i = S_j \end{cases}$$

We estimate σ_P^2 and σ_S^2 by maximum likelihood and plug that into the expression for the covariance matrix. For the third variance estimator in this set of three variance estimators we specify

$$\Omega_{ij}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma) = \begin{cases} \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 + \sigma_P^2 + \sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 & \text{if } i = j, \\ \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 + \sigma_P^2 & \text{if } i \neq j, P_i = P_j, \\ \sigma_D^2 + \sigma_S^2 & \text{if } P_i \neq P_j, S_i = S_j, \\ \sigma_D^2 & \text{if } S_i \neq S_j, D_i = D_j, \end{cases}$$

and again use maximum likelihood estimates.

The fifth and last variance estimator allows for more general variance structures within states, but restricts the correlations between individuals in different states to zero. This estimator assumes Ω is block diagonal, with the blocks defined by states, but does not impose constant correlations within the blocks. The estimator for Ω takes the form

$$\hat{\Omega}_{\text{STATA},ij}(\mathbf{Z}) = \begin{cases} \hat{\varepsilon}_i^2 & \text{if } i = j, \\\\ \hat{\varepsilon}_i \cdot \hat{\varepsilon}_j & \text{if } i \neq j, S_i = S_j, \\\\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

leading to

$$\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{STATA} = \frac{1}{N^2 \cdot \overline{W}^2 (1 - \overline{W})^2} \cdot (\overline{W} - 1) \left(\iota_N \quad \mathbf{W} \right)' \Omega_{\text{STATA}}(\mathbf{Z}) \left(\iota_N \quad \mathbf{W} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \overline{W} \\ -1 \end{array} \right)$$

This is the variance estimator implemented in STATA.

Treatment type	Random		Min	. Wage	NE/ENC		
Shock type	S	SPD	S	SPD	S	SPD	
$\overline{\hat{\mathbb{V}}_{CR}(\mathbf{Y}(0),\mathbf{Y}(1),\mathbf{Z})}$	5.6	5.6	5.6	16.2	5.6	26.3	
$\hat{\mathbb{V}}_{M}(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}),\mathbf{W},\mathbf{Z})$	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0	
$\hat{\mathbb{W}}_{M}(\Omega(\hat{\sigma}_{\epsilon}^{2},\hat{\sigma}_{S}^{2}),\mathbf{W},\mathbf{Z})$	6.1	6.1	6.1	17.1	6.1	27.2	
$\hat{\mathbb{V}}_{M}(\Omega(\hat{\sigma}_{\epsilon}^{2}, \hat{\sigma}_{P}^{2}, \hat{\sigma}_{S}^{2}, \hat{\sigma}_{D}^{2}), \mathbf{W}, \mathbf{Z})$	6.1	6.5	5.7	9.0	5.4	13.8	
Stata	7.6	7.6	8.5	18.5	7.7	30.4	

 Table 1.5: Size of t-tests (in %) using different variance estimators (500,000 draws).

In Table 1.5 we report the actual level of tests of the null hypothesis that $\beta = \beta_0$ with a nominal level of 5%. First consider the three columns with random assignment of states to the treatment. In that case all variance estimators lead to tests that perform well, with actual levels between 4.9 and 7.6%. Excluding the STATA variance estimator the actual levels are below 6.4%. The key finding is that even if the correlation pattern involves pumas as well as divisions, variance estimators that ignore the division level correlations do very well.

When we do use the minimum wage states as the treatment group the assignment is no longer completely random. If the correlations are within state, all variance estimators still perform well. However, if there are correlations at the division level, now only the variance estimator using the true variance matrix does well. The estimator that estimates the division level correlations does best among the feasible estimators, but because the data are not informative enough about these correlations to precisely estimate the variance components even this estimator exhibits substantial size distortions. The same pattern, but even stronger, emerges with the NE/ENC states as the treatment group.

1.9 Conclusion

In empirical studies with individual level outcomes and state level explanatory variables, researchers often calculate standard errors allowing for within-state correlations between individual-level outcomes. In many cases, however, the correlations may extend beyond state boundaries. Here we explore the presence of such correlations, and investigate the implications of their presence for the calculation of standard errors. In theoretical calculations we show that under some conditions, in particular random assignment of regulations, correlations in outcomes between individuals in different states can be ignored. However, state level variables often exhibit considerable spatial correlation, and ignoring out-of-state correlations of the magnitude found in our application may lead to substantial underestimation of standard errors.

In practice we recommend that researchers explicitly explore the spatial correlation structure of both the outcomes as well as the explanatory variables. Statistical tests based on Mantel statistics, with the proximity based on shared borders, or belonging to a common division, are straightforward to calculate and lead to exact p-values. If these test suggest that both outcomes and explanatory variables exhibit substantial spatial correlation, we recommend that one should explicitly account for the spatial correlation by allowing for a more flexible specification than one that only accounts for state level clustering.

Chapter 2

Optimal Stratification in Randomized Experiments

2.1 Introduction

Experimenters often face the following situation: they are ready to assign treatment to some subset of units in an experimental group, they have a rich amount of information about each unit –from a baseline survey, a pilot, or administrative records– and they would like to ensure that the treatment and control groups are similar with respect to these variables. They can pick one or two variables and stratify on those, making those variables more balanced after randomization, but what about the rest? Furthermore, on which of the variables should they stratify?

Let's take for example state prison administrators who want to test interventions that reduce recidivism. Their goal is to have released inmates complete a successful twelve-month post-release supervision regime¹. For the experiment, they have drawn a sample of sixty inmates with six months remaining on their sentences, thirty of whom will receive an intervention. Detailed state administrative records have

¹Presently, a large portion of released inmates re-enter prison because of technical violations during the twelve months of post-release supervision.

been kept for each inmate starting from the point of arrest. At the beginning of the study, researchers have a large set of baseline variables: past criminal record, prison behavior, family history, and education.

With only sixty units in the experiment, complete random assignment may produce treatment and control groups that are not comparable². Researchers in our example have thus decided on a matchedpair randomization; they will put the sixty inmates into thirty pairs, and one of the two people in each pair will be assigned treatment. This paper shows that an optimal way to choose the thirty pairs is to (1) use all available baseline information to predict whether each inmate will successfully complete post-release supervision, (2) rank inmates according to this prediction, and (3) match pairs by assigning the two highest ranked inmates to one pair, the next two highest to the second pair, and so on until the two lowest ranked inmates are assigned to the last pair. This will require data to estimate prediction functions. In this example, the estimation can be done using information from previous inmate cohorts.

This paper considers the gain in <u>efficiency</u>³ from effective stratification. We show that stratifying, in the case of matched pairs, leads to significant efficiency gains, that gains will be large if baseline variables are good predictors of the outcome of interest, and that it is optimal to stratify on the conditional expectation of the outcome given baseline variables. Simulations show that the gain in efficiency is comparable to having controlled for covariates in the analysis after randomization. That is, given a set of covariates *X*, matching on predictions based on *X* and estimating the difference in means ex-post gives estimators with mean squared error of the same size as performing a complete randomization and controlling for *X* with regression ex-post. This paper focuses on the difference in means since this estimate is typically the key finding from a randomized experiment (Angrist and Pischke, 2010). Thus this method is helpful to modern researchers who, according to Angrist and Pischke (2010) "often

²More precisely, a significant portion of treatment assignments may produce groups that, absent the treatment, expect to have significant differences in the average outcome, and that the magnitude of these differences will be large relative to expected treatment effect sizes.

³Stratification is generally done for one of two reasons: to estimate heterogeneous treatment effects across strata or to make standard errors smaller. This paper considers the latter.

prefer simpler estimators though they might be giving up asymptotic efficiency" (p. 12). This paper keeps the estimator simple and shows how optimal matching can regain lost efficiency via stratification. Simple estimators also aid in the delivery of research findings to policy makers. Dean Karlan offers the following on scaling up interventions:

How do we make it easy for government to make the right choices? How do we make it easy for N.G.O.s to choose the right thing? ... You can, the fact that you can put up a simple bar chart makes it easy for people to get it. Okay, treatment is here, control is there, I see the impact. The minute you have really fancy econometrics with lots of Greek Letters, you are not making it easy for policy makers to understand and decipher what the lessons are from a research paper. (Karlan, 2013)

The method used here is especially useful when the number of baseline covariates is very large, since the conditional expectation function collapses multi-dimensional covariates onto a single dimension. This gives experimenters a way to use big data (possibly more covariates than the number of experimental units) ex-ante and maintain simple post-experiment inference techniques. It leverages both the large amount of available baseline information and the tools of predictive analysis (Hastie, Tibshirani, and Friedman 2009) that are increasingly being developed in the field of statistical learning to inform experimental design.

Large detailed datasets are becoming increasingly available to experimenters. Beyond the example above, experimenters partnered with private firms may be able to use the firm's administrative records to inform the design of randomized trials. For example, there have been trials to measure the effects of working from home on productivity (Bloom et al., 2013), peer saving habits on contributions to retirement plans (Beshears et al., 2011), and streamlined college application materials on high-performing, low-income student enrollment at selective colleges (Hoxby and Turner, 2013).

Whether the experiment is set at a Chinese travel agency (Bloom et al., 2013), an American manufacturing firm (Beshears et al., 2011), or a non-profit entrance exam association (Hoxby and Turner, 2013), rich information is increasingly available not only for the units in the experiment but also for the population from which these units are drawn and for comparable past populations. In the public sphere, Medicare and Medicaid programs store information on services to participants, and public school districts keep detailed records of student academic outcomes, teachers, and classrooms. These agencies have recently allowed academic researchers to evaluate programs in cases where lotteries have been used for limited numbers of program spots (Finkelstein et al. 2012, Angrist et al. 2013). It is not implausible that in the future, researchers will be brought in earlier and have input in the design of randomizations explicitly to increase the amount of information gleaned from these program evaluations (e.g. Kane et al., 2013).

The main worry with using many control variables in the analysis after an experiment is that the data generating process will be unknown, and researchers have a variety of ways to add controls. Controls are often tried in many specifications. With a large number of specifications, experimenters may report only those with significant results. A set of controls, X, can be outlined in a pre-analysis plan (Casey et al., 2011). But specification searches can still be done by selectively including or excluding controls not in X. Even within X, linear models can be specified in $\{X_1, ..., X_k\}$, $\{X_1, X_1^2, ..., X_k^2\}$, or any other set of linear controls that take the elements of X as primitive variables. In contrast, the method in this paper suggests a unique set of controls, the set of pair indicators. While an analysis can include other additional controls, perhaps as robustness checks⁴, a report of the difference in means with standard errors of correct size will be expected and our set of controls provide exactly that for the difference in means estimator.

Another worry is that researchers will look for treatment effects across many outcomes. Optimizing the randomization with respect to one outcome allows researchers to credibly signal the outcome of interest prior to the experiment⁵. If there is interest in a variety of related outcomes then researchers could designate a broad index as the main outcome of the experiment (e.g. Ludwig et al., 2012).

The next section formalizes the main result. Section 3 describes how the method can be used in practice. Section 4 will go over the ex-post analysis and show how standard methods apply. Section 5 will review model selection methods used in prediction and how they have been used here. To

⁴For example matching has been coupled with regression adjustment (Rubin, 1973).

⁵Casey et al., (2011) discuss the practice of having experiment pre-analysis plans and how these plans add credibility to program analyses by designating controls and outcomes at the design stage of the experiment.

demonstrate those methods, section 6 revisits a set of field-experiment based simulations by Bruhn and McKenzie (2011) and shows how experimenters could have used information available at baseline to estimate conditional expectation functions of outcomes given baseline covariates. Section 7 turns to the literature and compares this method to others.

2.2 Main Result

Set-up

We first lay out the primitives of the experiment. The subjects in the experiment are sampled from an underlying population. For each subject, we observe a vector of covariates before the experiment is conducted. After the experiment we observe a real valued outcome. The outcome we observe will depend on whether or not the individual was treated. We can think of each individual having a pair of potential outcomes that correspond to the two different exposures to treatment. We refer to exposure to treatment as <u>treatment</u>, and withholding of the treatment or exposure to a placebo as <u>control</u>. This set of primitives is commonly referred to as Rubin's causal model. Within this framework we are interested in the average causal effect of treatment on the outcome.

A key condition will be that, for every individual, treatment assignment is independent of potential outcomes. Pairing experimental units will not change this independence. What pairing changes is the correlation of treatment across individuals. More explicitly, it makes treatment assignment perfectly negatively correlated between pairs. Across pairs treatment assignment remains independent.

Throughout we will consider the following setup.

Assumption 1

1. Sampling from a population: We randomly sample *N* units i = 1, ..., N, where *N* is even, from some population. Units of observation are characterized by a vector of covariates $X_i \in \mathbb{R}^K$ as well as a potential outcome function $Y_i(\cdot) : \{0, 1\} \mapsto \mathbb{R}$. At this point only the covariate column vector X_i is observed.

- 2. Treatment assignment: We assign treatment T_i to unit *i* as a function of the matrix of covariates $X = (X'_i, ..., X'_N)'$. Let $\{Y_i(1), Y_i(0)\} \perp T_j \mid X \forall i, j$.
- 3. Realization of outcomes: The observed outcome is the potential outcome corresponding to the assigned treatment level: $Y_i = Y_i(T_i)$

Note that the second part of Assumption 1.2 encompasses SUTVA, the "stable unit treatment value assumption", (Angrist et al., 1996)). SUTVA states that given individual treatment assignment, potential outcomes are independent of other treatment assignments. More formally $\theta_i \perp T \setminus T_i$.

Treatment Effects, Average Treatment Effect (ATE), and Prognostic Score

Our parameter of interest, or target, is the population average causal effect of treatment. Note that in drawing notation for this parameter we are implicitly assuming this population moment exists. Individual causal (treatment) effects are defined as differences in individuals' potential outcomes. These, of course, are unobservable since only one potential outcome per individual is ever observed.

We can form expectations for each potential outcome conditional on the observed covariates. At the introduction of a new treatment there exists information about how outcomes evolve absent the treatment. This is formalized by the prognostic score, i.e. the conditional expectation of the outcome in the absence of treatment. The prognostic score tells us what is expected, or predicted, to happen in a world where treatment does not yet exist. Errors from these predictions encompass unobserved determinants of the outcome.

Definition 1

- 1. Denote the average treatment effect (ATE) $\theta \equiv E(Y_i(1) Y_i(0))$.
- 2. For unit *i* denote the treatment effect $\theta_i \equiv Y_i(1) Y_i(0)$, i = 1, ..., N.
- 3. Denote the sample average treatment effect (SATE) $\theta_{SATE} \equiv \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \theta_i$.
- 4. Denote the prognostic score $r(X_i) \equiv E(Y_i(0)|X_i)$ and let $\epsilon_i \equiv Y_i(0) r(X_i)$.

Now we can describe the relationships between potential outcomes, treatment, prognostic score, and prediction error. The potential outcome, absent treatment, is the sum of the prognostic score and prediction error. The addition of a treatment effect gives the potential outcome under exposure to treatment. The observed outcome is given by the sum of prognosis, prediction error, and, if treated, treatment effect. More formally, Definition 1 gives us that

$$Y_i(0) = r(X_i) + \epsilon_i$$

$$Y_i(1) = \theta_i + r(X_i) + \epsilon_i$$

$$Y_i = T_i \theta_i + r(X_i) + \epsilon_i$$

Re-indexing and matched pairs

The paired nature of the experimental units makes it useful for reorder their index *i* so that units in the same pair are adjacent to each other. This will allow us to discuss a particular pair by referring to the individuals' index. Here we do this so that the *k*th pair is units 2k - 1 and 2k. This also allows us to parsimoniously describe treatment assignments.

Let the index *i* be re-ordered in a matched pairs randomization scheme where $T_i = 1 - T_{i+1}$ for *i* odd, and $T_i \sim_{iid} Bernoulli(1/2)$ for *i* odd.

With units and treatment assignments as described above we can establish notation for within pair differences. The average of within pair differences is the difference of averages between treatment and control units, our statistic of interest.

Definition 2 (Estimator and within pair differences)

1. Denote the within pair differences

$$D_{k} = T_{2k-1} \left[Y_{2k-1}(1) - Y_{2k}(0) \right] + (1 - T_{2k-1}) \left[Y_{2k}(1) - Y_{2k-1}(0) \right]$$

for $k = 1, ..., \frac{N}{2}$

2. Denote the sample average $\overline{D} \equiv \frac{2}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} D_k$.

Proposition 1 Unbiasedness: Given Assumption 1 and taking expectations over the distribution of treatment assignments, then \overline{D} is an unbiased estimator of the sample average treatment effect, θ_{SATE} .

proof: Given assumption 1 and definitions 1 and 2, by iterated expectations

$$E(D_{k}|Y(1), Y(0)) = E(D_{k}|Y_{i}(1), Y_{i}(0))$$

= $\frac{1}{2}[Y_{2k-1}(1) + Y_{2k}(1) - Y_{2k-1}(0) - Y_{2k}(0)]$
= $\frac{1}{2}[\theta_{2k-1} + \theta_{2k}]$

By definition 2

$$E[\overline{D}|Y(1), Y(0)] = \frac{2}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \frac{1}{2} [\theta_{2k-1} + \theta_{2k}]$$
$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \theta_i$$
$$= \theta_{SATE}$$

Corollary 1 It follows, by taking expectations over the distribution of *X* described in Assumption 1.1, that \overline{D} is an unbiased estimator of the average treatment effect. It further follows, by taking expectations over the conditional distribution of potential outcomes holding covariates fixed, that \overline{D} is an unbiased estimator of the <u>conditional average treatment effect</u>, $\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} E[Y_i(1) - Y_i(0)|X]$. \Box

Now we can evaluate the variance of this statistic as follows.

By Definition 2 we have

$$var\left(\overline{D}|X\right) = \left(\frac{2}{N}\right)^2 \left[\sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} var(D_k|X) + \sum_{h \neq k} cov(D_k, D_h|X)\right]$$
(2.1)

Next, we find expressions for each component of the sum in equation 2.1

Proposition 2: If Assumption 1 holds, $\theta_i | X, \epsilon$ are independent, and $E(\theta_i | X, \epsilon) = \theta$ then

$$var(D_{k}|X) = \frac{1}{2} \left[var(\theta_{2k-1}|X) + var(\theta_{2k}|X) \right]$$

$$+ var(\epsilon_{2k-1}|X) + var(\epsilon_{2k}|X)$$

$$+ \left[r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k}) \right]^{2}, \quad \forall k,$$
(2.2)

and

$$cov(D_k, D_h|X) = 0, \quad \forall h \neq k.$$
 (2.3)

These give

$$\frac{var(\overline{D}|X)}{\left(\frac{2}{N}\right)^2} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left[\frac{1}{2} var(\theta_i|X) + var(\epsilon_i|X) \right] + \sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} (r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k}))^2$$
(2.4)

proof: Given in Appendix. \Box

The main result is that of all possible ways to pick pairs the optimal way depends on covariates only through their prediction. First we need to formally define a pairing and relate it to our potential outcome notation.

Definition 3 (Pairing)

For *N* even, a pairing, *p*, is a permutation of the set $\{1, ..., N\}$. The pairs defined by *p* are $\{\{p(2k-1), p(2k)\}\}_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}}$. Two pairings, *p* and *p'*, are different if and only if there exist *k* and *h* s.t. $\{p(2k-1), p(2k)\} \cap \{p'(2h-1), p'(2h)\} \neq \emptyset$, and $\{p(2k-1), p(2k)\} \neq \{p'(2h-1), p'(2h)\}$.

This definition gives an equivalence relation on the set of permutations, i.e. two pairings are equivalent if at least one experimental unit assigned differently between pairings. The set of equivalence classes produced by this relation is what we call the set of pairings. Our goal is to find the pairing that minimizes equation 2.1.

Proposition 3: Let $r_i \equiv r(X_i) \forall i$, and let $r_{(1)}, r_{(2)}, ..., r_{(N)}$ denote the order statistics of $r_1, r_2, ..., r_N$. If Assumption 1 holds and $\theta_i | X, \epsilon$ are *i.i.d* with $E(\theta_i | X, \epsilon) = \theta$, then $var(\overline{D}|X)$ is minimized by the pairing $\{(1), (2), ..., (N)\}$. This pairing is a permutation of $\{1, ..., N\}$. The pairs are $\{(2k - 1), (2k)\}_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}}$.

proof:

By Proposition 1 $var(\overline{D}|X)$ depends on pairs only via

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} r_{(2k-1)} r_{(2k)}.$$

So we must show

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} r_{(2k-1)} r_{(2k)} \ge \sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} r_{p(2k-1)} r_{p(2k)}$$

for all other pairings *p*.

Suppose for the purposes of deriving a contradiction that *p* is maximal for

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} r_{p(2k-1)} r_{p(2k)}$$

and there exists subset $\{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4\} \subseteq \{r_1, ..., r_N\}$ where $a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \le a_4$ and are not paired in order under p. If $a_1 = a_2 = a_3 = a_4$ then it is not possible to pair the subset out of order. Likewise it is not possible if $a_1 < a_2 = a_3 = a_4$ or $a_1 = a_2 = a_3 < a_4$. Suppose $a_1 = a_2 < a_3 = a_4$, then it must be that under p the pairs are $\{a_1, a_3\}$ and $\{a_2, a_4\}$. Now consider $a_1a_3 + a_2a_4$, we will show that $a_1a_2 + a_3a_4$ is larger and thus p is not maximal. We have $a_1a_3 + a_2a_4 = 2a_1a_3$ and $a_1a_2 + a_3a_4 = a_1^2 + a_3^2$. Suppose for contradiction that $a_1^2 + a_3^2 \le 2a_1a_3 \iff a_1^2 + a_3^2 - 2a_1a_3 \le 0$, but $a_1^2 + a_3^2 - 2a_1a_3 = (a_1 - a_3)^2 > 0$. Thus it must be that $\{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4\}$ has at least three distinct elements.

• Case 1: $a_1 = a_2 < a_3 < a_4$. Under p the pairs must be $\{a_1, a_3\}$ and $\{a_2, a_4\}$ since $a_1 = a_2$. Under p we obtain $a_1a_3 + a_2a_4 = a_1a_3 + a_1a_4$ compared to the alternative pairing $\{a_1, a_2\}$ and $\{a_3, a_4\}$ where we obtain $a_1a_2 + a_3a_4 = a_1a_1 + a_3a_4$. Now suppose $a_1a_3 + a_1a_4 \ge a_1a_1 + a_3a_4 \iff$

 $a_1(a_3 - a_1) \ge (a_3 - a_1)a_4 \iff a_1 \ge a_4$ since $a_3 > a_1$. But $a_1 < a_4$ by transitivity.

- Case 2: a₁ < a₂ = a₃ < a₄. Under p it must be {a₁, a₄} and {a₂, a₃} are paired. Under p we obtain a₁a₄ + a₂a₂ whereas under the alternative {a₁, a₂} and {a₃, a₄} we obtain a₁a₂ + a₂a₄. Now suppose a₁a₄ + a₂a₂ ≥ a₁a₂ + a₂a₄ ⇔ a₁(a₄ a₂) ≥ a₂(a₄ a₂) ⇔ a₁ ≥ a₂, but a₁ < a₂.
- Case 3: $a_1 < a_2 < a_3 = a_4$. Under *p* it must be that $\{a_1, a_3\}$ and $\{a_2, a_4\}$ are paired and we obtain $a_1a_3 + a_2a_3$. Consider the alternative $\{a_1, a_2\}$ and $\{a_3, a_4\}$ where we obtain $a_1a_2 + a_3a_3$. Suppose $a_1a_3 + a_2a_3 \ge a_1a_2 + a_3a_3 \iff a_1(a_3 - a_2) \ge a_3(a_3 - a_2) \iff a_1 \ge a_3$, but $a_3 > a_1$.
- Case 4: $a_1 < a_2 < a_3 < a_4$. Under *p* either a_1 is paired with a_3 or it is paired with a_4 . First, say a_1 and a_3 are paired. Then we obtain $a_1a_3 + a_2a_4$. Let us compare that to $a_1a_2 + a_3a_4$. Suppose $a_1a_3 + a_2a_4 \ge a_1a_2 + a_3a_4 \iff a_1(a_3 a_2) \ge a_4(a_3 a_2) \iff a_1 \ge a_4$ a contradiction. Instead say a_1 and a_4 are paired under *p*, then we obtain $a_1a_4 + a_2a_3$. Let us compare that to $a_1a_2 + a_3a_4$. Suppose $a_1a_2 + a_3a_4$. Suppose $a_1a_4 + a_2a_3 \ge a_1a_2 + a_3a_4 \iff a_1(a_4 a_2) \ge a_3(a_4 a_2) \iff a_1 \ge a_3$, a contradiction.

Remarks Use empirical process notation: $\mathbb{E}_n[f(\omega_i)] \equiv \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n f(\omega_i)$. Proposition 2 gives

$$\frac{N}{2}var(\overline{D}|X) = \mathbb{E}_N[var(\theta_i|X)] + 2\mathbb{E}_N[var(\epsilon_i|X)] + \mathbb{E}_{\frac{N}{2}}[(r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k}))^2]$$
(2.5)

where the first two terms of this equation are irreducible error, and

$$\mathbb{E}_{\frac{N}{2}}[(r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k}))^2]$$

is the error from within pair differences in $r(X_i)$. If pairs do not match on the vectors X_i , but all pairs match on the scalars $r(X_i)$ then $\mathbb{E}_{\frac{N}{2}}[(r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k}))^2] = 0$, and equation 2.5 would only involve irreducible error. This provides some intuition for this paper's main results.

Other than Assumption 1 the proof of optimality required that treatment effects be independent of (X, ϵ) . A requirement, like this one, restricting the relationship between the conditional expectations of potential outcomes is necessary for matching based on the prognostic score to be optimal. Consider the following counter example where we do away with this type of requirement and allow $E(Y_i(1)|X_i = x)$ and $E(Y_i(0)|X_i = x)$ to be unrestricted. Let potential outcomes be deterministic functions of a univariate *X*, and let *X* take on the following values in a sample of four. The data could come from four draws from the functions in Figure 2.1.

Table 2.1: Counter example where treatment effect not independent of (X, ϵ)

$E(Y_i(1) x_i)$	$E(Y(0)_i x_i)$	x_i	i
1	1	1	1
4	2	2	2
9	3	3	3
2	4	4	4

The assumptions in Propositions 2 and 3 imply that the average treatment effect conditional on covariates is constant for all values of the potential outcomes. In this counter example, that would require the graphs in Figure 2.1 to differ by at most a vertical shift. In this deviation from that assumption the optimal pairing depends on more than the order given by either conditional expectation function.

Pairing on the prognostic score would pair units {1, 2} and {3, 4}, and $Var(\overline{D}|X)$ would be 52/16. Pairs matched on the predicted outcome for treatment would give {1, 4} and {2, 3} with $Var(\overline{D}|X)$ of 37/16. The optimal pairs in this case are {1, 3} and {2, 4}, they give $Var(\overline{D}|X)$ of 36/16.

2.2.1 General solution to the matching problem

Without making any assumptions we have the following formula for the variance:



Figure 2.1: *Counter example where treatment effect not independent of* (X, ϵ)

$$\frac{\operatorname{var}(\overline{D})}{\left(\frac{2}{N}\right)^2} = \frac{N}{2} \left[E(\theta_i^2) - \theta^2 + 2E(r(X_i)^2) + 2E(\theta_i Y_i(0)) + 2E(\epsilon_i^2) \right] - \sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \left[2E(r(X_{2k-1})r(X_{2k})) + E(\theta_{2k-1}Y_{2k}(0)) + E(\theta_{2k}Y_{2k-1}(0)) \right] + \sum_{h\neq k} \frac{1}{4} \left[E(\theta_{2k-1}\theta_{2h-1}) + E(\theta_{2k-1}\theta_{2h}) + E(\theta_{2k}\theta_{2h-1}) + E(\theta_{2k}\theta_{2h}) \right] - \frac{N}{2} \left(\frac{N}{2} - 1\right) \theta^2$$

$$(2.6)$$

This is derived in a web appendix. The second and third rows depend on the way pairs are matched. Let $E(Y_i(1)|X_i) \equiv \tilde{r}(X_i)$, and $\epsilon_i \equiv Y_i(1) - \tilde{r}(X_i)$.

Therefore $\theta_i = \tilde{r}(X_i) + \tilde{\epsilon} - r(X_i) - \epsilon_i$. We have that $E(\theta_i Y_i(0)) = E(\tilde{r}(X_i)r(X_i)) - E(r(X_i)^2) - E(\epsilon_i^2)$, $E(\theta_i Y_j(0)) = E(\tilde{r}(X_i)r(X_j)) - E(r(X_i)r(X_j))$, and $E(\theta_i\theta_j) = E(\tilde{r}(X_i)\tilde{r}(X_j)) - E(r(X_i)\tilde{r}(X_j)) - E(r(X_i)\tilde{r}(X_j))$ $E(\tilde{r}(X_i)r(X_j)) + E(r(X_i)r(X_j))$. Each of which are functions of *X*. Since the set of possible matches is finite then for every possible realization of *X* optimization of equation 6 can be done by exhaustive search over this set.

2.3 Matching in Practice

In practice the conditional expectation function–also referred to as the 'prognosis score' (Hansen, 2008)–is not known and will have to be estimated with data. This data can come from any sample from the same population, for example a previous experiment, a rich baseline survey, an existing observational study, or administrative data. This initial prediction can be based on many baseline covariates. Since we will be using covariates to predict the outcome of interest, the goal is to use them to make predictions with the best out of sample performance. To this end there are many model selection procedures available, such as, AIC, BIC, Lasso, or ridge regression. This paper provides some guidance on how to estimate the best predictors in the examples and compares their performance.

Figure 2.2 shows each of the steps present in the matching procedure. The process starts with collection of baseline covariates for the units in the experiment, in addition to collection of auxiliary (training) covariates and outcome data from the same population. Next the training data is used to estimate a prediction function. This function, coupled with the baseline covariates from the experiment group form the procedure's predicted outcomes. Matched pairs are based on these predictions. The pair assignments are then operationalized as a set of pair indicators. Next, randomization produces a treatment variable. After the experiment is conducted, an outcome variable is measured. The analysis of this experiment, however, will use just the pair indicators, outcome, and treatment variable.

To build intuition for the procedure and to draw important distinctions, it is useful to compare the present method with well known propensity score methods. In practice, the two steps for optimal matched pairs randomization are analogous to matching procedures in observational studies based on the propensity score (Rubin, 1983). In the first step, rather than estimating a propensity score (which





Notes: This figure shows each step in the matching procedure. The process starts with the collection of baseline covariates, X_{expr} , for the units in the experiment and auxiliary (training) data from the same population that contains baseline covariates and outcome, $(X, Y)_{train}$. Next the training data is used to estimate a prediction function, \hat{r} . This allows the experiment baseline covariates to form a predicted outcome. Matched pairs are based on these predictions, $\hat{r}(X_{expr})$. The pair assignments are given by a set of pair indicators, M_{expr} . Randomization produces a treatment variable T, and an outcome variable, Y, which is measured after the experiment is conducted. The analysis of the experiment will use $(Y, T, \mathbf{M})_{expr}$.

is the conditional probability of treatment), we estimate a 'prognostic score' (Hansen, 2008), which is a conditional expectation of the potential outcome absent the treatment. Both scores aggregate the information present in pre-intervention variables. But while the propensity score describes how observables influence selection into treatment, the prognostic score describes how observables influence the outcome.

Since treatment in this model is binary, the propensity score must usually be estimated with probit or logit models as these both account for the binary dependent variable. On the other hand, the prognostic score is not restricted in the same manner unless the outcome is also binary. In propensity score methods the second step would typically involve controlling for the propensity score non-parametrically. This can more generally include matching or blocking, as well as fitting flexible univariate functions. However in matched pairs randomization, the second step is usually fixed⁶. That is, inference in the second step is performed in one standard way. We describe this in the next section.

⁶Dierh et al (1995), Snedecor and Cochran (1979), and Lynn and McCulloch (1992) discuss 'breaking the matches' ex-post in matched pair randomization and find that tests that ignore the procedure are conservative. 'Breaking the matches' is a hybrid design where one matches, but then analyses the data as if matching had not occurred.

2.4 Inference in Matched Pair Randomization

After randomization, both frequentist inference and randomization inference depend only on the actual strata chosen and not on estimated predicted values. Covariates are used to form predictions which are then used to choose pairs. Ex-post analysis is done conditionally on the chosen pairs; thus it is unaffected by the process used to pick pairs. However, so long as good predictors of the outcome are used, significant gains in efficiency will most likely be realized.

A standard way to obtain the difference in means estimator is from the following linear regression model (Duflo et al., 2006),

$$E(Y_{ij}|T_{ij}, M_j) = \alpha + \beta T_{ij} + \delta_j M_j$$
(2.7)

where *i* indexes individuals, *j* indexes pairs, T_{ij} is a treatment indicator, and M_j is a pair indicator.

Frequentist inference can be done using either the standard or robust estimates of the least squares variance. In the case of matched pairs, there is also another procedure available, i.e. the paired difference test (Rubin, 1973). The simplest way to think of the paired t-test is to construct within pair differences, $D_j \equiv Y_{1j} - Y_{2j}$ (indexed so that the first unit is treated). This gives one difference for each pair. The rest of the procedure amounts to estimating the mean with the sample average of the differences, $\overline{D} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_j D_j$, where *n* is the number of pairs. Standard errors for the test come from the appropriately normalized sample variances of the differences, $SE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n} \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_j (D_j - \overline{D})^2}$. A t-statistic, \overline{D}/SE , is formed and compared to a critical value from the t-distribution with n - 1 degrees of freedom. The test can be justified either asymptotically given a central limit theorem holds or in finite samples with the assumption of normal errors.

Thus given a matched pair randomization one can view the data as a set of N outcome measurements from the experimental units, where N/2 have been treated. One can then proceed with analysis by regressing the outcome on a treatment indicator alongside a set of N/2 pair indicators. Alternatively one can view the data as a set of n = N/2 within pair differences wherein the statistician is estimating the simple mean of the n within pair differences⁷.

Randomization inference can also be conducted ex-post. The method, in general, considers a test statistic and a sharp null hypothesis. The test statistic is evaluated at all possible counter-factual assignments that could have been realized by the experiment. A sharp null hypothesis then specifies exactly what the treatment effect is for every experimental unit and allows counter-factual potential outcomes to be computed for every unit. It is commonly the case that the sharp null hypothesizes exactly zero effect of treatment for every unit. Under this null both potential outcomes are identical for each unit, so that outcomes would be the same under any treatment assignment. In a matched pairs experiment with N/2, pairs there would be $2^{N/2}$ possible assignments and the distribution of a test statistic can be computed over this distribution. Inference would then be conducted by comparing the value of the statistic to the proportion of more extreme values in the underlying distribution.

2.4.1 Treatment Compliance

Often in experiments not all treatment assignments are followed. For example experimenters may randomize admission into a work-training program, but not all admitted applicants may enroll. Furthermore, some applicants who were randomized out of the program may be admitted after reapplying. In these cases one can use the original treatment assignments to estimate the effect of Intent To Treat (ITT) by redefining T_i in this model's set-up to denote treatment assignment instead of actual treatment.

2.5 Model Selection and Prediction Methods

In this section we present and discuss four model selection methods: AIC, the Akaike Information Criterion; BIC, Bayes' Information Criterion; Lasso, the least absolute shrinkage and selection

⁷Two interesting but non critical observations are described in appendix A.

operator; and Ridge regression. This paper uses each of these four methods to select models in simulations.

2.5.1 AIC and BIC

The Akaike (1974) Information Criterion comes from a correction for over-fitting in a maximum likelihood model. In the likelihood model, this means that the Kullback-Leiber distance between the selected model and the true model is smaller than would be expected. The expected bias is then computed and the estimate is subtracted out. AIC is a transformation of the bias corrected distance between the true model and the given model. On the other hand, the Bayes' Information Criterion (BIC) comes from a Laplace approximation of the probability of observing a given set of data conditional on a particular model. Both AIC and BIC have a long history of application in time series where one of the main questions is regarding how to select the order of AR and ARMA models (c.f. Shibata, 1976 and Brockwell and Davis, 2002). Researchers with access to long panel data sets, such as semester grades from kindergarten to tenth grade, may find AR models useful for predicting class 11 grades. The methods noted above are more generally useful in classifying how well different models fit a dataset.

We use the AIC in the case of independent identically distributed data. This derivation follows Claskens and Hjort (2008). Let $Y_1, ..., Y_n$ be i.i.d. from an unknown density g. Consider a parametric model with density $f_{\theta}(y) = f(y, \theta)$ where $\theta = (\theta_1, ..., \theta_p)'$ belongs to some subset of \mathbb{R}^p . MLE minimizes the Kullback-Leibler distance (KL) between the fitted and true model,

$$KL = \int g(y) \log g(y) dy - \int g(y) \log f(y, \hat{\theta}) dy.$$

The first term is constant across models f_{θ} so consider

$$R_n = \int g(y) \log f(y,\hat{\theta}) dy.$$

This is a random variable, dependent on the data via $\hat{\theta}$. Now consider it's expected value

$$Q_n = E_g[R_n] = E_g\left[\int g(y)\log f(y,\hat{\theta})dy\right].$$

and estimate Q_n from data via

$$\hat{Q}_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \log f(Y_i, \hat{\theta}) = \frac{1}{n} l_{n,\max}.$$

We can show that \hat{Q}_n is higher than Q_n on average, and the bias is

$$E(\hat{Q}_n - Q_n) \approx p^*/n$$
, where $p^* = trace(J^{-1}K)$

where

$$J = -E_g \left[\frac{\partial^2 \log f(Y, \theta_0)}{\partial \theta \partial \theta'} \right], \quad K = Var_g \left[\frac{\partial \log f(Y, \theta_0)}{\partial \theta} \right]$$

If $g = f_{\theta_0}$ then J = K. A bias-corrected estimator of Q_n is

$$\hat{Q}_n - p^*/n = (1/n)(l_{n,\max} - p^*).$$

When the model actually holds, i.e.

$$g(\mathbf{y}) = f(\mathbf{y}, \theta_0),$$

then K = J is the Fisher information matrix of the model, and

$$p^* = tr(J^{-1}K) = p = dim(\theta).$$

If we take $p^* = p$, the number of parameters in the model, this gives the AIC criterion

$$AIC = -2l_{n,\max} + 2p$$

In the normal linear model $Y_i | \mathbf{x_i} \sim \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{x_i}\beta, \sigma^2 I)$ we have that $-2l_{n,max} = nlog(\frac{SSR}{n})$, where $SSR = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\hat{y}_i - \overline{y})^2$ so $AIC = n \log(\frac{SSR}{n}) + 2p$.

The BIC comes from comparing the posterior probability that a model is the true model. We have that $M_1, M_2, ...$ are potential models. The probability that data come from model M_j given the observation

of data, Y, is

$$P(M_j|Y) = \frac{P(M_j)}{f(Y)} \int_{\Theta} f(Y|M_j|\theta) \pi(\theta|M_j) d\theta$$

where $P(M_j)$ is the prior probability that data come from M_j , and f(Y) is the unconditional likelihood of observing data Y. For selecting among models using the same data, f(Y) is fixed. We also give each model equal prior by fixing $P(M_j)$. Now we can rewrite $\int_{\Theta} f(Y|M_j|\theta)\pi(\theta|M_j)d\theta$ as

$$\int_{\Theta} \exp(n\frac{1}{n}l_{n,j}(\theta))\pi(\theta)d\theta$$

and apply a Laplace transformation to give the approximation

$$\left(\frac{2\pi}{n}\right)^{p/2} \exp\left(n\frac{1}{n}l_{n,j}(\theta)\right) \left[\pi(\theta)|J(\theta)|^{-1/2}\right]$$
$$= (2\pi)^{p/2} n^{-p/2} f(Y|M_j) \pi(\theta) |J(\theta)|^{-1/2}$$

where p is the dimension of the parameters in model j. The BIC that we use comes from the first two dominant terms after taking the log of this expression. Taking the log gives

$$\frac{p}{2}log(2\pi) - \frac{p}{2}log(n) + l_{n,j}(\theta) + log(\pi(\theta)) - \frac{1}{2}log|J(\theta)|$$

and the two dominant terms are

$$-\frac{p}{2}log(n)+l_{n,j}(\theta)$$

since they get arbitrarily large with n. The BIC for model j is this expression multiplied by -2.

$$BIC = p \log(n) - 2l_{n,j}(\theta).$$

For the normal linear model we have that

$$BIC = n \log\left(\frac{SSR}{n}\right) + p \log(n).$$

Models are compared with BIC or AIC by taking the set of models under consideration, and then computing AIC and BIC values for each one. Since the penalty term $p \log(n)$ is higher for BIC than for AIC (which has a penalty of p2), BIC will have a tendency to select lower dimensional models. As

the number of models grows large, evaluating each model individually becomes burdensome. In the next section we turn to model selection methods that choose models without the need to compute a value for each.

2.5.2 Ridge and Lasso

Ridge and Lasso are methods that select from many possible models simultaneously. Here we describe Lasso and Ridge and follow Hastie, Tibshirani, and Friedman (2009). Although more amenable to large parameter spaces (models can be estimated with more covariates than observations), Ridge and Lasso are defined for linear models. Instead of introducing a penalty term after model parameters have been estimated, these shrinkage methods include a penalty within a modified least squares optimization problem. Solving the optimization problem produces the best model.

For comparison recall the OLS estimator

$$\hat{\beta} = \arg\min_{\beta} (y - x\beta)' (y - x\beta)$$

where *y* is an $N \times 1$ vector of outcomes, *x* is a $N \times k$ matrix of covariates that includes a constant in the first column, and β is a $k \times 1$ parameter vector. Let us decompose the covariates into the constant and the remaining columns $x = [1, \tilde{x}]$, and let us do the same for the parameters $\beta = (\beta_0, \tilde{\beta}')'$. Now we can write down the ridge estimator as

$$\arg\min_{\beta} \left[(y - x\beta)'(y - x\beta) + \lambda \tilde{\beta}' \tilde{\beta} \right].$$

Instead of minimizing the sum of squared residuals as in OLS, the Ridge estimator is minimizing the sum of squared residuals plus a linear penalty in the sum of the squares of the coefficients. One drawback of this method is that changes in the scale of the inputs have non-trivial effects on the estimand. This paper follows standard practices and normalizes covariates to have mean zero and variance one before we estimate both Ridge and Lasso models.

Ridge can also be reconciled in the following Bayesian model. Let $y_i \sim \mathcal{N}(x\beta, \sigma^2)$ i.i.d. for all *i* and

let $\beta_j \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \tau^2)$ i.i.d. for all j. Then the posterior density of β with σ and τ known is

$$f(\beta|y, x) \propto \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2\sigma^2}\left[(y-x\beta)'(y-x\beta)+\lambda\tilde{\beta}'\tilde{\beta}\right]\right)$$

where $\lambda = \sigma^2 / \tau^{28}$.

Lasso follows a similar optimization to Ridge but changes the penalty so that it is linear in the sum of absolute deviations of the coefficients instead of linear in the sum of the squares like Ridge. More formally the estimator is described by

$$\arg\min_{\beta} \left[(y - x\beta)'(y - x\beta) + \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{k} |\beta_j| \right].$$

The effect of changing the penalty on estimated coefficients is substantial. Lasso can produce models with coefficients set to zero. In this way, it can be interpreted as doing subset selection over the set of covariates.

Ridge and Lasso estimates will depend on the magnitude of the penalty coefficient, λ . Our choice of this parameter starts by estimating models for various values of λ . For each model we estimate the mean squared error using ten-fold cross validation, then we chose the value λ with the lowest estimated mean squared error.

2.6 Data and Simulations

2.6.1 Dataset descriptions

Using data from Bruhn and McKenzie (2011), I conduct simulations in six cases. In some cases, the data come from actual field experiments. In others, the data is observational and the outcome and baseline variables are chosen to represent a hypothetical field experiment. Data come from four

⁸This Bayesian interpretation of the Ridge model suggests a two step procedure as an alternative to the standard practice of normalizing the variance of covariates to one. In the first step, if k < N one can orthonormalize the covariates and estimate the full model to obtain measures of the precision of the coefficients and an initial measure of σ . In the second step Ridge is estimated with λ set to σ^2 .

sources: Mexico's national labor survey, a Sri Lankan micro-enterprise survey, a Pakistan education survey, and Indonesia's Family Life survey. Table 2.2 gives summary statistics for variables in the six samples.

The Mexican survey has data on monthly income⁹ and weekly work hours for households surveyed by the Mexican Encuesta Nacional de Empleo (ENE). This was Mexico's national labor survey from 1988 to 2005. The ENE sample we use is for household heads between 20 and 65 who were first interviewed in the second quarter of 2002 and who were reinterviewed in the next four quarters. We keep only those at the initial interview and imagine a treatment aimed at increasing their income.

Sri Lankan data is on small enterprises and measures monthly profits and sales, weekly work hours, capital assets, demographic information on the business owner, and whether the business was affected by the 2004 Indian ocean earthquake and accompanying tsunami. Data collection was done in 2005 by De Mel, McKenzie, and Woodruff (2008), who also randomly assigned grants of 10,000 or 20,000 rupees (LKR) to Sri Lankan micro-enterprises. They surveyed firms with less than 100,000 LKR (US\$1,000) in capital other than land and buildings. We imagine an experiment aimed at increasing firm profits.

The sample of micro-enterprise firms is roughly evenly split between retail sales and manufacturing. Retail firms tend to be small grocery stores. Manufacturing firms range from clothing manufacturing to bicycle repair. The household asset index is the first principal component of a set of indicators or ownership of durable assets¹⁰. The <u>Capital</u> variable measures the value of assets in the firm excluding land and buildings.

We run simulations in two cases with data on test scores and child height from Pakistan (Andrabi et al., 2008). Andrabi et al. study teacher value added estimates with three years of data from the Learning and Educational Achievement in Punjab Schools (LEAPS) project, an ongoing survey of

⁹Income is measured in pesos (MX\$1=US\$0.1)

¹⁰The asset index uses seventeen indicators: cell phone; land-line phone; household furniture; clocks and watches; kerosene, gas or electric cooker; iron and heaters; refrigerator or freezer; fans; sewing machines; radios; television sets; bicycles; motorcycles; cars and vans; cameras; pressure lamps; and gold jewelry.

learning in Pakistan. The sample comes from 112 villages in 3 Punjabi districts. Villages were chosen from the set of villages with at least one private school. Thus the sample has higher income and more education than the average rural village in the districts. The initial panel consisted of 13,735 third graders who were tested in Urdu, math, and English. These children were subsequently tested in fourth and fifth grade. We use a subsample of 6,379 children who were additionally surveyed on anthropometrics (height, weight) and detailed family characteristics. Variables include a family wealth index, an indicator for having a high education mother, and district private school dummies. Math test scores are given as "knowledge scores" which range from zero to 1000 on the LEAPS exam. The variable wealth index is from a principal component analysis of twenty household assets.

The last dataset comes from the Indonesian Family Life Survey (IFLS), an on-going longitudinal survey in Indonesia. The first wave was conducted jointly in 1993 by RAND and Lembaga Demografi, University of Indonesia. We use data from 1997 and 2000, the second and third waves respectively. In one sample we use children in 6th grade during the first survey and simulate a survey that keeps them in school. Our outcome is <u>Child Schooling</u>, an indicator for whether the child was in school in 2000. In the second sample we use household per capita expenditure data as an outcome and simulate a treatment that increases this outcome variable for households. The variable <u>Household expenditure</u> represents the log of household expenditures per capita.

2.6.2 Data generating process

In order to allow an arbitrary number of draws to be taken, and so that the true data generating process is known and can be used as a benchmark for each dataset, I first regress the outcome on a set of covariates chosen by Bruhn and McKenzie $(2011)^{11}$. Next, I take the estimated coefficients and the mean squared error from this regression in each dataset and treat these estimates as the true parameters, (β, σ^2) in a normal linear model $y|x \sim N(x\beta, \sigma^2 I)$. Tables 2.3 and 2.4 describe the regressions used for the data generating process and present the coefficients and MSE for each dataset. To generate

¹¹Bruhn and McKenzie call these "balancing variables" and each of the six datasets has seven of these covariates. Each dataset from Bruhn and McKenzie (2011) has three hundred observations.

observations I draw covariate vectors x_i from those that are in the BM samples. That is, I take the joint distribution of x_i , F_x , to be the sample distribution in the BM data.

A simulated experiment draws two independent samples from this distribution, a training sample and an experiment sample. With the experiment sample it estimates prediction functions using the four methods from section 5, AIC, BIC, Ridge, and Lasso.

Ridge uses ridge regression (Tibshirani, 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *LASSO* uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Tibshirani, 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *AIC* uses the model among the 2^7 sub-models that has the lowest value of the Akaike information criterion (Akaike, 1974). *BIC* uses the model among the 2^7 sub-models that has the lowest value of the Bayes information criterion (Schwarz, 1978). In each of the four methods the full model is linear in a constant and the seven "balancing variables" and corresponds to the data generating process. After this is done the training data is discarded and only the estimated prediction functions are kept. These are used to form predictions of the outcome in the experiment sample.

We investigate how matching pairs according to the predicted outcome performs against complete randomization, and against matching pairs according to the baseline outcome¹². We are interested in the lagged outcome because this covariate is highlighted by Bruhn and McKenzie and performs well in their simulations. For matching according to the predicted outcome we compare the four methods of forming predictions from section 5. Our benchmark estimates draw a training sample of 2000 observations of the outcome and covariates and form predictions for an independent placebo experiment sample of 100. For each method we report the mean squared error of the difference in means; we form .95 confidence intervals and report the proportion of estimates that fall outside the confidence interval; lastly we estimate rejection probabilities (power) for plausible treatment effects in each experiment.

¹²For the schooling outcome in the IFLS data set, since all children are in school at baseline we match on mother's level of education.

Variable name	Mean	SD	Variable name	Mean	SD		
Labor income (Mexico	o, ENE)		Height z-scores (Pakistan, LEAPS)				
Labor income/1000	4.33	4.93	Height z-score	-0.28	1.17		
Baseline income/1000	4.56	5.4	Baseline height	-0.162	1.21		
Hours worked	48.1	14.1	Baseline weight	-0.581	0.991		
1{Female}	0.13	0.337	Female dummy	0.443	0.498		
1{Rural }	0.27	0.445	Wealth index	-0.0962	1.72		
Num. rooms in home	3.83	1.5	1{High educ. mother}	0.223	0.417		
1{Business owner }	0.35	0.478	District 1 dummy	0.303	0.46		
1{1 to 5 employees }	0.507	0.501	District 2 dummy	0.31	0.463		
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lank	a)	Household expenditures (Ir	idonesia, I	FLS)		
Microenterprise profits/1000	5.77	8.22	Household expenditure	12.3	0.766		
Baseline profits/1000	3.9	3.5	Urban dummy	0.48	0.5		
Hours worked	52.2	22	Household size	4.53	2.19		
Female dummy	0.477	0.5	1{Male h.hold head }	0.827	0.379		
Baseline sales/10000	1.18	1.53	Age of h.hold head	47.7	14.9		
Capital/10000	2.63	2.65	Years educ. h.hold head	5.29	4.3		
Asset index	0.198	1.77	Baseline h.hold expend.	12.3	0.74		
Tsunami dummy	0.26	0.439	Num. of children < 5	0.537	0.755		
Math test scores (Pakista	n, LEAP	S)	Child schooling (Indonesia, IFLS)				
Math test score	545	171	Child Schooling	0.737	0.441		
Baseline math score	508	155	Age	12.4	1.16		
Baseline english score	501	166	Female dummy	0.513	0.501		
Age	9.65	1.06	Govt. school dummy	0.83	0.376		
Female dummy	0.487	0.501	Mothers educ.	4.73	4.03		
Wealth index	0.174	1.74	Urban dummy	0.48	0.5		
High educ. mother dummy	0.243	0.43	Household size	5.5	1.62		
Private school dummy	0.313	0.465	Baseline h.hold expenditure	12.3	0.747		

 Table 2.2: Dataset Summary Statistics

Notes: This table describes the datasets used in our simulations. Each dataset contains 300 observations. The first row of each panel describes the variable we treat as the outcome in out simulations. The next seven rows describe variables we use as covariates. The models are linear in these covariates.

A second set of simulations investigates how performance changes when we decrease the size of the training sample. Finally two additional sets of simulations investigate the same measures of performance when we first decrease then increase the size of the experimental sample. This is motivated by findings from BM who observe smaller gains from matching with samples sizes of 300 and above.

Labor income (Mex	ico)	Microenterprise (Sri Lanka)	Math test (Pakistan)			
Constant	2213.82	Constant	547.00	Constant	236.50		
	(1165.17)		(1439.47)		(77.29)		
Baseline income	0.433	Baseline profits	0.441	Baseline math score	0.581		
	(0.05)		(0.15)		(0.06)		
Hours worked	4.65	Hours worked	35.6	Baseline english score	0.107		
	(17.23)		(21.81)		(0.07)		
Female dummy	-1.15e+03	Female dummy	-115	Age	-3.95		
	(740.63)		(959.90)		(7.19)		
Rural dummy	-1.17e+03	Baseline sales	0.036	Female dummy	-32.1		
	(568.57)		(0.03)		(15.37)		
Number of rooms in home	132	Capital	0.041	Wealth index	-0.143		
	(178.48)		(0.02)		(4.77)		
Business owner dummy	156	Asset index	84.3	High educ. mother dummy	-5.21		
	(742.99)		(280.87)		(17.98)		
1 to 5 employees dummy	-353	Tsunami dummy	749	Private school dummy	46.8		
	(691.98)		(1039.68)		(19.59)		
F stat	17.31	F stat	5.81	F stat	32.19		
Ad. <i>R</i> ²	0.280	Ad. R^2	0.100	Ad. R^2	0.420		
Root MSE	4190.740	Root MSE	7789.430	Root MSE	129.700		

Table 2.3: DGP Descriptions 1-3

Notes: This table describes the datasets used in our simulations. Each dataset contains 300 observations. Each column in this table describes a regression of that data set's outcome on a constant term and seven covariates. Coefficients are reported with standard errors in parentheses. The coefficients from these regressions and the root mean squared error were used to define part of the data generating process for each simulation. The data generating process is completely described by noting that we use the joint empirical distribution of the covariates to draw observations.

2.6.3 Benchmark performance

Table 2.5 shows the relative mean squared error from each method in our benchmark case. In this first set of simulations the size of the training sample is 2000, the size of the experiment sample is 100, and the number of simulations per dataset per method is 10,000. We call a training sample of 2000 and an experiment of 100 the benchmark case. The values in Table 2.5 are scaled so that, for each data set, the mean squared error under complete randomization is one. For example, row 1 column 3 implies that the mean squared error using matched pairs and matching using the predicted value from Ridge regression produces mean squared error that is .748 times the size of the mean square error under complete randomization.

Height z-score (Pakista	n)	Household Exp. (Indones	ia)	Child Schooling (Indonesia)		
Constant	-0.27	Constant	7.88	Constant	0.54	
	(0.11)		(0.77)		(0.52)	
Baseline height	0.46	Urban dummy	-0.006	Age	-0.055	
	(0.07)		(0.07)		(0.02)	
Baseline weight	0.106	Household size	0.004	Female dummy	0.021	
	(0.08)		(0.02)		(0.05)	
Female dummy	0.25	Male household head dummy	-0.214	Govt. school dummy	0.138	
	(0.11)		(0.11)		(0.06)	
Wealth index	-0.04	Age of household head	0.001	Mothers educ.	0.025	
	(0.03)		(0.01)		(0.01)	
High educ. mother dummy	-0.15	Years educ. household head	0.048	Urban dummy	0.095	
	(0.14)		(0.01)		(0.05)	
District 1 dummy	-0.12	Baseline h.hold expenditure	0.356	Household size	-0.017	
	(0.14)		(0.06)		(0.01)	
District 2 dummy	0.261	Number of children below 5	-0.105	Baseline h.hold expenditure	0.056	
	(0.14)		(0.06)		(0.03)	
F stat	22.77	F stat	16.42	F stat	8.34	
Ad. R^2	0.340	Ad. R^2	0.270	Ad. R^2	0.150	
Root MSE	0.950	Root MSE	0.660	Root MSE	0.410	

Table 2.4: DGP Descriptions 4-6

Notes: This table describes the datasets used in our simulations. Each dataset contains 300 observations. Each column in this table describes a regression of that data set's outcome on a constant term and six covariates. Coefficients are reported with standard errors in parentheses. The coefficients from these regressions and the root mean squared error were used to define part of the data generating process for each simulation. The data generating process is completely described by noting that we use the joint empirical distribution of the covariates to draw observations.

2.6.4 Choice of matching variable

Generally in Table 2.5, matching on the predicted values does better than matching the lagged values of the outcomes. In these datasets, matching on the lagged values of the outcome produces mean squared errors that are the about the same size or 2 percent smaller than complete randomization. Note that the biggest improvement comes from dataset 3 and that the least improvement comes from dataset 2. This is in line with the predictive power i.e. R^2 , from the data generating process. The gain in mean squared error relative to complete randomization is $1 - R^2$ and dataset 3 has the highest R^2 while dataset 2 has the lowest R^2 .

2.6.5 Are standard errors the correct size?

Table 2.6 considers whether tests using the various randomization methods have correct size. This is a first order concern before efficiency gains are considered. That is whether .95 confidence intervals

Table 2.5: Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods

$N_{trainingsample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 100$	Randomization Method								
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$		
Labor income (Mexico)	1.000	1.036	0.750	0.735	0.755	0.760	0.752		
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	1.000	0.985	0.871	0.891	0.851	0.850	0.840		
Math test score (Pakistan)	1.000	1.003	0.586	0.578	0.566	0.566	0.567		
Height z-score (Pakistan)	1.000	1.013	0.670	0.642	0.682	0.675	0.647		
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	1.000	0.998	0.711	0.732	0.747	0.776	0.720		
Child schooling (Indonesia)	1.000	1.001	0.833	0.823	0.821	0.835	0.830		

Notes: This table gives mean squared error estimates relative to complete randomization. CR is complete randomization, that is, under no stratification. MPY_0 is matching on the lagged value of the outcome in each dataset. The next four columns $MP\hat{Y}_x$ match pairs according to the predicted outcome, where the prediction is formed from a training dataset using method *x*. *Ridge* uses ridge regression (Tibshirani, 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *LASSO* uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Tibshirani, 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the model among the 2⁷ sub-models that has the lowest value of the Akaike information criterion (Akaike, 1974). *BIC* uses the model among the 2⁷ sub-models that has the lowest value of the Bayes information criterion (Schwarz, 1978). In each of the four methods the full model is linear in a constant and the seven "balancing variables" and corresponds to the data generating process. The size of the the training sample used to estimate these predictors is $N_{trainingsample} = 2000$ and the total number of unit in each simulated experiment is $N_{experiment} = 100$.

formed following the linear regression model in equation (1) reject the null of no effect when there is in fact no effect of treatment. Table 2.6 shows that across all methods, size is well controlled. Rejection rates over 10000 simulations stay very close to .05 with the highest deviation to .055 and the lowest to .046.

Table 2.7 compares the methods under plausible treatment effects. The effects for each method are described in the first column of the table. BM chose these treatment effects to be relatively small in magnitude so that differences can be seen in power across randomization methods.

$N_{trainingsample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 100$	Randomization Method								
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$		
Labor income (Mexico)	0.047	0.054	0.048	0.050	0.049	0.048	0.048		
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.051	0.052	0.052	0.055	0.047	0.047	0.046		
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.054	0.049	0.047	0.052	0.047	0.048	0.051		
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.049	0.049	0.054	0.048	0.052	0.052	0.048		
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.052	0.052	0.051	0.055	0.050	0.051	0.050		
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.050	0.050	0.052	0.051	0.052	0.050	0.048		

Table 2.6: Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests using multiple randomization methods. The randomization methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

Table 2.7: Power for Multiple Randomization Methods

$N_{trainingsample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 100$		Randomization Method									
	TE	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$			
Labor income (Mexico)	0.17	0.149	0.151	0.180	0.185	0.177	0.184	0.187			
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.12	0.096	0.093	0.099	0.100	0.093	0.095	0.092			
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.22	0.196	0.200	0.295	0.311	0.302	0.304	0.308			
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.25	0.250	0.243	0.345	0.330	0.338	0.334	0.350			
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.51	0.716	0.709	0.847	0.840	0.817	0.817	0.841			
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.24	0.225	0.218	0.248	0.240	0.235	0.241	0.251			

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests, under the treatment effect given under column TE, using multiple randomization methods. The treatment effects are presented as standard deviations of the outcome variable. The randomizations methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

2.6.6 Performance with smaller training set

Tables B.1 to B.3 in Appendix C present simulation results that move from the benchmark case and reduce the size of the training set from 2000 to 100. As one would expect we see in Table B.2 that size continues to be controlled well across datasets and randomization methods. Table B.1 shows that the reductions in mean squared error are about the same as in the benchmark case. For Math test scores (Pakistan) matching pairs reduces MSE by forty to forty-three percent with a training sample of 100. With a training sample of 2000 the Pakistani Math test score simulation produced reductions in MSE of about the same size. Table B.3 shows that increases in power are about the same as in the benchmark case or slightly smaller. For the Mexican Labor income simulation with a smaller training sample, power under matching based on predicted outcomes gives results between .178 and .183. However in the benchmark case with a training sample of 2000, power is between .186 and .190.

2.6.7 Performance in small experiments

Tables B.4 to B.6 present simulations that move from the benchmark case and instead reduce the size of the units in the experiment from 100 to 30. Table B.4 shows that this does cause a noticeable attenuation of the reductions in MSE relative to the benchmark case. In the benchmark case with the strongest reduction in MSE, i.e. the math test score example with Pakistani data, MSE drops by 40 percent with 30 experimental units. The reduction was .44 percent with Lasso in the benchmark case. Table B.8 shows that tests still correctly reject 5 percent of samples when no treatment effect is present.

By far, the biggest differences from the benchmark case come with respect to losses in the level of power from the reduction of sample size, relative to the benchmark case. The degrees of freedom reduction from the matched pairs method becomes an issue in Table B.6. While power remains as high as complete randomization for methods that match on the predicted outcome, for matching on the lagged value of the outcome 4 of 6 datasets show lower power under matching on the lagged value of the outcome.

2.6.8 Performance in large experiments

The next case we consider takes the benchmark case and increases the size of the experiment to 300. Recall that the previous case reduced this sample to 30. Therefore, between the previous case of 30, the benchmark case of 100, and this case of 300 once can observe the performance of randomization methods over a tenfold increase in sample size. Tables B.7 to B.9 present results on MSE, size control and power. Comparing the relative MSE results in Table B.7 to 2.5 and B.4 we see that the <u>relative</u> reduction in MSE is remarkably stable across sample sizes. Taking for example the intervention on Pakistani math test scores, there remains a forty percent reduction in mean squared error from complete randomization to either one of the four methods that match on the predicted values of the outcome. This performance is remarkably similar to Tables 2.5 and B.4.

In similar simulations on math test scores, Bruhn and McKenzie find that the 95th percentile of the difference in means go from 0.23 to 0.17 as the randomization methods goes from complete randomization to matched pairs. They compare this to sample sizes of 30 where the reduction in this statistic is from 0.72 to 0.36. There are at least three reasons for the discrepancy, (1) the statistic they report is different from the MSE reported here, (2) they match pairs using the Mahalanobis distance as a metric and the Greedy algorithm for selection, (3) each of their simulations uses the same sample of 30 and the same sample of 300 observations in terms of both outcomes and covariates. Each of these three could play a role. It is not obvious that relative percentiles of the distribution should scale proportionately with sample size. Furthermore the 95th percentile of the sampling distribution of the estimator may be a more important statistic than its mean square error. It is less likely that the

Mahalanobis metric would play a significant role in the discrepancy, but how this balances covariates should be studied further. More worrisome is that a single sample of 30 was repeatedly used in the BM simulations. If the balancing variables had more predictive power for that sample than for the remaining sample of 270 that then this could lead to the dramatic differences that BM observes.

2.7 Literature

The optimization problem of exhaustively paring subjects from a common pool is called optimal non-bipartite matching (Papadimitriou and Steiglitz, 1998). It has previously been taken up by Greevy et al (2004). The general staring point, if the total number of units is N, is an $N \times N$ matrix that holds a weakly positive real valued measure of distance between each subject. Greevy et al (2004) use the Mahalanobis distance (MD) metric suggested by Rubin (1979) in this matrix. Distances are then summed for each candidate set of pairs, and the set with the lowest sum is chosen.

Under MD if $x_{p,1}$ and $x_{p,2}$ are the vectors of covariates for the two units of the *p*th pair, $p = 1, ..., \frac{N}{2}$, and \hat{C} is an estimate of Cov(X), then the sum of within pair Mahalanobis distances is

$$\sum_{p=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \sqrt{(x_{p,1} - x_{p,2})\hat{C}^{-1}(x_{p,1} - x_{p,2})'}.$$
(2.8)

One can set $x_{p,i}$ to the covariates themselves, or to their ranks to minimize the influence of outliers. It is commonly suggested that covariates be normalized by setting means to zero and variances to one. One, benefit of weighting by the inverse covariance matrix is that covariates that are highly correlated will be given less collective weight and covariates that are orthogonal to the rest are given greater weight. This captures the problem of over counting covariates that are very similar. Greevy et al (2012) extends this method to incorporate missing data dummies, and pre and post multiplying C^{-1} by a matrix of user specified weights. The method in this paper uses the conditional expectation function to weigh covariates. Thus missing covariate values do not pose a problem since conditional expectation functions are comparable and can be constructed for any set of covariates. If there were
fewer observed covariates for a particular observation then a conditional expectation function that uses just the non-missing variables as its argument can be estimated. For example, in the extreme case, if one particular experimental unit has no covariate information, then the best prediction of the outcome for this unit is the mean of the outcome.

While the Mahalanobis distance solves a well-posed optimization problem, it leaves much to be desired. Experimenters must choose which variables to include and in what functional form to include them. For example, the number of years of labor market experience can be included, as can the square of experience. Greevy et al (2004) suggest that covariates that matter for the outcome be chosen, but they go no further. If many irrelevant covariates are included in addition to strong predictors then this method will produce less of a gain than if the irrelevant variables were excluded. Matching on the predicted outcome (as is done in this paper) is not immune from the selection of an overly complex model. However, prediction is a richly studied concept in model selection, forecasting, machine learning and computer science, and there are many suggested solutions to resolve the issue of over-fitting. Thus if many irrelevant covariates are included among the set of predictors, those covariates will be given very little weight or excluded completely.

Two very notable contributions to the experimental design literature from within the field of economics are Hahn et al. (2011) and Kasy (2012). Hahn et al's method requires at least two experiments. The first experiment is conducted with complete randomization, and the data from that experiment are used to compute estimates of the conditional variance, $Var(Y_i(t)|X_i = x)$, where $t \in \{0, 1\}$ is realized treatment, and $Y_i(\cdot)$ is a potential outcome function. In principle, conditional variances for untreated potential outcomes could also be estimated in observational data. From these estimates the optimal treatment probabilities (propensity scores) $p(x) \equiv Pr(T_i = 1|X_i = x)$ are computed and used in subsequent experiments. In the end inference is done by pooling the data from all the experiments. The optimization minimizes the asymptotic variance of the average treatment effect. Hahn et al. consider the two-step estimator proposed by Hirano, Imbens, and Ridder (2003) and others

$$\hat{\beta} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\frac{T_i Y_i}{\hat{p}(X_i)} - \frac{(1-T_i) Y_i}{1-\hat{p}(X_i)} \right).$$
(2.9)

This estimator achieves the asymptotic variance bound given by Hahn (1998). In a matched pairs design \hat{p} is set to $\frac{1}{2}$ for all values of X_i . Hahn et al (2011) consider assignment probabilities as a function of each unit's own covariate values, X_i . This rules out a method like stratification where the treatment assignment vector is a function of the joint set of covariates $X = (X_1, ..., X_N)'$. Their method is an extension of the Neyman allocation formula (Neyman, 1934), where variance is now conditioned on covariates as well as treatment status.

One could possibly reconcile the approach with stratification by using estimates of the conditional variance. Using those estimates, one can compute optimal treatment probabilities as a function of the conditional expectation of the outcome. Then one can stratify based on the conditional expectation where the relative number treated within each stratum is set to match the optimal treatment probability for the average covariate value of the stratum.

Kasy (2012) formalizes the most balanced distribution of relevant characteristics across treatment groups and explicitly describes Bayesian and frequentist inference. The most balanced distribution of covariates is unique with probability 1 if the set of covariates includes at least one continuous covariate. Since randomization in general gives weight to assignments that are not the most balanced, efficiency gains can be had by not randomizing. The formal structure is Bayesian and implies an optimal assignment and best linear estimator. Frequentist inference can be conducted treating conditional potential outcomes as random given covariates and treatment. Frequentist inference, however, requires estimating the conditional variance. Kasy suggests first estimating the residuals $\hat{\epsilon}_i = Y_i - \hat{f}_i$, where \hat{f} is a non-parametric Bayes estimator of the conditional expectation of the outcome. Then these residuals can be used to estimate the conditional variance.

Within the stratification literature there are frequent recommendations on which variables to use. But guidance never goes beyond advocating for variables that are strongly related to the outcome. In particular there is an absence of recommendations on how to trade-off the balance between multiple variables that are either continuous or discrete with a large support. Here are some quotes from recommendations in the literature.

- "Statistical efficiency is greatest when the variables chosen are strongly related to the outcome of interest (Imai et al., 2008)."
- "Matching is most effective if the matching variable is highly correlated with the endpoint. In most cases, the closest correlation is likely to be with the baseline value of the same endpoint, and so this is a natural candidate for matching (Moulton and Hayes, 2009)."
- "The strength of the correlation within matched pairs or strata may be increased by matching on more than one variable, each of which is correlated with the endpoint (Moulton and Hayes, 2009)."
- "This paired or blocked design produced a sizeable increase in information in comparison with the completely randomized design by reducing the noise (experimental error) affecting the estimation of the difference in the treatment means (Mendenhall, 1968)."
- "Blocking on variables related to the outcome is of course more effective in increasing statistical efficiency than blocking on irrelevant variables, and so it pays to choose the variables to block carefully (Imai, King and Stuart, 2008)."
- "Matching should lead to greater comparability of the intervention and control groups, and precision and power should be increased to the extent that the matching factors are correlated with the outcome" (Hayes and Bennett, 2009).

This paper goes further than these suggestions by offering an explicit method for the choice of matching variables.

Matched pair randomization has been studied extensively by statisticians. Mosteller (1947) and Mc Nemar (1949) studied inference with matched pairs where the response was binary. Each proposes a χ_1^2 test conditional on the number of pairs whose responses do not match and testing the null that the probability of observing (0,1) and (1,0) is the same based on the normal approximation to the binomial distribution.

Cox (1958) showed that in some cases the McNemar test is uniformly most powerful unbiased. Cox used a logistic model. Chase (1968) compares the efficiency loss from pairing on irrelevant X in models with a binary response.

Bruhn and McKenzie (2009), in simulations, find that pair-wise matching and stratification appear to dominate re-randomization. Re-randomization is the practice of constructing criteria for balance, then randomizing over the set of treatment assignments that meet the criteria. For example, Casey et al (2011) use as their criteria no statistically significant differences between treatment and control groups, in tests with size of five percent, on either of two covariates. Ex-post, Bruhn and McKenzie (2009) show that correct analysis can be done by including the covariates in regression analysis.

McKinlay (1977) lays out several limitations of pair matching; in particular, the loss of sample from discarding control units in observational studies where the number of treatment units is smaller than the number of control units or when matches are hard to find. In our set-up neither of these things are possible because the number of control units is fixed at half the experiment sample and no units are discarded. Discarding units from a simple random sample would change the target parameter away from the ATE.

Shipley, Smith and Dramaix (1989) calculate power in clustered and unclustered matched pair experiments. They focus on the t-test of the n/2 differences and give a formula for the power of a test of size α . If we let d_i be the *i*th within pair difference for i = 1, ..., m where there are *m* total pairs, then $\overline{d} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_i/m$, and the variance of \overline{d} is estimated as $\sum (d_i - \overline{d})^2/m(m-1)$. Power, the probability of rejecting the null when the true effect size is Δ is given by $1 - \beta$ where β comes from

$$c_{\beta} = \frac{|\Delta|m^{1/2}}{\mathrm{SE}(\overline{d})(m+2)^{1/2}} - c_{\alpha/2}$$

where c_x denotes the value cutting off a portion x of the upper tail of the standard normal distribution. They give a similar formula for clustered randomizations where many individuals make up the unit of randomization. Lynn and McCulloch (1992) consider the case where experimenters have conducted a matched pairs randomization but will be ignoring the paired nature of the data in the ex-post analysis. In simulations they find that tests are conservative when ignoring the matching. They also compare matching against ex-post regression to control for the influence of covariates. They set up a linear model but they consider the case where matching was exact for a set of variables. That is where a subset of covariates are identical within pairs.

2.7.1 Extensions to other randomization settings

Use of the prognostic score as a way of aggregating covariate information extends beyond the matchedpair setting. Here I explore two other randomization procedures where the prognostic score is useful and is a better aggregator of information than current standards. First I explore designs for sequential randomization as used in clinical trials and job training program evaluation. Next, I return to nonsequential experiments and discuss re-randomization methods.

Designs for sequential treatment allocation over a span of time, as would occur in clinical trials, have been developed by Efron (1971) and others¹³. Efron (1971) suggests a biased coin design¹⁴. His aim is to balance the size of the treated and control groups within a discrete covariate category¹⁵. As an example consider four age categories. His method tries to balance the number of treated and control subjects in each category. E.g. if there are more 16 to 25 year olds in the treatment group than in the control group and the next patient is 24 then that patient would be given a .6 probability¹⁶ of assignment to the control group and a .4 probability of assignment to the larger treatment group.

Normally, in the biased coin design additional variables require an increase in the number of categories. Using the prognostic score here would be helpful since the number of categories would not increase

¹³White and Freedman (1978), Pocock and Simon (1975), Pocock (1979), Simon (1979), Birkett (1985), Aickin (2001), Atkinson (2002), Scott et al. (2002), McEntegart (2003), and Rosenberger and Sverdlov (2008) are some in a very extensive literature that addresses various issues in sequential trials. In each case the problem is complicated by many covariates.

¹⁴An upwardly biased probability rather than a completely deterministic assignment rule that places the new patient in the smaller control group of 16 to 25 year olds addresses a worry of having the experimenter bias treatment assignment. Efron (1971) notes that "If the experimenter knows for certain that the next assignment will be a treatment, or a control, he may consciously or unconsciously bias the experiment by such decisions as who is or is not a suitable experimental subject, in which category the subject belongs, etc."

¹⁵There are many extensions of this design. The most well known is Wei (1978) which has an adaptive design that increases the bias with the magnitude of the difference is sizes between the treatment and control group.

 $^{^{16}}$ In general this can be any probability greater than 1/2.

with the number of covariates. Following Efron's example with four age categories, the prognostic score could similarly be split into four categories, cutting at the quartiles of its distribution. Additional variables would change the amount of information represented in the prognostic score but not the four quartiles.

A large number of categories in Efron's sequential design motivated the Big Stick approach of Pocock and Simon (1975). They say, the "main difficulty" with methods like Efron' is the rapid increase in strata as the number of covariates increases. Pocock and Simon's method starts with choosing categories for covariates, like Efron (1971). The method then aggregates variation of covariates across treatment arms, and proceeds to aggregate information across covariates. This requires choices of simple aggregation functions at each stage that throw away covariate information. The prognostic score would be helpful here. If a prognostic score were used as the single covariate, then there would be no need to chose a function for "the total amount of imbalance" in treatment numbers across covariates. In short section 3.2 of Pocock and Simon (1975) would not be needed, and, in the case of two treatment arms, the method would reduce to Efron's biased coin design.

Lock and Rubin (2012) suggests re-randomization and randomization inference in non-sequential trials. The method requires the researcher to designate a measure of covariate balance. They consider the Mahalanobis distance as a re-randomization criterion. A randomization is deemed acceptable whenever the Mahalanobis distance between the treatment and control groups falls below a certain threshold. The method in this paper suggests an alternative distance measure that is more directly related to the outcome of the experiment. We suggest using the predicted difference in average outcomes. The intuition for how the predicted outcome and the Lock and Rubin (2012) procedure are complimentary uses the same intuition as before. The predicted outcome function collapses the covariate space into one dimension, so once can use this single covariate in Lock and Rubin. The Mahalanobis distance with a single covariate is exactly the average difference in the covariate.

2.8 Conclusion

This paper discusses how stratification can be done so that the variance of the difference in means is minimized. We show that in a matched pairs setting, the variance of the difference in means is minimized when pairs are chosen according to their predicted outcome. That is the prediction of the outcome as a function of baseline covariates. We show that the optimal predictor is the minimizer of the mean squared error, i.e. the conditional expectation function.

Here we only consider strata that are pairs and where there is exactly one treated unit and one control unit in each pair. The main result is that pairs should be assigned by ranking units according to their predicted outcome. It remains to be seen whether this result holds for larger strata, for situations where there are different numbers of treated and control units, and more than two treatment arms. This method seems fruitful to examine in other settings too. Future research can extend the results here to the more general stratification problem.

Another avenue for further research is to examine alternative optimality criteria. Minimizing the mean squared error of the difference in mean outcomes naturally aligns with forming predictions of the outcome according to the conditional expectation function. Minimizing the mean absolute value of the error might lead to optimal matching based on predictions of the outcome using the conditional median function. Similar optimization problems involving quantiles of the distribution of the difference in means can also be examined. These may lead to a more direct way of increasing power of tests.

The formula derived in Proposition 1 can be used in power calculations; at the point of randomization the experimenter, as we have seen, can estimate the function *r* and $E(\epsilon^2)$. Since baseline variables X_i are also known then one can calculate power treating *r* as known for various stratifications or other experimental designs.

Chapter 3

Course Availability and College Enrollment: Evidence from administrative data and enrollment discontinuities¹

3.1 Introduction

About half of undergraduate education in the United States takes place at two year colleges². These schools have to meet increased demand for courses and for more varied courses under strict fiscal constraints. This paper is one of the first to study the impact of limited course offerings on student

¹Co-authored with Silvia Robles, and Robert Fairlie

²See Boswell (2000) for recent statistics. Bound, Lovenheim, and Turner (2010), Table 1, documents an increase in the proportion of first time students who attend community colleges; from 31% for 1972 high school graduates to 43% for 1988 high school graduates.

outcomes in community colleges³. Recent evidence suggests that two year schools have increasingly moved from vocational education to preparing students for four-year degrees⁴⁵. This new mission involves providing lower division courses in a given major and offering foundational liberal arts courses. There has also been a long term rise in the length of time students spend at two year schools⁶. Two year schools, as their main source of funds comes from states, are particularly affected by budget pressures⁷. The primary impact of funding changes is on the amount of course offerings. Two-year schools are also becoming increasingly popular, further decreasing the per capita supply of courses.

Are these factors causing an increase in the length of time it takes the typical student to complete the first two years of a four year degree or in the chances of completing these goals at all? We will shed light on this question by examining what happens when students at two year schools are denied course admission. We find that, in general, students successfully find substitute courses.

We form estimates of the effect of course offerings by comparing students who were barely admitted onto courses from wait lists to students who were almost admitted. Enrollment queues are processed by having the first entrant in be the first entrant out. The last person enrolled from the wait list is thus governed by the number of individuals that are either enrolled or ahead on the wait list who withdraw from the course. Detailed administrative records from the online enrollment system of a large college allow us to reconstruct wait list queues. We link these records to transcript data on student course schedules and grades, and to enrollment at other institutions using files from the National Student Clearinghouse.

³Thoughout the paper we will use the terms <u>two-year colleges</u>, <u>public two-year colleges</u> and <u>community colleges</u> interchangebly. When referring to private two-year colleges we will note the distinction.

⁴In the college we examine the fraction of first-time non-foreign students entering in the fall term who declared an intent to transfer to a four-year college increased from 46% to 71% from 2003 to 2007. The proportion who declared an intent to obtain either a terminal two year degree (associates or vocational), certificate or license, update job skills, or prepare for a new career fell from 25% in fall 2003 to 11% in fall 2007.

⁵Gill and Leigh (2003) cite two traditional goals for community colleges. One is the "transfer function" and the other and more recent is adult training services. Adult training services include vocational programs but also remedial education. However, for many students remedial education may be the first step in transferring to a four year college.

⁶See, for example, Bound, Lovenheim, and Turner (2010, 2012).

⁷See Boswell (2000).

Many studies (Grubb 1993, Kane and Rouse 1995, Hilmer 2000, Gill and Leigh 2003, Light and Strayer 2004) have followed the pioneering work of Heineman and Sussna (1977) who reported on the returns to a two year degree relative to dropping out of a four year by using data from a large urban centered community college. The main parameter of interest in this work is the labor market return to initially attending a two year college. Most notable is the work of Rouse (1995) which uses distance to closest community college as an instrument for two year college attendance. A key question concerns heterogenous treatment effects. While two year schools might have a positive effect for students who would have otherwise attainted a high school diploma, two year school may also "divert" students who would otherwise enrolled at a four year college. Observational evidence (Hilmer 2000) suggests that this may be a valid concern. Rouse finds that the causal effect of two year college attendance among students who where "diverted" is two-fold: a small negative effect on number of years of schooling, but no effect on the likelihood of completing a four year degree. Another important strand of the literature examines the effects of community college on displaced adult workers (Leigh and Gill 1997, Jacobson, LaLonde, Sullivan 2005). These studies find that the returns for adults are the same as the returns for younger workers.

These studies examine the return to education for a given amount of schooling. This paper in turn examines whether the supply of education (as measured in available courses) is a factor in the amount of time taken to transfer or complete a degree and the probability of transferring or completing a two year degree. Previous studies that have examined this question have done so at an aggregate level by using, for example, variation in the size of the cohort of graduating high school seniors in an area⁸. They find that a secular decrease in college completion is caused by what type of school students attend but it is not caused by the student teacher ratio. The aggregate analysis does not allow deeper examination into other mechanisms but they conjecture that "crowding" i.e. queuing and course enrollment constraints may be an important determinant. We used detailed administrative data to examine the effect of this type of "crowding".

⁸See, for example, Bound & Turner (2006), Card & Lemieux (2001a, 2001b), and Fortin (2006).

3.2 Institutional Background and Data

Tuition at two-year public/non-profit colleges is mostly a public expenditure⁹. Public schools offer lower than market tuition. 57% of tuition is paid for with grants¹⁰. In addition, another twenty-two percent of tuition is paid for using publicly subsidized loans.

Nationally 79% of community college students expect to earn a BA, 46% are enrolled full-time, and 75% work while enrolled¹¹.

Our sample comes from a panel of students who attended De Anza Community College from 2002 to 2007. Regular enrollment at De Anza is 21 thousand full time equivalent students. The number of enrolled students is higher than 21 thousand since many are not enrolled full-time. The college has three hundred full-time and six-hundred part-time unionized faculty. Union rules set a classroom enrollment cap of 40 students, although this rule is sometimes violated. Classrooms are built with this enrollment cap in mind so deviations in enrollment far above 40 are rare. Online classes offered by the school, however, can be on the order of one-hundred students. Full-time tuition, including books and fees, is \$2,075, larger than the corresponding figure reported for the BPS sample of \$1,269¹². The school is also relatively high performing. It is the second best (of 128 community colleges in California) for transfers to four-year schools. The data contains three main parts. The first is a registration file with course grades, dates of attendance and degrees granted by De Anza. The second piece of data is enrollment information from other colleges and universities from the National Student Clearinghouse (NSC). Last is enrollment logs for all terms from 2002 to 2007. DeAnza operates on a quarter system with three regular terms (winter, spring and fall), but like many other two-year

⁹In 1992 tuition accounted for ten percent of student expenditures at community colleges. In 1972 tuition accounted for 18% of student expenditures at community colleges. Author's calculations from Bound, Lowenheim, and Turner (2012) Table 3 panel F.

¹⁰Based on Table 2 page 156 of Deming, Goldin and Katz (2012). Calculated from reported <u>net tuition minus grants</u> and <u>tuition</u>.

¹¹As reported in Deming, Goldin and Katz (2012) Table 1. Based on summary statistics from the Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study for 2003-2004 first-time beginning postsecondary students.

¹²Deming, Goldin, Katz (2012) Table 2 page 156.

schools it also offers courses during a summer term. The enrollment logs contain a record of each registration attempt during a term's registration period. This for example would be a period during the summer for enrollment in Fall courses. An enrollment attempt is identified by student id, time (with precision to the second), a particular section for a course, and an outcome. Outcomes can take on one of four values: enrollment into the section, placement into a wait list for that section, withdraw from the section, or no change.

3.2.1 Course Enrollment

The online enrollment process we will examine takes place before the term begins and classes start. It is governed by an automated system. Students are given one of eight enrollment priority designations. Based of these designations they are given a date upon which they are granted access to the registration system. A student searches for a desired section (e.g. MWF 9-10AM) of a desired course (e.g. Econ-001 "Principles of Macroeconomics") and is told what instructor is teaching the particular section, where it meets, and how many seats are available. If there are no seats available then the student is told how many students are on the wait list and how many spots are available on the wait list. Wait lists are only allowed to reach 15 students per section. Students are taken from the wait list as currently enrolled students drop the section. When a spot is freed the first wait-listed student is given 48 hours to enroll, if the student does not enroll, then the next student on the wait list is given permission to enroll. After enrolling students have two weeks to pay tuition for the section, if they do not pay within two weeks they are dropped from the section. We limit our analysis to enrollment before the term starts. After the term starts instructors have discretion with respect to who is granted enrollment in a section. This is usually based on wait list position leading up to the start of the term conditional on section attendance, however this process is opaque and data is of much lower quality.

3.2.2 Instrument Construction

In our first set of estimates we will use a regression discontinuity design based on a student's position on course wait lists. Here we will describe how we construct the running variable. It is important to note that the method we use accounts for the fact that a substantial number of students exit the wait list before the completion of the registration period. Attrition of this kind would otherwise result in selection at the threshold; those students who <u>barely</u> made it into the class were all students who did not drop themselves from the wait list, but among students who <u>almost</u> made it into the class are students that exited the wait list before the start of the term or before the last admission into the class.

We define RV_i , distance to the threshold for student *i*, as the number of additional students ahead of the student *i* who would have needed to drop the class section in order for student *i* to have successfully enrolled in the class section had student *i* stayed on the wait list throughout the course of the preregistration period. Let us take a look at a class section and describe the construction of this measure for three students. See Table 3.1. We can think of the distance to the threshold as a hypothetical "last wait list number".

Suppose we are interested in student number 38 and that Table 3.1 gives us the final set of events before the start of the term. In the previous period we can assume that 30 initial students, numbered 1 to 30, enrolled in this class without incident. Student 38 placed herself on the wait-list at 12:42PM on August 1st. At that time there were 35 students enrolled in the class and an additional 2 students on the wait list. We thus assign student 38 an initial wait list number of 3. This means that at least three people, of the 37 ahead of her (either enrolled in the class or on the wait list with an earlier entry time), must drop the class before she can successfully enroll. We further see that three students ahead of student 38 did in fact drop the class before the start of the semester. Thus student 38 is assigned a final wait list number of zero.

Take on the other hand student 39. Student 39 is assigned an initial wait list number of 4. Since three students ahead of student 39 dropped the class, student 39 is assigned a final wait list number of 1.

student id	action	date/time
:	:	
31	enroll	5:01:01 Aug 1, 2004
32	enroll	6:11:21 Aug 1, 2004
33	enroll	7:21:41 Aug 1, 2004
34	enroll	8:31:51 Aug 1, 2004
35	enroll	8:41:11 Aug 1, 2004
36	waitlist	8:51:31 Aug 1, 2004
37	waitlist	9:02:02 Aug 1, 2004
38	waitlist	11:22:12 Aug 1, 2004
39	waitlist	12:42:52 Aug 1, 2004
40	waitlist	13:32:22 Aug 1, 2004
41	waitlist	14:52:12 Aug 1, 2004
23	drop	11:32:43 Aug 14, 2004
36	enroll	11:45:32 Aug 14, 2004
13	drop	2:42:21 Aug 16, 2004
37	enroll	9:50:12 Aug 16, 2004
7	drop	5:45:33 Aug 20, 2004
38	enroll	2:01:37 Aug 21, 2004
39	drop	1:15:50 Aug 24, 2004

 Table 3.1: Hypothetical Enrollment Log

Had student 39 stayed on the wait list she still would need one additional person to drop the class in order to successfully enroll.

Likewise, student number 40 is also assigned a final wait list number of 1. Student 40 had an initial wait list number of 5, and 4 people ahead of her dropped the class before the start of the semester. Thus at the start of the semester student 40 still needed one more person to drop before she could successfully enroll.

Table 3.2 presents demographic information on race by national origin. Column one gives the number of observations of U.S. citizens broken down by race. Column two gives the percentage of each race group among Americans. The racial composition of the group has fewer African-American and Hispanic students than samples of two-year college students from IPEDS and BPS. In the De Anza sample 3.87% of American students report being African-American, while 10.9% of students in IPEDS and 14% of students in the BPS 2004-2009 samples are African-American. Relative to these samples American students at De Anza are slightly less Hispanic. Hispanics make up 13.38% of U.S. students at De Anza while they comprise 15.7% and 15.9% of the IPEDS and BPS samples respectively. Asian Americans make up a plurality (42%) of U.S. students and a majority (65%) of international students at De Anza. Whites make up a quarter of American students and 13% of international students.

	U.S.		International	
	Count	Count Freq.		Freq.
White	10,604	25.11	1,334	13.94
African-American	1,636	3.87	353	3.69
Hispanic	5,652	13.38	892	9.32
Asian	18,066	42.77	6,244	65.27
Native Am., Pac. Is., Other	1,226	2.9	185	1.93
Unknown	5,051	11.96	559	5.84
Total (n=51,802)	42,235	100	9,567	100

Table 3.2: Summary Statistics: Race

Given the substantial differences in racial composition it is worthwhile to compare other summary statistics against the IPEDS and BPS samples. Table 3.3 presents further summary statistics for the De

Anza sample. All three samples are 55% female. The De Anza sample has a higher mean age than the BPS sample, 25.97 compared to 24.4. A smaller fraction of students at De Anza have financial aid; 18%, relative to 74.9% reported having applied for aid in the BPS sample. Comparing educational goals, 33% of students in our sample declared an intent of transferring to a four-year instituiton while 79.9% of community college students in the BPS say they expect to earn a BA.

	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Previous Enrollments	12.45	11.65	0	86
Cum. Course Hours	15.12	31.35	0	337
First Term	0.51	0.50	0	1
Financial Aid	0.18	0.39	0	1
Female	0.55	0.50	0	1
Age	25.97	8.53	18	50
Declared Certificate	0.03	0.18	0	1
Declared Transfer	0.33	0.47	0	1

Table 3.3: Summary Statistics: Demographics

3.3 Identification and Reduced-Form Evidence

In this section we start by laying out the assumptions in our regression discontinuity analysis, motivate an instrumental variables model, and describe the local average treatment effect that is identified by our instrument. Next, we show that we have a strong first stage in our two stage least squares analysis. We proceed by conducting validity checks to ensure that there are no a priori discontinuities in baseline variables other than section enrollment, and that there is no sorting across wait list position a la McCrary (2008). Last we present reduce form evidence for our main results.

3.3.1 Identification

Consider a student who has placed herself on a section wait list. Let rv be her wait list number. Let Y(1) be an educational outcome for her if she is admitted into the section, and let Y(0) be the corresponding educational outcome for her if she is not admitted into the section. Denote the mean outcome for students with wait list number rv had they all been admitted into their wait listed section as E(Y(1)|RV = rv), similarly denote the mean outcome for students with wait-list number rv had they not been admitted into their wait-listed section as E(Y(1)|RV = rv). Conditional on having wait list number rv the effect of being admitted into the wait-listed section on the educational outcome is E(Y(1) - Y(0)|RV = rv). Our identification strategy will allow us to measure the average effect for students on the cusp of being admitted from the wait-list, for whom RV = 0. Denote this local average treatment effect, LATE,

$$LATE \equiv E(Y(1) - Y(0)|RV = 0).$$
(3.1)

We measure this effect by estimating the four following quantities:

$$\lim_{rv \uparrow 0} E(X|RV = rv), \quad \lim_{rv \downarrow 0} E(X|RV = rv)$$
(3.2)

$$\lim_{rv\uparrow 0} E(Y|RV = rv), \quad \lim_{rv\downarrow 0} E(Y|RV = rv), \tag{3.3}$$

where *X* is an observed indicator for whether the student successfully enrolled in the wait-listed section and *Y* is the observed educational outcome. By definition $Y = Y(1) \iff X = 1$ so by conditional expectation we can write E(Y|RV = rv) =

$$E(Y(1)|RV = rv)P(X = 1|RV = rv) + E(Y(0)|RV = rv)P(X = 0|RV = rv).$$
 (3.4)

Two necessary conditions are that there is a discontinuous jump in the likelihood of enrollment at the threshold, i.e. $\lim_{rv\uparrow 0} E(X|RV = rv) \neq \lim_{rv\downarrow 0} E(X|RV = rv)$. and that the functions E(Y(j)|RV) are continuous at RV = 0 for j = 1, 0.

Define $p_{\uparrow}^{j} \equiv \lim_{RV\uparrow 0} P(X = j|RV)$ and $p_{\downarrow}^{j} \equiv \lim_{RV\downarrow 0} P(X = j|RV)$ for j = 1, 0. E(Y(j)|RV) continuous at RV = 0 implies $\lim_{RV\uparrow 0} E(Y(j)|RV) = \lim_{RV\downarrow 0} E(Y(j)|RV) = E(Y(j)|RV = 0)$ for j = 1, 0.

$$\therefore \lim_{RV\uparrow 0} \{ E(Y(j)|RV)P(X=j|RV) \} = E(Y(j)|RV=0)p_{\uparrow}^{j}$$

and

$$\lim_{RV\downarrow 0} \{ E(Y(j)|RV)P(X=j|RV) \} = E(Y(j)|RV=0)p_{\downarrow}^{j}$$

for j = 1, 0.

Now consider $\lim_{RV\uparrow 0} E(Y|RV) - \lim_{RV\downarrow 0} E(Y|RV)$

$$= E(Y(1)|RV = 0)p_{\uparrow}^{1} + E(Y(0)|RV = 0)p_{\uparrow}^{0} - E(Y(1)|RV = 0)p_{\downarrow}^{1} - E(Y(0)|RV = 0)p_{\downarrow}^{0}$$
$$= E(Y(1) - Y(0)|RV = 0) * [p_{\uparrow}^{1} - p_{\downarrow}^{1}]$$
$$= LATE * [p_{\uparrow}^{1} - p_{\downarrow}^{1}]$$

In our regression discontinuity design we estimate the following system,

$$E(Y|RV,Z) = \pi_0^1 + \pi_1^1 Z + g^1(RV)$$
$$E(X|RV,Z) = \pi_0^2 + \pi_1^2 Z + g^2(RV)$$

where

$$\pi_1^1 = LATE * [p_\uparrow^1 - p_\downarrow^1]$$

and

$$\pi_1^2 = p_\uparrow^1 - p_\downarrow^1$$

We estimate the following instrumental variables model

$$E(Y|X, Z, W) = X\beta + W'\delta.$$
(3.5)

$$E(X|Z,W) = Z\pi_{12} + W\pi_{22}.$$
(3.6)

Here Z is an indicator for RV < 1, W contains continuous functions of the running variable and demographic variables that are correlated with our set of outcomes, X is an indicator for whether the student successfully enrolled in the wait-listed section, and Y is an outcome variable. The local average treatment effect if denoted β . The <u>exclusion restriction</u> is that conditional on W and X the best predictor of Y does not include Z.

What is the treatment and what is the local average treatment effect?

The treatment that we measure using the wait list discontinuity is the effect of admitting one additional student into a section <u>holding availability in all other sections fixed</u>. In an ideal experiment that estimates this same parameter only the supply one one section would be reduced. The response to a treatment where a large fraction of sections are eliminated may be very different if reductions in other courses and sections raises the expected costs substitution. A policy change that reduced overall course offerings would decrease the chances of students enrolling in their most preferred sections as well as the changes of enrolling in their second and third choices. The effects on student outcomes of such a change are likely to be substantially different than the effects measured in this paper. In the natural experiment that is the focus of this paper only the chances of enrollment in one section is affected.

The local effect that we measure is for individuals who have placed themselves on the course wait-list who are on the margin of being admitted into the section during the pre-registration period. It is important to note that these students have placed themselves on wait lists where there is a substantial chance of not being admitted into the section. In the next section we will see that around the threshold the chances of not enrolling in the section are between ten and twenty percent. There may a substantial portion of students who choose not to take this chance and who therefore do not place themselves on a wait list. The effect of not enrolling in a section for these more averse students may be substantially different than the effect that we measure in the population of student that place themselves on wait lists.

3.3.2 First Stage

Enrollment into a section is not completely determined by whether or not a student was allowed to enroll from the wait list. Therefore our estimation will be based on a fuzzy RD design. Making the wait list cut-off produces a discontinuity in the probability of enrollment into the wait listed section but it does not completely determine enrollment. Figure 3.1 shows a 13.4% increase in enrollment associated with crossing the threshold from the right. Students on the right side of the red vertical line in this figure remained on the wait list at the start of the term. The running variable tells us how other students were ahead of them on the wait list ahead at the start of the term. Nonetheless, students that remained on the wait list have a greater than 50% chance of enrolling in their desired section. This can happen from enrolling in the section after the start of the term. On the left side of the figure we see that a small fraction of students that were admitted into the section did not enroll, or enrolled and later dropped the class.



Figure 3.1: First Stage: Mean Enrollment in Wait-listed Section as a Function of Relative Wait List Position

Table 3.4 presents OLS regressions of the first stage equation. Each column presents results from a local linear regression with a square kernel. The size of the bandwidth differs across the columns. The first column uses a bandwidth of 20 on either side of the cut-off, the second column uses a bandwidth of ten, and the third column uses a bandwidth of five. The coefficient on the instrument gives the increase in probability of enrollment associated with crossing the threshold. We see that even with the smallest bandwidth the coefficient remains at about ten percentage points.

	(1)	(2)	(3)
	Enrollment	Enrollment	Enrollment
Ζ	0.118***	0.108***	0.101***
	(0.00714)	(0.00810)	(0.0112)
RV	-0.0113***	-0.0138***	-0.0129***
	(0.000521)	(0.00113)	(0.00343)
RVZ	0.00722***	0.00965***	0.00285
	(0.00194)	(0.00220)	(0.00509)
Constant	0.457***	0.467***	0.466***
	(0.00417)	(0.00558)	(0.00892)
Observations	51,802	41,940	27,365
R-squared	0.038	0.028	0.020
F	272.1	176.7	80.70

Table 3.4: First Stage OLS Regressions

3.3.3 Validity Checks

We conduct two validity checks. First we check for discontinuities in baseline covariates at the threshold, next we check whether there is bunching of the running variable at the threshold. Figures 3.2 and 3.3 plot of the average values of eight covariates conditional on wait list position. Figure 3.2 plots the fraction of each race and the fraction international students along the running variable. The fraction white varies between 19 and 21.5%. The fraction Asian varies between 50 and 58%. While this fraction is decreasing as a function of the running variable it does not change discontinuously at the threshold. The fraction Hispanic varies between 8 and 12% and is steady around 11% as it crosses the threshold. The fraction of international students stays between five and nine percent and while there tends to be a higher fraction of international students on the left of the threshold this change is continuous, Figure 3.3 examines mean age, fraction female, fraction of students with a high school degree or less and the average number of credits earned in the sample. While the conditional mean age varies smoothly with a general trend upward from 24 to 24.6 as the running variables goes from -5 to 5, the fraction female varies downward from around .58 to .54 as the running variable goes from -5 to 5. Previous educational attainment as measured by the fraction of students with a high school education or less remains steady at around 70%. Cumulative course credits trend downward from an average



Figure 3.2: Smoothness on Covariates: Race and Citizenship Indicators

of 37 to an average of 30 at the threshold and further right. One should note that the discontinuity in enrollment happens between 0 and 1 whereas the jump seem in panel d of Figure 3.3 occurs between -1 and 0.

3.3.4 No Sorting Across Wait List Position

Whereas differences in observable characteristics between individuals on either side of the threshold can be observed by examining the conditional distribution of each observable as it crosses the threshold, a similar examination of unobservable characteristics cannot be done. However, we can examine selection on unobservables due to sorting across the threshold (McCrary, 2008). Figure 3.4 is presented to examine differences in density across the threshold. Differences in density can arise from manipulation of the running variable. It is rarely the case that individuals are indifferent between



Figure 3.3: Smoothness on Covariates: Age, Gender, a priori Education

receiving treatment or not. In our case students would generally prefer to be enrolled in a selected section rather not. If it were possible to manipulate the value of the running variable then there would be incentives to move to lower wait list values. Movement of this type would have higher payoff the closer a student is to crossing the threshold. We would then expect more of this movement to happen for students with positive but small values of the running variable. Movements of this type move mass from the positive side of the threshold to the negative side in the distribution of the running variable. Figure 3.4 shows no evidence of this being the case.



Figure 3.4: No Sorting Across Wait-list position

3.3.5 Reduced Form Evidence

Before estimating our model more formally it will be helpful to examine the direct relationship between relative wait list position and important outcomes. Figure 3.5 plots the mean number of courses in which students successfully enrolled during the concurrent term, excluding the section that produced

the wait list position. The figure shows that moving a student below the threshold is associated with a .126 increase in the number of other courses in which the student enrolled the concurrent term. Taken together with a first stage estimate of between .10 and .12 this implies that successfully enrolling in an additional course is associated with taking one fewer of the other courses available. Figure 3.6 shows that a similar sized jump is present when moving over the threshold for the average number of other sections in the same subject. By additivity this implies that the effect of enrolling in fewer classes due to successfully enrolling in another is driven by substitution within classes in the same subject.



Figure 3.5: Enrollment in Other Sections, all subjects, concurrent term

Enrolling in an undesirable section may have implications beyond a change in the number of courses taken. Students may perform better when enrolled in a more desired class or when enrolled in the same class at a more desired time. Figure 3.7 plots the fraction of students who enrolled in school the next term. This figure shows very little in the way of a jump at the point of discontinuity. This leads us to conclude that enrollment in a more desired class does not effect enrollment in school the subsequent term.



Figure 3.6: Enrollment in Other Sections in the same subject, concurrent term

3.4 IV Results

Now we turn to estimation of the effects of enrollment on various outcomes. First we examine the effects on course enrollment within De Anza College. We will look at the number of enrolled courses the concurrent quarter and the number of enrolled courses the next quarter. Next we turn to the effects of enrollment on GPA and persistence. We will look at grade points averaged over all courses taken the concurrent semester and the average grade point focusing on courses in the same subject. One might think that enrolling in a more desirable section can lead to better preparation, more consistent attendance, or other factors that would influence academic performance. Last we turn to enrollment and attendance at other colleges. This analysis takes advantage of a match between our registration files from De Anza College and data from the National Student Clearinghouse. Here we test whether enrolling in a more desired course is associated with a higher probability of transferring to a four year college. Alternatively we also test the hypothesis that failing to enroll in a desired course increases the likelihood of seeking resources at another two-year college.



Figure 3.7: Stayed in School, 1 year

3.4.1 Course Enrollment

Tables 3.5 and 3.6 present our results for the effect on course enrollment within the same college. Table 3.5 presents local linear two stage least square results using three alternative bandwidth choices. Table 3.6 presents the same set of specifications using the optimal bandwidth selection and robust standard estimation procedure of Cattaneo, Calonico, and Titiunik (2014) (CCT from here on). Our main finding is that there is a robust and significant effect of successful enrollment on substitution away from other courses in the same subject during the concurrent term. Panel A, columns one, two, and three present TSLS estimates of this effect. From column one to column three we vary the bandwidth of our local linear estimator from 20, to 10, to 5. We see that our measured coefficient on enrollment increases as we narrow the bandwidth used for estimation. Panel A, column one of Table 3.6 uses the CCT procedure to select optimal bandwidth for the regression. The point estimate given by the procedure is squarely in the middle of the three corresponding estimates presented in Table 3.5. All four estimates are lower than -1. In one case, column 3 panel A of Table 3.5 the estimate is significantly

	Other C	Other Courses in Same Subject		Total Courses in All Subjects		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Panel A:	Concurrent Term					
Enrolled	-1.022***	-1.582***	-2.023***	0.294*	-0.00513	-0.391
	(0.210)	(0.237)	(0.311)	(0.179)	(0.218)	(0.329)
RV	-0.00479*	-0.0214***	-0.0416***	-0.0215***	-0.0344***	-0.0546***
	(0.00287)	(0.00420)	(0.00898)	(0.00305)	(0.00553)	(0.0133)
RVZ	0.0296***	0.0448***	0.0695***	0.0347***	0.0463***	0.0582***
	(0.00373)	(0.00486)	(0.0118)	(0.00526)	(0.00644)	(0.0150)
Constant	1.467***	1.862***	2.178***	2.595***	2.766***	2.981***
	(0.139)	(0.159)	(0.211)	(0.0897)	(0.114)	(0.175)
R-squared	0.293	0.226	0.065	0.000	0.004	
Reduced Form p-val	0	0	0	0.0990	0.981	0.230
Panel B:			Subsequ	ent Term		
Enrolled	-0.0149	-0.325	-0.230	0.129	0.240	0.560
	(0.277)	(0.374)	(0.499)	(0.297)	(0.367)	(0.538)
RV	0.00113	-0.0117	-0.00161	-0.0125**	-0.00945	0.00694
	(0.00523)	(0.0103)	(0.0200)	(0.00565)	(0.00942)	(0.0202)
RVZ	0.0150*	0.0269**	0.0103	0.0158**	0.0130	0.00662
	(0.00843)	(0.0110)	(0.0218)	(0.00736)	(0.00984)	(0.0215)
Constant	1.519***	1.702***	1.636***	2.926***	2.863***	2.691***
	(0.145)	(0.204)	(0.276)	(0.150)	(0.191)	(0.284)
R-squared	0.000					
Reduced Form p-val	0.957	0.374	0.640	0.664	0.510	0.285
Observations	51,429	41,631	27,193	51,429	41,631	27,193
Bandwidth(spots)	20	10	5	20	10	5
	*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1					

 Table 3.5: TSLS Estimates of Effects on Course Enrollment

	Other Courses, Same Subject	Total Courses, All Subjects	
	(1)	(2)	
Panel A:	Concurrent Term		
RD_Estimate	-1.545***	0.123	
	(0.334)	(0.421)	
Observations	15,156	21,688	
Panel B:	Subsequent Term		
RD_Estimate	-0.270	1.113	
	(1.069)	(0.840)	
Observations	4,462	12,108	
	Standard errors in paren	theses	
	*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, *	* p<0.1	
RD_Estimate Observations	-0.270 (1.069) 4,462 Standard errors in paren *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, *	1.113 (0.840) 12,108 theses * p<0.1	

 Table 3.6: TSLS Estimates of Effects on Course Enrollment (CCT)

lower than -1. This might signal a quality/quantity trade-off in courses where students that fail to enroll in a highly desired course substitute with more than one less desired course. Columns four, five and six of panel A in Table 3.5 and column 2 of panel A of Table 3.6 present estimates of the effect of successful enrollment on enrollment in all subjects the concurrent term. Here even though the point estimates for one specification are significant at the 0.10 confidence level we do not see a consistent significant effect on total enrollment.

Panel B of Table 3.5 and panel B of table 3.6 examine the effects of enrollment on course selection the subsequent term. Columns one, two and three of panel B of table 3.5 and column 1 panel B of Table 3.6 examine the effect on taking courses in the same subject the next term. The point estimates in these regressions are each negative but none can rule out a coefficient of zero. Columns four, five and six of panel B of Table 3.5 and column two of panel B of Table 3.6 measure the effect on the total number of courses taken the subsequent school term. These regressions similarly show that there is little indication of inter temporal substitution of courses across school terms.

	(1)	(2)	(3)		
	GPA	GPA	Enrolled		
	overall	in subj.	1 yr later		
	cur. term	cur. term			
RD_Estimate	0.150	0.0696	-0.174		
	(0.366)	(0.558)	(0.199)		
Observations	18,317	10,993	16,049		
Standard errors in parentheses					
*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1					

Table 3.7: TSLS Estimates of Effects on GPA and Persistence (CCT)

3.4.2 GPA and Persistence

Next we turn to estimates of the effect of enrollment on GPA and persistence. Table 3.7 presents results for three outcome measures. Column one examines the effect of successful enrollment on GPA for the current term¹³. We see a positive but statistically insignificant coefficient. Column two turns to an estimate of the effect on GPA for classes within the same subject. Again we see a slightly positive but more noisy coefficient estimate. Column three of Table 3.7 presents our estimate of the effect of course enrollment on an indicator for whether the student in seen in the same college one year later. This regression measures a negative but insignificant effect of later school enrollment.

3.4.3 Enrollment at 4-year and other 2-year colleges

Last we examine enrollment and attendance at other institutions. We first examine short term outcomes, where we look at where students are one year after the current term, then we look at longer term outcomes where we examine whether we see students at another institution within three years. Column one of Table 3.8 looks at the effect of enrolling in a college the next school term. Our estimate is that an additional successful enrollment into a desired course is associated with a six percentage point

¹³For simplicity from here on in this section we only present results for the CCT estimation procedure, results using alternative bandwidths are similar.

	Enrollment at other Colleges					
	(1) (2) (3) (4)					
	4 yr	other 2 yr	4 yr	other 2 yr		
	nxt term	nxt term	nxt 3 yrs	nxt 3 yrs		
RD_Estimate	0.0612	0.112	0.150	-0.000126		
	(0.0852)	(0.0795)	(0.156)	(0.139)		
Observations	16,049	16,049	16,049	16,049		
Standard errors in parentheses						
*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1						

Table 3.8: TSLS Estimates of Effects on Four-Year College and Two-Year College Enrollment (CCT)

increase in the probability of attending a four year college the next term. However column two shows that successful enrollment is a desired course is associated with an eleven percentage point increase in the probability of attending a different two-year college. Neither of these estimate rule out no effect at all of successful enrollment into a desired course. Columns three and four of Table 3.8 examine longer term measures of these two outcome variables. Column three estimates that successfully enrolling in a course is associated with a fifteen percentage point increase in the probability of attending a four year school within three years. Column four gives a coefficient that indicates a negative effect of enrolling in a different two year school that is one one hundredth of a percentage point. Neither estimates are significantly different from zero. They are suggestive that the long term effect on four year college enrollment may be positive.

3.5 Subgroup Analysis and Robustness Checks

This section examines the robustness of our findings and whether there are differential effects by subgroup. The analysis looks at seven variables relating to course loads, gap, persistence and enrollment at other colleges. We make measurements for eleven subgroups based on gender, race, age, citizenship, and whether it is the student?s first term in college. We check the robustness of findings by varying the number of control variables in the locally weighted regressions and by adding richer control variables. Table C.1 presents our benchmark subgroup analysis. The regressions in this table estimate the following model

$$E(Y|RV,W) = \alpha + \delta'W + Z \cdot \beta + \sum_{j=1}^{3} \{\gamma_j^0 RV^j + \gamma_j^1 Z \cdot RV^j\}.$$

Table C.1 presents estimates of the regression discontinuity estimates using two stage least squares and the method of bandwidth selection developed by CCT(2013a 2013b). The estimates use a third order polynomial to approximate the underlying regression function, the expected outcome conditional on the running variable as a function of the running variable. In the CCT algorithm that selects bandwidth a fourth order polynomial is used to estimate bias due to functional form misspecification. The bandwidth selected using this method is usually between two and three.

Here we look at eleven outcome variables for the overall population and for eleven subgroups. Each entry in the table represents one estimate of the treatment effect for a separate two stage least squares local regression.

It looks like there may be an effect on GPA for males, and an effect on GPA for non-first-time students. There may be effect on whether you stayed in school 1yr for "young" students. There may be an effect on whether you enrolled in a four year college on first time students and on non-foreign students. There also seems to be an effect on whether you enrolled in another 2 year college on foreign students. There may be an effect on whether first-time students enrolled in a four year college the next major academic term. There may be an effect on whether foreign students enrolled in a two year college next term.

$$E(Y|RV,W) = \alpha + \delta'W + Z \cdot \beta + \sum_{j=1}^{3} \{\gamma_j^0 RV^j + \gamma_j^1 Z \cdot RV^j\}$$

The regressions in Table C.2 allow for linear functions of the running variable with different slopes on either side of the threshold. They also control for cumulative course credits earned, cumulative number of courses taken, whether the semester is the student's first, whether the student received financial aid,

gender, and whether the student declared an intention to obtain a vocational certificate or transfer to a four year college. Here we use a rectangular kernel with a bandwidth of five on either side of the threshold.

$$E(Y|RV, W) = \alpha + \delta'W + Z \cdot \beta + \gamma^0 RV + \gamma^1 Z \cdot RV$$

The regressions in Table C.3 allow for linear functions of the running variable with different slopes on either side of the threshold. As before they control for cumulative course credits earned, cumulative number of courses taken, whether the semester is the student's first, whether the student received financial aid, gender, and whether the student declared an intention to obtain a vocational certificate or transfer to a four year college. They also control for race fixed effects, registration priority group fixed effects, term fixed effects and subject fixed effects. Here we use a rectangular kernel with a bandwidth of five on either side of the threshold.

There is a positive effect of taking classes on enrollment in a 4 yr college, the effect exists even with the addition of more extensive controls. It seems that it is driven by females and it is more pronounced for non-foreign students and older students.

The coefficient in the first row in the column titled "enrolled in 4 yr college" is the two stage least squares estimate of the effect of successfully enrolling in a wait listed section on whether the student ever enrolls in a four year college. The estimated effect of 0.203 implies that missing a section is causality associated with a 20 percentage point drop in the likelihood of attending a four year college.

The first column has a coefficient of -1.34. This means that successfully enrolling in a desired section is associated with taking 1.3 fewer courses in the same subject. Perfect substitution would a coefficient of one and this estimate is not statistically significantly different than one. An estimate smaller than -1 would mean that each section not taken is replaced with more than one other course. This implies a marginal rate of substitution greater than one and implies that wait listed courses are more useful than the courses that replace them.

The regressions in C.4 allow for linear functions of the running variable with different slopes on either side of the threshold. They also control for cumulative course credits earned, cumulative number of courses taken, whether the semester is the student's first, whether the student received financial aid, gender, and whether the student declared an intention to obtain a vocational certificate or transfer to a four year college. Here we use a rectangular kernel with a bandwidth of three on either side of the threshold.

3.6 Conclusions

Course availability at two year colleges is a potentially important factor in the acquisition of human capital. We examined the effect of course availability on later educational outcomes using a novel administrative data set and a regression discontinuity design based on oversubscription to college courses. We find a robust and substantial substitution effect. Specifically we find that successful enrollment into a desired course section is causes students to take fewer courses in that subject the concurrent term. We find some, but limited, evidence that students trade off quality for quantity when they successfully enroll in desired courses. That is, successfully enrolling in a desired course causes students to decrease the number of other courses in the same subject taken concurrently by more than one. Future work may seek to explore these outcomes in other settings or with larger samples. Of particular interest are the labor market outcomes of students who face course scarcity.

References

- ABADIE, A., DIAMOND, A. and HAINMUELLER, J. (2010). Synthetic control methods for comparative case studies: Estimating the effect of california?s tobacco control program. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, **105** (490).
- AICKIN, M. (2001). Randomization, balance, and the validity and efficiency of design-adaptive allocation methods. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, **94** (1), 97–119.
- AKAIKE, H. (1974). A new look at the statistical model identification. *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, **19** (6), 716–723.
- ALTHAM, P. M. (1971). The analysis of matched proportions. Biometrika, 58 (3), 561-576.
- ALTMAN, D. G. (1985). Comparability of randomised groups. The Statistician, pp. 125–136.
- ANDERSON, T. W. and RUBIN, H. (1949). Estimation of the parameters of a single equation in a complete system of stochastic equations. *The Annals of Mathematical Statistics*, **20** (1), 46–63.
- ANDRABI, T., DAS, J., KHWAJA, A. I. and ZAJONC, T. (2011). Do value-added estimates add value? accounting for learning dynamics. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, **3** (3), 29–54.
- ANGRIST, J. and PISCHKE, J.-S. (2010). *The credibility revolution in empirical economics: How better research design is taking the con out of econometrics*. Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research.
- ANGRIST, J. D., COHODES, S. R., DYNARSKI, S. M., PATHAK, P. A. and WALTERS, C. R. (2013). *Stand and Deliver: Effects of Boston's Charter High Schools on College Preparation, Entry, and Choice*. Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research.
- —, IMBENS, G. W. and RUBIN, D. B. (1996). Identification of causal effects using instrumental variables. *Journal of the American statistical Association*, **91** (434), 444–455.
- and PISCHKE, J.-S. (2008). Mostly harmless econometrics: An empiricist's companion. Princeton university press.
- Arbia, G. (2006). Spatial econometrics: statistical foundations and applications to regional convergence. Springer.

- ATKINSON, A. C. (2002). The comparison of designs for sequential clinical trials with covariate information. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society)*, **165** (2), 349–373.
- BARRIOS, T., DIAMOND, R., IMBENS, G. W. and KOLESAR, M. (2012). Clustering, spatial correlations, and randomization inference. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, **107** (498), 578–591.
- BERTRAND, M., DUFLO, E. and MULLAINATHAN, S. (2004). How much should we trust differences-indifferences estimates? *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **119** (1), 249–275.
- BESHEARS, J., CHOI, J. J., LAIBSON, D., MADRIAN, B. C. and MILKMAN, K. L. (2011). *The effect of providing peer information on retirement savings decisions*. Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research.
- BESTER, C. A., CONLEY, T. G. and HANSEN, C. B. (2011). Inference with dependent data using cluster covariance estimators. *Journal of Econometrics*, **165** (2), 137–151.
- BIRKETT, N. J. (1985). Adaptive allocation in randomized controlled trials. *Controlled clinical trials*, **6** (2), 146–155.
- BLOOM, N., LIANG, J., ROBERTS, J. and YING, Z. J. (2013). *Does working from home work? Evidence from a Chinese experiment*. Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Boswell, K. (2000). State funding for community colleges: A 50- state survey.
- BOUND, J., LOVENHEIM, M. F. and TURNER, S. (2010). Why have college completion rates declined? an analysis of changing student preparation and collegiate resources. *American economic journal*. *Applied economics*, **2** (3), 129.
- —, and (2012). Increasing time to baccalaureate degree in the united states. *Education*, **7** (4), 375–424.
- and TURNER, S. (2007). Cohort crowding: How resources affect collegiate attainment. *Journal of Public Economics*, **91** (5), 877–899.
- Box, G. E., HUNTER, J. S. and HUNTER, W. G. (2005). *Statistics for experimenters: design, innovation, and discovery, Hoboken*. NJ: Wiley-Interscience.
- BROCKWELL, P. J. and DAVIS, R. A. (2002). *Introduction to time series and forecasting*, vol. 1. Taylor & Francis.
- BRUHN, M. and McKENZIE, D. (2009). In pursuit of balance: Randomization in practice in development field experiments. *American economic journal: applied economics*, pp. 200–232.
- CALONICO, S., CATTANEO, M. D. and TITIUNIK, R. (2013). Robust nonparametric confidence intervals for regression-discontinuity designs. *Revision requested by Econometrica*.
- CARD, D. and LEMIEUX, T. (2001). Can falling supply explain the rising return to college for younger men? a cohort-based analysis. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **116** (2), 705–746.
- CASEY, K., GLENNERSTER, R. and MIGUEL, E. (2012). Reshaping institutions: Evidence on aid impacts using a preanalysis plan*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **127** (4), 1755–1812.
- CHALONER, K., VERDINELLI, I. *et al.* (1995). Bayesian experimental design: A review. *Statistical Science*, **10** (3), 273–304.
- CHASE, G. (1968). On the efficiency of matched pairs in bernoulli trials. *Biometrika*, 55 (2), 365–369.
- COCHRAN, W. G. (1950). The comparison of percentages in matched samples. *Biometrika*.
- Conley, T. G. (1999). Gmm estimation with cross sectional dependence. *Journal of econometrics*, **92** (1), 1–45.
- Cox, D. R. (1958). Two further applications of a model for binary regression. *Biometrika*, pp. 562–565.
- and REID, N. (2000). The theory of the design of experiments. CRC Press.
- DE MEL, S., MCKENZIE, D. and WOODRUFF, C. (2008). Returns to capital in microenterprises: evidence from a field experiment. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **123** (4), 1329–1372.
- DEMING, D. J., GOLDIN, C. and KATZ, L. F. (2011). *The For-Profit Postsecondary School Sector: Nimble Critters or Agile Predators?* Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research.
- DIEHR, P. (1995). Breaking the matches in a paired t-test for community interventions when the number of pairs is small. *Stat Med*, **14** (13), 1491–1504.
- DIGGLE, P., HEAGERTY, P., LIANG, K.-Y. and ZEGER, S. (2002). *Analysis of longitudinal data*. Oxford University Press.
- DONNER, A. (1987). Statistical methodology for paired cluster designs. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, **126** (5), 972–979.
- and KLAR, N. (2004). Pitfalls of and controversies in cluster randomization trials. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94 (3), 416.
- DUFLO, E., GLENNERSTER, R. and KREMER, M. (2007). Using randomization in development economics research: A toolkit. *Handbook of development economics*, **4**, 3895–3962.
- EFRON, B. (1971). Forcing a sequential experiment to be balanced. *Biometrika*, 58 (3), 403–417.
- FINKELSTEIN, A., TAUBMAN, S., WRIGHT, B., BERNSTEIN, M., GRUBER, J., NEWHOUSE, J. P., ALLEN, H., BAICKER, K. *et al.* (2012). The oregon health insurance experiment: Evidence from the first year*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **127** (3), 1057–1106.
- FISHER, R. A. (1935). The design of experiments. Oliver & Boyd.
- FLORES-LAGUNES, A., GONZALEZ, A. and NEUMANN, T. (2010). Learning but not earning? the impact of job corps training on hispanic youth. *Economic Inquiry*, **48** (3), 651–667.
- FORTIN, N. M. (2006). Higher-education policies and the college wage premium: Cross-state evidence from the 1990s. *The American Economic Review*, pp. 959–987.
- GAIL, M. H., MARK, S. D., CARROLL, R. J., GREEN, S. B. and PEE, D. (1996). On design considerations and randomization-based inference for community intervention trials. *Statistics in medicine*, **15** (11), 1069–1092.

- GILL, A. M. and LEIGH, D. E. (2003). Do the returns to community colleges differ between academic and vocational programs? *Journal of Human Resources*, **38** (1), 134–155.
- GREENWALD, B. C. (1983). A general analysis of bias in the estimated standard errors of least squares coefficients. *Journal of Econometrics*, **22** (3), 323–338.
- GREEVY, R., LU, B., SILBER, J. H. and ROSENBAUM, P. (2004). Optimal multivariate matching before randomization. *Biostatistics*, **5** (2), 263–275.
- GREEVY, R. A., GRIJALVA, C. G., ROUMIE, C. L., BECK, C., HUNG, A. M., MURFF, H. J., LIU, X. and GRIFFIN, M. R. (2012). Reweighted mahalanobis distance matching for cluster-randomized trials with missing data. *Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety*, **21** (S2), 148–154.
- GRUBB, W. N. (1993). The varied economic returns to postsecondary education. *Journal of Human Resources*, **28** (2).
- HAHN, J. (1998). On the role of the propensity score in efficient semiparametric estimation of average treatment effects. *Econometrica*, pp. 315–331.
- ---, HIRANO, K. and KARLAN, D. (2011). Adaptive experimental design using the propensity score. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, **29** (1), 96–108.
- HANSEN, B. B. (2008). The prognostic analogue of the propensity score. *Biometrika*, 95 (2), 481–488.
- HANSEN, C. B. (2007). Generalized least squares inference in panel and multilevel models with serial correlation and fixed effects. *Journal of Econometrics*, **140** (2), 670–694.
- HASTIE, T., TIBSHIRANI, R., FRIEDMAN, J. and FRANKLIN, J. (2005). The elements of statistical learning: data mining, inference and prediction. *The Mathematical Intelligencer*, **27** (2), 83–85.
- HEINEMANN, H. N. and SUSSNA, E. (1977). The economic benefits of a community college education. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society*, **16** (3), 345–354.
- HILMER, M. J. (1997). Does community college attendance provide a strategic path to a higher quality education? *Economics of Education Review*, **16** (1), 59–68.
- (2000). Does the return to university quality differ for transfer students and direct attendees? Economics of Education Review, 19 (1), 47–61.
- HIRANO, K., IMBENS, G. W. and RIDDER, G. (2003). Efficient estimation of average treatment effects using the estimated propensity score. *Econometrica*, **71** (4), 1161–1189.
- HOXBY, C. and TURNER, S. (2013). Expanding college opportunities for high-achieving, low income students. *Stanford Institute for Economic Policy Research Discussion Paper*, (12-014).
- IBRAGIMOV, R. and MÜLLER, U. K. (2010). t-statistic based correlation and heterogeneity robust inference. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, 28 (4), 453–468.
- IMAI, K. (2008). Variance identification and efficiency analysis in randomized experiments under the matched-pair design. *Statistics in medicine*, 27 (24), 4857–4873.

- —, KING, G., NALL, C. *et al.* (2009). The essential role of pair matching in cluster-randomized experiments, with application to the mexican universal health insurance evaluation. *Statistical Science*, 24 (1), 29–53.
- —, and STUART, E. A. (2008). Misunderstandings between experimentalists and observationalists about causal inference. *Journal of the royal statistical society: series A (statistics in society)*, **171** (2), 481–502.
- IMBENS, G. W. and ANGRIST, J. D. (1994). Identification and estimation of local average treatment effects. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, pp. 467–475.
- -, KING, G., MCKENZIE, D. and RIDDER, G. (2009). On the finite sample benefits of stratification in randomized experiments.
- JACOBSON, L., LALONDE, R. J. and SULLIVAN, D. (2005). The impact of community college retraining on older displaced workers: Should we teach old dogs new tricks? *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, pp. 398–415.
- KANE, T. J., MCCAFFREY, D. F., MILLER, T. and STAIGER, D. O. (2013). Have we identified effective teachers? validating measures of effective teaching using random assignment. research paper. met project. *Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation*.
- and Rouse, C. E. (1995a). Comment on w. norton grubb:" the varied economic returns to postsecondary education: New evidence from the class of 1972". *Journal of Human Resources*, pp. 205–221.
- and (1995b). Labor-market returns to two-and four-year college. *American Economic Review*, 85 (3), 600–614.
- and (1999). The community college: Educating students at the margin between college and work. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, pp. 63–84.
- KARLAN, D. (2013). Fighting poverty with actual evidence. Interview by Stephen Dubner.
- KASY, M. (2013). Why experimenters should not randomize, and what they should do instead. Tech. rep.
- LEIGH, D. E. and GILL, A. M. (1997). Labor market returns to community colleges: Evidence for returning adults. *Journal of Human Resources*, pp. 334–353.
- LEMIEUX, T. and CARD, D. (2001). Education, earnings, and the ?canadian gi bill? *Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue canadienne d'économique*, **34** (2), 313–344.
- LIANG, K.-Y. and ZEGER, S. L. (1986). Longitudinal data analysis using generalized linear models. *Biometrika*, **73** (1), 13–22.
- LIGHT, A. and STRAYER, W. (2004). Who receives the college wage premium? assessing the labor market returns to degrees and college transfer patterns. *Journal of Human Resources*, **39** (3), 746–773.
- LOCK, K. and RUBIN, D. (2012). Re-randomization to improve covariate balance in experiments. *The Annals of Statistics*, **40** (2), 1263–1282.

- LOCK, K. F. (2011). *Re-randomization to Improve Covariate Balance in Randomized Experiments*. Tech. rep.
- LUDWIG, J., DUNCAN, G. J., GENNETIAN, L. A., KATZ, L. F., KESSLER, R. C., KLING, J. R. and SANBON-MATSU, L. (2012). Neighborhood effects on the long-term well-being of low-income adults. *Science*, 337 (6101), 1505–1510.
- LYNN, H. and McCulloch, C. (1992). When does it pay to break the matches for analysis of a matchedpair design. *Biometrics*, **48**, 397–409.
- MANSKI, C. F., McFadden, D. et al. (1981). Structural analysis of discrete data with econometric applications. MIT Press Cambridge, MA.
- MANTEL, N. (1967). The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. *Cancer* research, **27** (2 Part 1), 209–220.
- MARTIN, D. C., DIEHR, P., PERRIN, E. B. and KOEPSELL, T. D. (1993). The effect of matching on the power of randomized community intervention studies. *Statistics in Medicine*, **12** (3-4), 329–338.
- McCRARY, J. (2008). Manipulation of the running variable in the regression discontinuity design: A density test. *Journal of Econometrics*, **142** (2), 698–714.
- McEntegart, D. J. (2003). The pursuit of balance using stratified and dynamic randomization techniques: an overview. *Drug Information Journal*, **37** (3), 293–308.
- McKINLAY, S. M. (1977). Pair-matching-a reappraisal of a popular technique. *Biometrics*, **33** (4), 725–735.
- McNEMAR, Q. (1947). Note on the sampling error of the difference between correlated proportions or percentages. *Psychometrika*, **12** (2), 153–157.
- MOSTELLER, F. (1952). Some statistical problems in measuring the subjective response to drugs. *Biometrics*, 8 (3), 220–226.
- MOULTON, B. R. (1986). Random group effects and the precision of regression estimates. *Journal of* econometrics, **32** (3), 385–397.
- NEYMAN, J. (1934). On the two different aspects of the representative method: the method of stratified sampling and the method of purposive selection. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*, pp. 558–625.
- PAPADIMITRIOU, C. H. and STEIGLITZ, K. (1998). *Combinatorial optimization: algorithms and complexity*. Courier Dover Publications.
- PEARSON, K. (1901). On lines and planes of closest fit to systems of points in space. *Philosophical Magazine*, 2 (11), 559–572.
- POCOCK, S. J. (1979). Allocation of patients to treatment in clinical trials. *Biometrics*, 35 (1), 183–197.
- and SIMON, R. (1975). Sequential treatment assignment with balancing for prognostic factors in the controlled clinical trial. *Biometrics*, pp. 103–115.

ROSENBAUM, P. R. (2002). Observational studies. Springer.

- ROSENBERGER, W. F. and SVERDLOV, O. (2008). Handling covariates in the design of clinical trials. *Statistical Science*, pp. 404–419.
- ROUSE, C. E. (1995). Democratization or diversion? the effect of community colleges on educational attainment. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, **13** (2), 217–224.
- RUBIN, D. B. (1973). Matching to remove bias in observational studies. *Biometrics*, pp. 159–183.
- RUGGLES, S., SOBEK, M., ALEXANDER, T., FITCH, C. A., GOEKEN, R., HALL, P. K., KING, M. and RONNANDER, C. (). Integrated public use microdata series: Version 4.0 [machine-readable database]. minneapolis, mn: Minnesota population center [producer and distributor], 2008. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, **88** (2), 324–335.
- SCHABENBERGER, O. and GOTWAY, C. A. (2004). Statistical methods for spatial data analysis. CRC Press.
- SCHWARZ, G. et al. (1978). Estimating the dimension of a model. The annals of statistics, 6 (2), 461–464.
- Scott, N. W., McPherson, G. C., RAMSAY, C. R. and CAMPBELL, M. K. (2002). The method of minimization for allocation to clinical trials: a review. *Controlled clinical trials*, **23** (6), 662–674.
- SENN, S. (2004). Controversies concerning randomization and additivity in clinical trials. *Statistics in Medicine*, 23 (24), 3729–3753.
- SHIBATA, R. (1976). Selection of the order of an autoregressive model by akaike's information criterion. *Biometrika*, **63** (1), 117–126.
- SHIPLEY, M., SMITH, P. and DRAMAIX, M. (1989). Calculation of power for matched pair studies when randomization is by group. *International journal of epidemiology*, **18** (2), 457–461.
- SIMON, R. (1979). Restricted randomization designs in clinical trials. *Biometrics*, **35** (2), 503.
- SMALL, D. S., TEN HAVE, T. R. and ROSENBAUM, P. R. (2008). Randomization inference in a grouprandomized trial of treatments for depression: Covariate adjustment, noncompliance, and quantile effects. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, **103** (481), 271–279.
- SNEDECOR, G. (). W and cochran, w g (1979) statistical methods.
- SOLOMON, H. and ZACKS, S. (1970). Optimal design of sampling from finite populations: A critical review and indication of new research areas. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, **65** (330), 653–677.
- SPEARMAN, C. (1904). "General intelligence," objectively determined and measured. *The American Journal of Psychology*, **15** (2), 201–292.
- SPLAWA-NEYMAN, J., DABROWSKA, D., SPEED, T. *et al.* (1990). On the application of probability theory to agricultural experiments. essay on principles. section 9. *Statistical Science*, **5** (4), 465–472.
- STUART, A. (1957). The comparison of frequencies in matched samples. *British Journal of Statistical Psychology*, **10** (1), 29–32.

- SUKHATME, P. (1935). Contribution to the theory of the representative method. Supplement to the Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, pp. 253–268.
- TIBSHIRANI, R. (1996). Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological)*, pp. 267–288.
- WEI, L. (1978). The adaptive biased coin design for sequential experiments. *The Annals of Statistics*, pp. 92–100.
- WHITE, S. and FREEDMAN, L. (1978). Allocation of patients to treatment groups in a controlled clinical study. *British Journal of Cancer*, **37** (5), 849.

WOOLDRIDGE, J. M. (2010). Econometric analysis of cross section and panel data. MIT press.

Appendix A

Appendix to Chapter 1

A.1 Supplementary Results

For the general model, leaving aside terms that do not involve unknown parameters, the log likelihood function is

$$L(\gamma | \mathbf{Y}) = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \left(\det(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)) \right) - \mathbf{Y}' \Omega^{-1}(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma) \mathbf{Y}/2.$$

The matrix $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ is large in our illustrations, with dimension 2,590,190 by 2,590,190. Direct maximization of the log likelihood function is therefore not feasible. However, because locations are measured by puma locations, $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \gamma)$ has a block structure, and calculations of the log likelihood simplify and can be written in terms of first and second moments by puma. We first give a couple of preliminary results.

Theorem 2. (Sylvester's Determinant Theorem) Let A and B be arbitrary $M \times N$ matrices. Then:

$$\det(I_N + A'B) = \det(I_M + BA').$$

Proof of Theorem 2: Consider a block matrix $\begin{pmatrix} M_1 & M_2 \\ M_3 & M_4 \end{pmatrix}$. Then:

$$\det\begin{pmatrix} M_1 & M_2 \\ M_3 & M_4 \end{pmatrix} = \det\begin{pmatrix} M_1 & 0 \\ M_3 & I \end{pmatrix} \det\begin{pmatrix} I & M_1^{-1}M_2 \\ 0 & M_4 - M_3 M_1^{-1}M_2 \end{pmatrix} = \det M_1 \det(M_4 - M_3 M_1^{-1}M_2)$$

similarly

$$\det\begin{pmatrix} M_1 & M_2 \\ M_3 & M_4 \end{pmatrix} = \det\begin{pmatrix} I & M_2 \\ 0 & M_4 \end{pmatrix} \det\begin{pmatrix} M_1 - M_2 M_4^{-1} M_3 & 0 \\ M_4^{-1} M_3 & I \end{pmatrix} = \det M_4 \det(M_1 - M_2 M_4^{-1} M_3)$$

Letting $M_1 = I_M, M_2 = -B, M_3 = A', M_4 = I_N$ yields the result.

Lemma 5. (DETERMINANT OF CLUSTER COVARIANCE MATRIX) Suppose C is an $N \times M$ matrix of binary cluster indicators, with C'C equal to a $M \times M$ diagonal matrix, Σ is an arbitrary $M \times M$ matrix, and I_N is the N-dimensional identity matrix. Then, for scalar σ_{ε}^2 , and

$$\Omega = \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 I_N + \mathbf{C} \Sigma \mathbf{C}' \qquad \Omega_C = \Sigma + \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 (\mathbf{C}' \mathbf{C})^{-1},$$

we have

$$\det(\Omega) = (\sigma_{\epsilon}^2)^{N-M} \det(\mathbf{C}'\mathbf{C}) \det(\Omega_C)$$

Proof of Lemma 5: By Sylvester's theorem:

$$\det(\Omega) = (\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2})^{N} \det(I_{N} + \mathbf{C}\Sigma/\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2}\mathbf{C}') = (\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2})^{N} \det(I_{M} + \mathbf{C}'\mathbf{C}\Sigma/\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2})$$
$$= (\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2})^{N} \det(I_{M} + \mathbf{C}'\mathbf{C}\Omega_{C}/\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2} - I_{M}) = (\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2})^{N} \det(\mathbf{C}'\mathbf{C}) \det(\Omega_{C}/\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2})$$
$$= (\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2})^{N-M} \left(\prod N_{p}\right) \det(\Omega_{C}).$$

Lemma 6. Suppose Assumptions 3 and 4 hold. Then for any $N \times N$ matrix Ω ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{W}'\Omega\mathbf{W}\right] = \frac{M_1 \cdot (M_1 - 1)}{M \cdot (M - 1)} \cdot \iota'_N \Omega \iota_N + \frac{M_1 \cdot M_0}{M \cdot (M - 1)} \cdot \operatorname{trace}\left(\mathbf{C}'\Omega\mathbf{C}\right).$$

Proof of Lemma 6: We have

$$\mathbb{E}[W_i \cdot W_j] = \begin{cases} M_1/M & \text{if } \forall m, C_{im} = C_{jm} \\ (M_1 \cdot (M_1 - 1))/(M \cdot (M - 1)) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

it follows that

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{W}\mathbf{W}'] = \frac{M_1 \cdot (M_1 - 1)}{M \cdot (M - 1)} \cdot \iota_N \iota'_N + \left(\frac{M_1}{M} - \frac{M_1 \cdot (M_1 - 1)}{M \cdot (M - 1)}\right) \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}'$$

$$=\frac{M_1\cdot(M_1-1)}{M\cdot(M-1)}\cdot\iota_N\iota'_N+\frac{M_1\cdot M_0}{M\cdot(M-1)}\cdot\mathbf{CC'}.$$

Thus

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{W}'\Omega\mathbf{W}] = \operatorname{trace}\left(\mathbb{E}[\Omega\mathbf{W}\mathbf{W}']\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{trace}\left(\Omega \cdot \left(\frac{M_1 \cdot (M_1 - 1)}{M \cdot (M - 1)} \cdot \iota_N \iota_N' + \frac{M_1 \cdot M_0}{M \cdot (M - 1)} \cdot \mathbf{CC}'\right)\right)$$
$$= \frac{M_1 \cdot (M_1 - 1)}{M \cdot (M - 1)} \cdot \iota_N'\Omega \iota_N + \frac{M_1 \cdot M_0}{M \cdot (M - 1)} \cdot \operatorname{trace}\left(\mathbf{C}'\Omega\mathbf{C}\right).$$

Lemma 7. Suppose the $N \times N$ matrix Ω satisfies

$$\Omega = \sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 \cdot I_N + \sigma_C^2 \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}',$$

where I_N is the $N \times N$ identity matrix, and **C** is an $N \times M$ matrix of zeros and ones, with $C\iota_M = \iota_N$ and $C'\iota_N = (N/M)\iota_M$, so that,

$$\Omega_{ij} = \begin{cases} \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \sigma_{C}^{2} & \text{if } i = j \\ \sigma_{C}^{2} & \text{if } i \neq j, \forall m, C_{im} = C_{jm}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(A.1)

Then, (i)

$$\ln\left(\det\left(\Omega\right)\right) = N \cdot \ln\left(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right) + M \cdot \ln\left(1 + \frac{N}{M} \cdot \frac{\sigma_{C}^{2}}{\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}}\right),$$

and, (ii)

$$\Omega^{-1} = \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{-2} \cdot I_N - \frac{\sigma_C^2}{\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 \cdot (\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 + \sigma_C^2 \cdot N/M)} \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}'$$

Proof of Lemma 7: First, consider the first part. Apply Lemma 5 with

$$\Sigma = \sigma_C^2 \cdot I_M$$
, and $\mathbf{C'C} = \frac{N}{M} \cdot I_M$, so that $\Omega_C = \left(\sigma_C^2 + \sigma_\varepsilon^2 \cdot \frac{M}{N}\right) \cdot I_M$.

Then, by Lemma 5, we have

$$\ln \det(\Omega) = (N - M) \cdot \ln(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}) + M \cdot \ln(N/M) + \ln \det(\Omega_{C})$$
$$= (N - M) \cdot \ln(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}) + M \cdot \ln(N/M) + M \cdot \ln\left(\sigma_{C}^{2} + \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} \cdot \frac{M}{N}\right)$$

$$= (N - M) \cdot \ln(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}) + M \cdot \ln\left(\frac{N}{M}\sigma_{C}^{2} + \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right)$$
$$= N \cdot \ln(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}) + M \cdot \ln\left(1 + \frac{N}{M} \cdot \frac{\sigma_{C}^{2}}{\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}}\right).$$

Next, consider part (ii). We need to show that

$$\left(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} \cdot I_{N} + \sigma_{C}^{2} \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}'\right)\left(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{-2} \cdot I_{N} - \frac{\sigma_{C}^{2}}{\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} \cdot (\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \sigma_{C}^{2} \cdot N/M)} \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}'\right) = I_{N},$$

which amounts to showing that

$$-\frac{\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 \cdot \sigma_C^2}{\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 \cdot (\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 + \sigma_C^2 \cdot N/M)} \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}' + \sigma_C^2 \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}'\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{-2} - \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}' \cdot \frac{\sigma_C^4}{\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 \cdot (\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 + \sigma_C^2 \cdot N/M)} \cdot \mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}' = 0.$$

This follows directly from the fact that $\mathbf{C'C} = (N/M) \cdot I_M$ and collecting the terms.

Proof of Lemma 2: By the constant treatment effect assumption, and by Assumption 2, the result follows directly from the Neyman Lemma on unit-level randomization

Proof of Lemma 3: The unbiasedness result directly follows from the conditional unbiasedness established in Lemma 2. Next we establish the second part of the Lemma. By the Law of Iterated Expectations,

$$\mathbb{V}_{U}(\mathbf{Z}) = \mathbb{V}\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\hat{\beta}_{ols} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right] \mid \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right) + \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{ols} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) \mid \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right]
= \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{ols} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) \mid \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right]$$
(A.2)

where the second line follows since $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ is unbiased. By Lemma 2, we have:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \middle| \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) \middle| \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{N}{N_{0} \cdot N_{1} \cdot (N-2)} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\varepsilon_{i} - \overline{\varepsilon}\right)^{2} \middle| \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right]$$

Observe that we can write:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} (\varepsilon_{i} - \overline{\varepsilon})^{2} = (\varepsilon - \iota_{N}\iota'_{N}\varepsilon/N)'(\varepsilon - \iota_{N}\iota'_{N}\varepsilon/N)$$
$$= \varepsilon'\varepsilon - 2\varepsilon'\iota_{N}\iota'_{N}\varepsilon/N + \varepsilon'\iota_{N}\iota_{N}\iota_{N}\iota'_{N}\varepsilon/N^{2}$$
$$= \varepsilon'\varepsilon - \varepsilon'\iota_{N}\iota'_{N}\varepsilon/N.$$

Hence:

$$\mathbb{V}_{U}(\mathbf{Z}) = \frac{N}{N_{0} \cdot N_{1} \cdot (N-2)} \mathbb{E} \left[\varepsilon' \varepsilon - \varepsilon' \iota_{N} \iota'_{N} \varepsilon / N | \mathbf{Z}, N_{0}, N_{1} \right]$$
$$= \frac{N}{N_{0} \cdot N_{1} \cdot (N-2)} \operatorname{trace} \left(\mathbb{E} \left[\varepsilon \varepsilon' - \iota'_{N} \varepsilon \varepsilon' \iota_{N} / N | \mathbf{Z}, N_{0}, N_{1} \right] \right)$$
$$= \frac{N}{N_{0} \cdot N_{1} \cdot (N-2)} \left(\operatorname{trace} \left(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}) \right) - \iota'_{N} \Omega(\mathbf{Z}) \iota_{N} / N \right)$$

which establishes (1.11). Finally, we prove the third part of the Lemma. By Lemma 1, $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ is unbiased conditional on **Z**, **W**, so that by argument like in Equation (A.2) above, we can also write:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{V}_{U}(\mathbf{Z}) &= \mathbb{V}\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \mid \mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{W}\right] \mid \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right) + \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \mid \mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{W}\right) \mid \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) \mid \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right] \end{split}$$

which equals $\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}_{R}\left(\mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) \mid \mathbf{Z}, N_{1}\right]$ by (A.2).

Proof of Lemma 4: To show the first part of the Lemma, observe that under constant cluster size,

$$\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} = \frac{\sum_{m=1}^{M} (\tilde{Y}_m - \bar{\tilde{Y}})^2 (\tilde{W}_m - \bar{\tilde{W}})}{\sum_m (\tilde{W}_m - \bar{\tilde{W}})^2}$$

where $\tilde{Y}_m = (N/M)^{-1} \sum_{i: C_{im}=1} Y_i$, and $\bar{\tilde{Y}} = M^{-1} \sum_m \tilde{Y}_m = \bar{Y}$, and $\bar{\tilde{W}} = \bar{W}$. Therefore, we can apply Lemma 2, treating cluster averages $(\tilde{Y}_m, \tilde{W}_m, \tilde{\epsilon}_m)$ as a unit of observation, which yields the result.

To show the second part, again by Lemma 2, $\hat{\beta}_{ols}$ is unbiased, so that by the Law of Iterated Expectations, and the first part of the Lemma,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{V}_{U}(\mathbf{Z}) &= \mathbb{V}\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right] \mid \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right) + \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) \mid \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{V}\left(\hat{\beta}_{\text{ols}} \mid \mathbf{Y}(0), \mathbf{Y}(1), \mathbf{Z}\right) \mid \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{M}{(M-2) \cdot M_{0} \cdot M_{1}} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_{m} - \overline{\tilde{\varepsilon}}\right)^{2} \mid \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right] \end{split}$$

Hence, it suffices to show that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{s=1}^{M} \left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_{s} - \overline{\tilde{\varepsilon}}\right)^{2} \middle| \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right] = \left(\frac{M^{2}}{N^{2}} \cdot \operatorname{trace}\left(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{C}\right) - \frac{M}{N^{2}}\iota'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\iota\right).$$

Note that in general $\mathbf{C}\iota_M = \iota_N$, and under Assumption 4, it follows that $\mathbf{C'C} = (N/M) \cdot I_M$. We can

write

$$\tilde{\varepsilon}_m = (\mathbf{C}'\mathbf{C})^{-1}\mathbf{C}'\varepsilon = \frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C}'\varepsilon, \text{ and } \tilde{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{M}\iota'_M(\mathbf{C}'\mathbf{C})^{-1}\mathbf{C}'\varepsilon = \frac{1}{N}\iota'_N\varepsilon,$$

so that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_m - \overline{\tilde{\varepsilon}}\right)^2 &= \left(\frac{M}{N} \mathbf{C}' \varepsilon - \frac{1}{M} \iota_M \iota'_N \varepsilon\right)' \left(\frac{M}{N} \mathbf{C}' \varepsilon - \frac{1}{M} \iota_M \iota'_N \varepsilon\right) \\ &= \left(\left(\frac{M}{N} \mathbf{C}' - \frac{1}{N} \iota_M \iota'_N\right) \varepsilon\right)' \left(\left(\frac{M}{N} \mathbf{C}' - \frac{1}{N} \iota_M \iota'_N\right) \varepsilon\right). \\ &= \varepsilon' \left(\frac{M}{N} \mathbf{C} - \frac{1}{N} \iota_N \iota'_M\right)' \left(\frac{M}{N} \mathbf{C}' - \frac{1}{N} \iota_M \iota'_N\right) \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{m=1}^{M} \left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_{s} - \overline{\tilde{\varepsilon}}\right)^{2} \middle| \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\varepsilon'\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C} - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{N}\iota'_{M}\right)'\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C}' - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{M}\iota'_{N}\right)\varepsilon \middle| \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right]\right]$$
$$= \operatorname{trace}\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C} - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{N}\iota'_{M}\right)'\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C}' - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{M}\iota'_{N}\right)\varepsilon\varepsilon'\middle| \mathbf{Z}, M_{1}\right]\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{trace}\left(\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C} - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{N}\iota'_{M}\right)'\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C}' - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{M}\iota'_{N}\right)\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{trace}\left(\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C}' - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{M}\iota'_{N}\right)\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\left(\frac{M}{N}\mathbf{C} - \frac{1}{N}\iota_{N}\iota'_{M}\right)'\right)$$
$$= \frac{M^{2}}{N^{2}}\cdot\operatorname{trace}\left(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{C}\right) - \frac{M}{N^{2}}\cdot\iota'_{N}\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\iota_{N}.$$

Proof of Theorem 1: Under Assumption 4, $\overline{W} = M_1/M$, which is non-random. Hence, in order to prove $\mathbb{V}_U(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}), \mathbf{Z}) = \mathbb{V}_U(\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \tilde{\gamma}), \mathbf{Z})$, it suffices to show that trace $(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{C}) = \text{trace}(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, (\tilde{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}, \tilde{\sigma}_S^2))\mathbf{C})$. The log likelihood function based on the specification (A.1) is

$$L(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{S}^{2}|\mathbf{Y},\mathbf{Z}) = -\frac{1}{2} \cdot \ln\left(\Omega\left(\mathbf{Z},\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{S}^{2}\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2} \cdot \mathbf{Y}' \Omega(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{S}^{2})^{-1} \mathbf{Y}.$$

The expected value of the log likelihood function is

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{S}^{2}|\mathbf{Y},\mathbf{Z})|\mathbf{Z}\right] = -\frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\Omega\left(\mathbf{Z},\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{S}^{2}\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2}\cdot\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{Y}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z},\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{C}^{2})^{-1}\mathbf{Y}\right]$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\cdot\ln\left(\Omega\left(\mathbf{Z},\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{S}^{2}\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2}\cdot\operatorname{trace}\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\Omega\left(\mathbf{Z},\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2},\sigma_{S}^{2}\right)^{-1}\mathbf{Y}\mathbf{Y}'\right)\right]$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \cdot \ln\left(\Omega\left(\mathbf{Z}, \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}, \sigma_{S}^{2}\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2} \cdot \operatorname{trace}\left(\Omega\left(\mathbf{Z}, \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}, \sigma_{S}^{2}\right)^{-1} \Omega(\mathbf{Z})\right).$$

Using Lemma 7, this is equal to

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}, \sigma_{S}^{2} | \mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{Z}) | \mathbf{Z}\right] = -\frac{N}{2} \cdot \ln(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}) - \frac{M}{2} \cdot \ln\left(1 + N/M \cdot \sigma_{S}^{2}/\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2 \cdot \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}} \cdot \operatorname{trace}(\Omega(\mathbf{Z})) + \frac{\sigma_{S}^{2}}{2 \cdot \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} \cdot (\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \sigma_{S}^{2} \cdot N/M)} \cdot \operatorname{trace}(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{C}).$$

The first derivative of the expected log likelihood function with respect to σ_S^2 is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma_s^2} \mathbb{E} \left[L(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2, \sigma_s^2 | \mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{Z}) \big| \mathbf{Z} \right] = -\frac{N}{2 \cdot (\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 + N/M \cdot \sigma_s^2)} + \frac{\operatorname{trace} \left(\mathbf{C}' \Omega(\mathbf{Z}) \mathbf{C} \right)}{(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 + \sigma_s^2 \cdot (N/M))^2}$$

Hence the first order condition for $\tilde{\sigma}_S^2$ implies that

trace
$$(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{C}) = N \cdot (\tilde{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}^2 + \tilde{\sigma}_{S}^2 \cdot (N/M)).$$

For the misspecified error-covariance matrix $\Omega(\mathbf{Z}, \tilde{\gamma})$ we have

trace
$$(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z},\tilde{\gamma})\mathbf{C}) = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \left(N_m^2 \cdot \tilde{\sigma}_S^2 + N_m \cdot \tilde{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}^2 \right).$$

By equality of the cluster sizes this simplifies to

trace
$$(\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z},\tilde{\gamma})\mathbf{C}) = N \cdot (\tilde{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}^2 + \tilde{\sigma}_{S}^2 \cdot (N/M)) = \text{trace} (\mathbf{C}'\Omega(\mathbf{Z})\mathbf{C}).$$

Appendix B

Appendix to Chapter 2

B.1 Supplementary Results

Given a matched pairs randomization one may wish to estimate an average treatment effect and/or test the null of no effect using t-statistic based tests. On the one hand, one can view the data as a set of Noutcome measurements from the experimental units where N/2 have been treated. Given the paired nature of the data proper standard errors can be computed by regressing the N outcome measurements on a treatment indicator alongside a set of N/2 pair indicators.

On the other hand, one can view the data as a set of n = N/2 within pair differences, where one is simply estimating the mean of the differences. Proper standard errors here can be computed using the sample standard deviation of the differences.

In fact, tests using the mean of within-pair differences, and regressions of the pooled experimental units with pair dummies both accounting for and not accounting for heteroskedasticity in standard ways, are equivalent. We show this below.

The first of two complimentary results is that these two procedures are mathematically equivalent. They produce the same estimates of the treatment effect and the same standard errors. One may note that

standard errors in the first case will depend on whether or not the experimenter makes an assumption about homoskedasticy. The second complimentary result we present is that in the first procedure standard errors constructed under the homoskedasticy assumption and standard errors constructed using the Huber-Eicker-White procedure are equivalent.

This second result holds more generally for all stratifications with equal sized strata and equal numbers of treated and control units within each stratum, for example when experimental units are blocked into groups of four and in each block two units are treated.

The mean of the differences

Let $d_1, ..., d_n$ be the set of within pair differences where the untreated unit is subtracted from the treated unit in each pair. Let $b \equiv \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i$ be the treatment effect estimator.

Further let us test the null of no treatment effect with a two tailed test using the test statistic. There is a finite sample justification for this test that comes from an assumption of i.i.d normal errors,

$$t_{stat1} \equiv \frac{b}{\sqrt{\frac{1}{n} \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (d_i - b)^2}}$$
 (B.1)

and compare it to the critical values from a t-distribution with n - 1 degrees of freedom. Individual units with pair dummies and regression

Let *Y* be an $N \times 1$ vector of outcomes of experimental units where we denote the *i*th element of this vector y_i for i = 1, ..., N. Also let *X* be an $N \times k$ matrix, where k = N/2 + 1, the first column of *X* is a treatment indicator and the next *N* columns of *X* are pair indicators.

Without loss of generality let the rows of *Y* and *X* that correspond to the same pair be grouped together such that the odd numbered rows correspond to treated observations.

Now consider the projection of Y onto the column space of X. It is a standard result that least

squares with group indicators is equivalent to within group least squares and with two observations per group, this is the same as least squares on the difference which here is the mean of d_i . The coefficient on the treatment indicator in the least squares fit is $\frac{2}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-1)^{i+1} y_i = \frac{1}{n} \sum d_i = b$. The coefficient on the first pair dummy is $\frac{1}{2}(y_1 - b + y_2)$, the coefficient on the second pair dummy is $\frac{1}{2}(y_3 - b + y_4)$ and in general the coefficient for the *i*th pair dummy is $\frac{1}{2}(y_{2i-1} - b + y_{2i})$. The formulas for these coefficients can be verified by checking that the implied residuals are in fact orthogonal to the columns of *X*. Let the residual for the *i*th be e_i for i = 1, ..., N.

/ 17

Denote Huber-Eicker-White heteroskedasticity consistent covariance estimator as

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{W} \equiv \frac{N}{N-k} (X'X)^{-1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} x_{i} x_{i}' e_{i}^{2} \right) (X'X)^{-1}$$
(B.2)

where x_i is the *i*th row of *X*.

One would test the null of no treatment effect using the test statistic

$$t_{stat2} \equiv \frac{b}{\sqrt{\hat{\Sigma}_{W1,1}}} \tag{B.3}$$

where $\hat{\Sigma}_{W1,1}$ is the (1,1) element of $\hat{\Sigma}_W$.

Assuming homoskedasticity the standard covariance estimator is

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{H} \equiv (X'X)^{-1} \frac{1}{N-k} \sum_{i=1}^{N} e_{i}^{2}$$
(B.4)

One would test the null of no treatment effect using the test statistic

$$t_{stat3} \equiv \frac{b}{\sqrt{\hat{\Sigma}_{H1,1}}} \tag{B.5}$$

where $\hat{\Sigma}_{H1,1}$ is the (1,1) element of $\hat{\Sigma}_{H}$.

In each case following the linear regression model one would use critical values from a t-distribution with $N - k = N - \frac{N}{2} - 1 = n - 1$ degrees of freedom. **Claim 1:** $\hat{\Sigma}_{W1,1} = \hat{\Sigma}_{H1,1}$

proof:

Let I_s be the identity matrix of size s, let $k = \frac{N}{2} + 1$, and let $1_{s,t}$ be a matrix of size $s \times t$ where each element is a one. First notice that $X = (1_{k-1,1} \otimes {\binom{1}{0}}, I_{k-1} \otimes {\binom{1}{1}})$ so

$$\begin{aligned} X'X &= \left(\begin{array}{cc} (1_{1,k-1}1_{k-1,1}) \otimes ((1,0) \binom{1}{0}) & (1_{1,k-1}I_{k-1}) \otimes ((1,0) \binom{1}{1}) \\ (I_{k-1}1_{k-1,1}) \otimes ((1,1) \binom{1}{0}) & (I_{k-1}I_{k-1}) \otimes ((1,1) \binom{1}{1}) \end{array}\right) \\ &= \left(\begin{array}{cc} k-1 & 1_{1,k-1} \\ 1_{k-1,1} & 2I_{k-1} \end{array}\right), \end{aligned}$$

and that the inverse of this block matrix is

$$(X'X)^{-1} = \frac{2}{N} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1_{1,k-1} \\ -1_{k-1,1} & \frac{N}{4}I_{k-1} + 1_{k-1,k-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B.6)

So $\hat{\Sigma}_{H1,1} = \frac{4}{N} \frac{1}{N-k} \sum_{i=1}^{N} e_i^2$. Now we show that $\hat{\Sigma}_{W1,1} = \frac{4}{N} \frac{1}{N-k} \sum_{i=1}^{N} e_i^2$.

Consider

$$\hat{\Sigma}_W \equiv \frac{N}{N-k} (X'X)^{-1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N x_i x_i' e_i^2 \right) (X'X)^{-1} = \frac{N}{N-k} (X'X)^{-1} X' \hat{\Omega} X (X'X)^{-1}$$
(B.7)

where x_i is the *i*th row of X, and $\hat{\Omega}$ is $N \times N$ where $\Omega_{i,j} = e_i^2 \mathbb{1}\{i = j\}$.

Next note that $(X'X)^{-1}X'\hat{\Omega} =$

$$\frac{1}{N} \begin{pmatrix} 2e_1^2 & -2e_2^2 & 2e_3^2 & -2e_4^2 & \dots & 2e_{N-1}^2 & -2e_N^2 \\ (\frac{N}{2}-1)e_1^2 & (\frac{N}{2}+1)e_2^2 & -e_3^2 & e_4^2 & \dots & -e_{N-1}^2 & e_N^2 \\ -e_1^2 & e_2^2 & (\frac{N}{2}-1)e_3^2 & (\frac{N}{2}+1)e_4^2 & \dots & -e_{N-1}^2 & e_N^2 \\ -e_1^2 & e_2^2 & -e_3^2 & e_4^2 & \dots & -e_{N-1}^2 & e_N^2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -e_1^2 & e_2^2 & -e_3^2 & e_4^2 & \dots & (\frac{N}{2}-1)e_{N-1}^2 & (\frac{N}{2}+1)e_N^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and $X(X'X)^{-1} =$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & \frac{N}{2} - 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 & \dots & -1 \\ -2 & \frac{N}{2} + 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 2 & -1 & \frac{N}{2} - 1 & -1 & -1 & \dots & -1 \\ -2 & 1 & \frac{N}{2} + 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 2 & -1 & -1 & \frac{N}{2} - 1 & -1 & \dots & -1 \\ -2 & 1 & 1 & \frac{N}{2} + 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 2 & -1 & -1 & -1 & -1 & \dots & \frac{N}{2} - 1 \\ -2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & \frac{N}{2} + 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

So the (1,1) element of $(X'X)^{-1}X'\hat{\Omega}X(X'X)^{-1}$ is $\frac{4}{N^2}\sum_{i=1}^N e_i^2$. Thus $\hat{\Sigma}_{W1,1} = \frac{N}{N-k}\frac{4}{N^2}\sum_{i=1}^N e_i^2$. \Box

Claim 2: $\hat{\Sigma}_{H1,1} = \frac{1}{n} \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (d_i - b)^2$ **proof:** Consider the residuals from the regression:

$$e_{1} = y_{1} - \frac{1}{2}(y_{1} - b + y_{2}) - b$$

$$e_{2} = y_{2} - \frac{1}{2}(y_{1} - b + y_{2})$$

$$e_{3} = y_{3} - \frac{1}{2}(y_{3} - b + y_{4}) - b$$

$$e_{4} = y_{4} - \frac{1}{2}(y_{3} - b + y_{4})$$

$$\vdots$$

and in general note that we can change indexes as follows

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} e_i^2 = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{2i-1}^2 + e_{2i}^2)$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n} (y_{2k-1} - \frac{1}{2}(y_{2k-1} - b + y_{2k}) - b)^2 + (y_{2k} - \frac{1}{2}(y_{2k-1} - b + y_{2k}))^2$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (d_k - b)^2 + (b - d_k)^2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum (d_k - b)^2.$$
(B.8)

So

$$\begin{split} \hat{\Sigma}_{H1,1} &= \frac{2}{N(N-k)} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (d_k - b)^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{n(N - (\frac{N}{2} + 1))} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (d_k - b)^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{n(n-1)} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (d_k - b)^2 \end{split}$$

Generalization of claim 1 The result that <u>regressions of the pooled experimental units with pair</u> <u>dummies both accounting for and not accounting for heteroskedasticity in standard ways are</u> <u>equivalent</u> can be generalized to randomizations with equal sized strata and equal numbers of treated and control units within each stratum. Suppose that we have equal sized strata, let *S* denote their size, S even, S divides N, and denote the number of strata $n_s \equiv \frac{N}{S}$. Now X has the form

$$X = \left[\mathbb{1}_{\frac{N}{2},1} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}; I_{n_s} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{S,1} \right]$$

and

$$X'X = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{N}{2} & \frac{S}{2}\mathbf{1}_{1,n_s} \\ \frac{S}{2}\mathbf{1}_{n_s,1} & SI_{n_s} \end{pmatrix}$$

SO

$$(X'X)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{4}{N} & -\frac{2}{N}\mathbf{1}_{1,n_s} \\ -\frac{2}{N}\mathbf{1}_{n_s,1} & \cdot \end{pmatrix}$$

where we omit the lower right block of the inverse and note that it is not necessary for the remainder of the proof. Note that $\hat{\Omega}$ is diagonal with (k, k) element e_k^2 , $[(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = 4/N$ if k = 1 and -2/N if k > 1, (3) $X_{j,1} = 1$ if j odd and 0 else, and each sub-vector $X_{j,2:K}$ has one 1 and K-1 zeros for all j, so that the conditions of lemma 1 hold. By lemma 1

$$[(X'X)^{-1}X'\hat{\Omega}X(X'X)^{-1}]_{1,1} = \frac{4}{N^2}\sum_{i=i}^N e_i^2$$

Lemma 1 If

- (A1) $\hat{\Omega}$ is diagonal with (k, k) element $e_k^2, k = 1, ..., N$
- (A2)

$$[(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = \begin{cases} 4/N, & \text{if } k = 1\\ -2/N, & \text{if } k > 1, \end{cases}$$

• (A3.1)

$$X_{j,1} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } j \text{ odd} \\ \\ 0, & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$

• and (A3.2) *X*_{*j*,2:*K*} has one 1 and K-1 zeros,

then $[(X'X)^{-1}X'\hat{\Omega}X(X'X)^{-1}]_{1,1} = \frac{4}{N^2}\sum_{i=1}^N e_i^2$

proof:

$$[(X'X)^{-1}X'\hat{\Omega}X(X'X)^{-1}]_{1,1} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} [(X'X)^{-1}X']_{1,k}\Omega_{k,k}[X(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N} \Omega_{k,k}[X(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1}^{2}.$$
 By lemma 2 $|[X(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1}| = \frac{2}{N}$ for all k. So

$$[(X'X)^{-1}X'\hat{\Omega}X(X'X)^{-1}]_{1,1} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} e_k^2 \frac{4}{N^2}.$$

Lemma 2 If conditions (A2) and (A3) of lemma 1 hold, then

$$[X(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = \begin{cases} \frac{2}{N}, & \text{if } k \text{ is odd} \\ -\frac{2}{N}, & \text{if } k \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$
(B.9)

proof: By definition $[X(X'X)^{-1}]_{j,1} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} X_{j,k}[(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1}$. First consider

$$\sum_{k=2}^{K} X_{j,k} [(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1}.$$

Since k > 1, $[(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = -2/N$ by condition (A2), and $X_{j,2:K}$ has one 1 and K-1 zeros by condition (A3.2). So $\sum_{k=2}^{N} X_{j,k} [(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = \frac{2}{N}$. Now if *j* is odd then $X_{1,1} = 1$ by condition (A3) and $[(X'X)^{-1}]_{1,1} = 4/N$ by condition (A2), so $[X(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = \frac{4-2}{N}$. If *j* is even then $X_{1,1} = 0$ by condition (A3) and $\sum_{k=1}^{N} X_{j,k} [(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = \sum_{k=2}^{N} X_{j,k} [(X'X)^{-1}]_{k,1} = \frac{2}{N}$.

Proofs

We are given $E(\theta_i|X, \epsilon) = \theta$.

and that T_i is independent of $\{Y_i(0), Y_i(1), X_i\}$.

$$\begin{aligned} Y_i(0) &= \theta_i + r(X_i) + \epsilon_i \\ Y_i &= T_i \theta_i + r(X_i) + \epsilon_i \\ D_k &= T_{2k-1} [Y_{2k-1}(1) - Y_{2k}(0)] + (1 - T_{2k-1}) [Y_{2k}(1) - Y_{2k-1}(0)] \\ &= T_{2k-1} [\theta_{2k-1} + r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k}) + \epsilon_{2k-1} - \epsilon_{2k}] \\ &+ (1 - T_{2k-1}) [\theta_{2k} + r(X_{2k}) - r(X_{2k-1}) + \epsilon_{2k} - \epsilon_{2k-1}] \end{aligned}$$

Since $E(\epsilon_i|T) = 0$, then

$$E(D_{k}|T, X, \theta) = T_{2k-1}[\theta_{2k-1} + r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k})] + (1 - T_{2k-1})[\theta_{2k} + r(X_{2k}) - r(X_{2k-1})] = \theta_{2k} + T_{2k-1}[\theta_{2k-1} - \theta_{2k}] + (2T_{2k-1} - 1)[r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k})]$$
(B.10)

By iterated expectations

$$E(D_k|X,\theta) = E(E(D_k|T,X,\theta)|X,\theta)$$
$$= \theta_{2k} + \frac{1}{2}(\theta_{2k-1} - \theta_{2k})$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}(\theta_{2k-1} + \theta_{2k})$$

By iterated expectations again, $E(\theta_i|X, \epsilon) = \theta \implies E(\theta_i|X) = \theta$, and

$$E(D_k|X) = E(E(D_k|X,\theta)|X)$$

= $\frac{1}{2}E(\theta_{2k-1} + \theta_{2k}|X)$
= θ (B.11)

Note that

$$cov(\theta_i, \epsilon_i | X) = E(\theta_i \epsilon_i | X) - E(\theta_i | X)E(\epsilon_i | X)$$
$$= E(\theta_i \epsilon_i | X) \text{ since } E(\epsilon_i | X) = 0$$
$$= E(E(\theta_i \epsilon_i | X, \epsilon) | X)$$
$$= E(\epsilon_i E(\theta_i | X, \epsilon) | X)$$
$$= E(\epsilon_i E(\theta_i) | X) \text{ by A1}$$
$$= E(\theta_i)E(\epsilon_i | X)$$
$$= 0 \text{ since } E(\epsilon_i | X) = 0$$

Now consider

$$var(D_{k}|T.X) = T_{2k-1}[var(\theta_{2k-1}|T,X) + var(\epsilon_{2k-1}|T,X) + var(\epsilon_{2k}|T,X)] + (1 - T_{2k-1})[var(\theta_{2k}|T,X) + var(\epsilon_{2k-1}|T,X) + var(\epsilon_{2k}|T,X)]$$

Since *T* is independent of *X* and θ we need not condition on it.

$$= T_{2k-1}var(\theta_{2k-1}|X) + (1 - T_{2k-1})var(\theta_{2k}|X) + var(\epsilon_{2k-1}|X) + var(\epsilon_{2k}|X)$$
(B.12)

Now we obtain the variance conditional just on *X* from

$$var(D_k|X) = E(var(D_k|T, X)|X) + var(E(D_k|T, X)|X)$$
(B.13)

The first term in B.13 comes from taking the expectation of B.12 over the distribution of T_{2k-1} . This gives

$$E(var(D_{k}|T,X)|X) = \frac{1}{2}[var(\theta_{2k-1}|X) + var(\theta_{2k}|X)] + var(\epsilon_{2k-1}|X) + var(\epsilon_{2k}|X)$$
(B.14)

The second term in B.13 comes from taking the conditional expectation of B.10 holding T, X fixed and then taking the variance of the result.

$$E(D_k|T,X) = \theta + (2T_{2k-1} - 1)[r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k})]$$

$$var(E(D_k|T, X)|X) = [r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k})]^2$$

since $var(2T_{2k-1}-1) = 1$. So combining B.14 and B.13 gives

$$var(D_{k}|X) = \frac{1}{2} [var(\theta_{2k-1}|X) + var(\theta_{2k}|X)] + var(\epsilon_{2k-1}|X) + var(\epsilon_{2k}|X) + [r(X_{2k-1}) - r(X_{2k})]^{2}$$

Furthermore,

$$cov(D_k, D_h|X) = 0$$

since given X, D_k is a function of $((\theta_{2k-1}, \theta_{2k}, \epsilon_{2k-1}, \epsilon_{2k}, T_{2k-1})$, and D_h is a function of

 $((\theta_{2h-1}, \theta_{2h}, \epsilon_{2h-1}, \epsilon_{2h}, T_{2h-1}))$, and these stochastic terms are independent.

B.2 Supplementary Tables

$N_{training sample} = 100, N_{experiment} = 100$			Ra	ndomization N	/lethod		
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	1.000	1.026	0.767	0.764	0.748	0.753	0.752
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	1.000	0.960	0.864	0.861	0.870	0.892	0.869
Math test score (Pakistan)	1.000	1.006	0.614	0.585	0.588	0.588	0.601
Height z-score (Pakistan)	1.000	0.987	0.650	0.681	0.677	0.666	0.679
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	1.000	0.953	0.738	0.738	0.772	0.772	0.737
Child schooling (Indonesia)	1.000	1.010	0.848	0.891	0.899	0.877	0.871

Table B.1: Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods 1

Notes: This table gives mean squared error estimates relative to complete randomization. CR is complete randomization, that is, under no stratification. MPY_0 is matching on the lagged value of the outcome in each dataset. The next four columns $MP\hat{Y}_x$ match pairs according to the predicted outcome, where the prediction is formed from a training dataset using method *x*. *Ridge* uses ridge regression (Tibshirani 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *LASS O* uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Tibshirani,1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *AIS S O* uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Tibshirani,1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *AIC* uses the model among the 2^7 sub-models that has the lowest value of the Akaike information criterion (Akaike, 1974). *BIC* uses the model among the 2^7 sub-models that has the lowest value of the Bayes information criterion (Schwarz, 1978). In each of the four methods the full model is linear in a constant and the seven "balancing variables" and corresponds to the data generating process. The size of the the training sample used to estimate these predictors is $N_{trainingsample} = 100$ and the total number of unit in each simulated experiment is $N_{experiment} = 100$.

Table B.2: Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods 1

$N_{training sample} = 100, N_{experiment} = 100$			Ra	ndomization N	lethod		
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	0.050	0.051	0.050	0.051	0.048	0.051	0.047
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.054	0.051	0.051	0.049	0.049	0.049	0.047
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.051	0.051	0.050	0.048	0.051	0.051	0.047
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.052	0.049	0.048	0.052	0.052	0.052	0.054
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.051	0.046	0.049	0.048	0.050	0.052	0.048
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.049	0.051	0.049	0.053	0.050	0.046	0.052

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests using multiple randomization methods. The randomizations methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

Table B.3: Power for Multiple Randomization Methods 1

$N_{training sample} = 100, N_{experiment} = 100$				Ra	ndomization N	Aethod		
	TE	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	0.19	0.147	0.143	0.190	0.182	0.177	0.181	0.177
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.12	0.097	0.087	0.093	0.094	0.090	0.097	0.097
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.23	0.203	0.195	0.288	0.292	0.304	0.299	0.290
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.26	0.242	0.248	0.332	0.342	0.334	0.333	0.326
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.52	0.726	0.726	0.831	0.827	0.818	0.815	0.832
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.24	0.218	0.212	0.240	0.237	0.231	0.229	0.239

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests, under the treatment effect given under column TE, using multiple randomization methods. The treatment effects are presented as standard deviations of the outcome variable. The randomizations methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

Table B.4: Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods 2

$N_{training sample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 30$			Ra	ndomization N	/lethod		
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	1.000	1.001	0.796	0.768	0.776	0.806	0.773
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	1.000	0.966	0.885	0.877	0.884	0.865	0.853
Math test score (Pakistan)	1.000	0.997	0.594	0.583	0.577	0.595	0.577
Height z-score (Pakistan)	1.000	0.971	0.640	0.648	0.659	0.679	0.643
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	1.000	1.056	0.752	0.742	0.826	0.802	0.749
Child schooling (Indonesia)	1.000	0.961	0.826	0.834	0.846	0.839	0.842

Notes: This table gives mean squared error estimates relative to complete randomization. CR is complete randomization, that is, under no stratification. MPY_0 is matching on the lagged value of the outcome in each dataset. The next four columns $MP\hat{Y}_x$ match pairs according to the predicted outcome, where the prediction is formed from a training dataset using method *x*. *Ridge* uses ridge regression (Tibshirani 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *LASS O* uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Tibshirani,1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *AISS O* uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Tibshirani,1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *AIC* uses the model among the 2^7 sub-models that has the lowest value of the Akaike information criterion (Akaike 1974). *BIC* uses the model among the 2^7 sub-models that has the lowest value of the Bayes information criterion (Schwarz 1978). In each of the four methods the full model is linear in a constant and the seven "balancing variables" and corresponds to the data generating process. The size of the the training sample used to estimate these predictors is $N_{training sample} = 2000$ and the total number of unit in each simulated experiment is $N_{experiment} = 100$.

Table B.5: Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods 2

$N_{training sample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 30$			Ra	ndomization N	/lethod		
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	0.048	0.049	0.054	0.051	0.050	0.049	0.050
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.050	0.050	0.053	0.052	0.051	0.047	0.048
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.052	0.053	0.049	0.049	0.047	0.052	0.051
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.052	0.050	0.047	0.051	0.051	0.050	0.050
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.047	0.055	0.048	0.045	0.052	0.051	0.049
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.052	0.050	0.048	0.050	0.050	0.050	0.051

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests using multiple randomization methods. The randomizations methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

Table B.6: Power for Multiple Randomization Methods 2

$N_{training sample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 30$				Ra	ndomization N	Aethod		
	TE	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	0.18	0.077	0.074	0.085	0.088	0.082	0.084	0.085
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.12	0.066	0.060	0.063	0.060	0.063	0.059	0.060
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.23	0.096	0.094	0.110	0.118	0.113	0.121	0.121
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.26	0.110	0.102	0.124	0.127	0.127	0.130	0.122
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.51	0.269	0.263	0.340	0.334	0.317	0.318	0.328
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.24	0.101	0.091	0.102	0.104	0.104	0.105	0.101

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests, under the treatment effect given under column TE, using multiple randomization methods. The treatment effects are presented as standard deviations of the outcome variable. The randomizations methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

Table B.7: Mean Squared Error for Multiple Randomization Methods 3

$N_{trainingsample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 300$				Randomiza	tion Metho	d	
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	1.000	0.963	0.717	0.705	0.713	0.714	0.702
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	1.000	0.989	0.902	0.879	0.865	0.913	0.873
Math test score (Pakistan)	1.000	1.019	0.604	0.574	0.591	0.583	0.574
Height z-score (Pakistan)	1.000	1.008	0.674	0.655	0.667	0.666	0.661
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	1.000	0.984	0.718	0.737	0.753	0.779	0.733
Child schooling (Indonesia)	1.000	0.983	0.835	0.856	0.867	0.848	0.846

Notes: This table gives mean squared error estimates relative to complete randomization. CR is complete randomization, that is, under no stratification. MPY_0 is matching on the lagged value of the outcome in each dataset. The next four columns $MP\hat{Y}_x$ match pairs according to the predicted outcome, where the prediction is formed from a training dataset using method *x*. *Ridge* uses ridge regression (Tibshirani 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the mean squared error under ten-fold cross validation. *LASSO* uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Tibshirani, 1996) where the penalty term is chosen to minimize the model among the 2⁷ sub-models that has the lowest value of the Akaike information criterion (Akaike 1974). *BIC* uses the model among the 2⁷ sub-models that has the lowest value of the Bayes information criterion (Schwarz 1978). In each of the four methods the full model is linear in a constant and the seven "balancing variables" and corresponds to the data generating process. The size of the training sample used to estimate these predictors is $N_{trainingsample}$ and the total number of unit in each simulated experiment.

Table B.8: Size control for Multiple Randomization Methods 3

$N_{trainingsample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 300$			Ra	ndomization N	/lethod		
	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	0.054	0.048	0.050	0.052	0.052	0.049	0.049
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.052	0.050	0.055	0.050	0.045	0.053	0.049
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.049	0.052	0.050	0.049	0.050	0.048	0.048
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.049	0.049	0.053	0.049	0.051	0.049	0.051
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.052	0.049	0.051	0.054	0.047	0.052	0.049
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.049	0.046	0.051	0.052	0.053	0.051	0.052

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests using multiple randomization methods. The randomizations methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

 Table B.9: Power for Multiple Randomization Methods 3

$N_{trainingsample} = 2000, N_{experiment} = 300$				Ra	ndomization N	Aethod		
	TE	CR	MPY_0	$MP\hat{Y}_{Ridge}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{LASSO}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{AIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{BIC}$	$MP\hat{Y}_{orcl}$
Labor income (Mexico)	0.18	0.359	0.361	0.464	0.473	0.465	0.464	0.464
Microenterprise profits (Sri Lanka)	0.12	0.180	0.173	0.191	0.196	0.198	0.199	0.193
Math test score (Pakistan)	0.24	0.492	0.503	0.706	0.736	0.722	0.718	0.730
Height z-score (Pakistan)	0.27	0.611	0.600	0.787	0.784	0.776	0.771	0.790
Household expenditures (Indonesia)	0.51	0.993	0.994	0.999	0.999	0.999	0.998	0.999
Child schooling (Indonesia)	0.24	0.531	0.541	0.608	0.614	0.602	0.608	0.610

Notes: This table gives the rejection rates for .95 significance tests, under the treatment effect given under column TE, using multiple randomization methods. The treatment effects are presented as standard deviations of the outcome variable. The randomizations methods and sample sizes are described in Table 2.5.

Appendix C

Appendix to Chapter 3

C.1 Supplementary Tables

	Nun	nber of En	rolled Cour	rses	ex-pos	st GPA			Enrolled i	in College	
	all	other	in same	all	overall	in subj	stayed	in 4-yr	in other	in 4-yr	in other
	courses	courses	subi	courses		5	in	college	2-vr	college	2-vr
	in subi		J				school	0	college		college
	mouoj						1vr		conege		conege
	in Curre	nt Term	Next	Term			Tyr	w/ in	3 vrs	Next	Term
overall	-	0.071	3 558	-0.0550	-0.306	-0.0486	-0.107	0.0805	0.0305	-0.0448	-0.0319
overall	1 760***	0.071	5.550	-0.0550	-0.500	-0.0+00	-0.107	0.0005	0.0505	-0.0440	-0.0517
	(0.207)	(0.277)	(10.00)	(0.420)	(0.240)	(0.904)	(0.126)	(0, 110)	(0.0049)	(0.0(01)	(0.0504)
s.e.	(0.397)	(0.577)	(18.99)	(0.439)	(0.246)	(0.894)	(0.130)	(0.119)	(0.0948)	(0.0681)	(0.0504)
Obs.	23,138	34,004	9,298	23,132	22,033	17,507	34,127	34,127	34,127	34,127	34,127
Males	-	0.635	1.025	-0.101	-	0.383	0.151	-0.0974	-0.0312	-0.0485	-0.0477
	1.180***				0.769**						
s.e.	(0.454)	(0.417)	(1.492)	(0.482)	(0.389)	(1.239)	(0.154)	(0.135)	(0.106)	(0.0774)	(0.0572)
Obs.	11,321	16,632	4,670	11,391	14,919	8,557	16,682	16,682	16,682	16,682	16,682
Females	-	-0.931	1.582	0.0796	-0.280	-0.574	-0.525*	0.417	0.156	-0.0239	0.000487
	2.429***										
s.e.	(0.803)	(0.842)	(1.598)	(0.913)	(0.691)	(1.366)	(0.303)	(0.258)	(0.192)	(0.132)	(0.0983)
Obs.	11,763	17,300	4,599	11,688	15,280	8,911	17,373	17,373	17,373	17,373	17,373
Non-First Time	-	0.232	1.725	-0.207	-	-0.573	-0.0530	-0.0229	0.0665	-0.108	-0.0604
	1 620***				0 587**						
se	(0.621)	(0.419)	(4.716)	(0.476)	(0.292)	(1.897)	(0.151)	(0.136)	(0.105)	(0.0808)	(0.0560)
Obs	18 056	27 501	7 676	18 722	17.835	14 640	27 602	27 602	27 602	(0.0000)	(0.0500)
Eist Time	18,950	0.572	0.406	0.725	0.652	0.272	0.224	0.526*	0.141	0.021*	0.0914
rist-rine	-	-0.575	0.400	0.725	0.052	0.372	-0.324	0.520	-0.141	0.231	0.0614
	1.926***	(0,000)	(6.470)	(1.0.10)	(0.7.11)	(0 (10)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0, 1, 40)	(0.100)
s.e.	(0.446)	(0.899)	(6.470)	(1.243)	(0.741)	(0.642)	(0.321)	(0.292)	(0.230)	(0.140)	(0.122)
Obs.	4,182	6,413	1,844	4,410	5,674	2,867	6,435	6,435	6,435	6,435	6,435
Non-foreign	-	0.0269	0.0757	0.0726	-0.236	1.188	-0.0819	-0.156	0.198*	-0.0547	0.0195
	1.690***										
s.e.	(0.399)	(0.406)	(1.737)	(0.466)	(0.373)	(1.286)	(0.150)	(0.455)	(0.114)	(0.0747)	(0.0595)
Obs.	15,986	23,910	5,804	15,688	21,017	11,941	24,008	34,042	24,008	24,008	24,008
Foreign	-1.885**	0.156	0.719	-0.355	-1.593*	-2.308	-0.185	-0.102	-	-0.0170	-0.183*
•									0.463**		
s.e.	(0.870)	(0.860)	(0.619)	(1.065)	(0.920)	(1.881)	(0.298)	(0.262)	(0.233)	(0.154)	(0.106)
Obs	7.152	10.094	2.874	7.444	9.248	5.566	10.119	10.119	10.119	10.119	10.119
Minority	4 483	0.0434	-1 274	0.849	-1.028	-0.401	-0 524	1 234	0.0781	0.188	-0.0459
s a	(6.073)	(1,000)	(2.003)	(1.306)	(2, 376)	$(1 \ 142)$	(0.524)	(0.060)	(0.638)	(0.267)	(0.278)
S.C.	2 874	(1.990)	(2.903)	2 664	(2.570)	(1.142)	5 847	(0.900) 5 847	(0.036) 7 124	(0.207)	(0.278) 5 847
008. A -i	5,674	0.207	0.625	0.004	4,913	0.424	0.100	0.164	0.0279	0.0570	0.0221
Asian	-	0.397	0.035	-0.220	-0.019	-0.434	-0.100	-0.104	0.0278	-0.0570	-0.0231
	1.118***	(0.51.0)	(1.24.1)	(0. (1. 1)	(0.404)		(0.105)	(0.455)	(0.101)	(0.000	(0.0((0))
s.e.	(0.367)	(0.514)	(1.364)	(0.614)	(0.431)	(0.776)	(0.187)	(0.175)	(0.131)	(0.0987)	(0.0662)
Obs.	11,497	16,678	5,145	12,125	15,188	8,838	16,721	16,721	16,721	16,721	16,721
White	-	-0.825	-0.0257	-0.246	-0.603	0.953	-0.101	0.162	-0.391	-0.0798	0.0297
	1.637***										
s.e.	(0.559)	(0.630)	(1.505)	(0.631)	(0.662)	(1.147)	(0.687)	(0.193)	(0.541)	(0.118)	(0.0805)
Obs.	4,884	7,108	2,241	4,555	6,339	3,842	8,696	7,139	8,696	7,139	7,139
Old	-3.722	0.619	1.002	-0.292	-0.818	7.654	0.267	0.325	-0.0371	-0.170	-0.0207
s.e.	(3.731)	(0.885)	(1.501)	(0.966)	(0.659)	(30.53)	(0.292)	(0.255)	(0.192)	(0.159)	(0.107)
Obs.	7.920	11.481	3.963	6.680	9.782	7.414	11.544	11.544	11.544	11.544	11.544
Young	-	-0.191	1.140	0.0154	-0.413	0.155	-0.260*	-0.0193	0.0509	0.00273	-0.0361
roung	1 475***	5.171		0.010 1	5.115	5.155	0.200	5.0175	5.6507	0.00275	5.0501
6.0	(0.306)	(0.307)	(2, 455)	(0.470)	(0.402)	(0.705)	(0.156)	(0.136)	(0, 100)	(0.0742)	(0.0565)
o.c.	15 219	(0.397)	(2.433)	(0.479)	20.492	(0.795) 11 501	(0.150)	22 582	(0.109)	(0.0742)	(0.0505)
Obs.	13,210	22,323	1,130	10,452	20,403	11,301	22,303	22,303	22,303	22,303	22,303

Table C.1: Cubic Local Polynomial Results, (CCT)

This table presents estimates of the regression discontinuity estimates using two stage least squares and the method of bandwidth selection developed by CCT(2013a 2013b). The estimates use a third order polynomial to approximate the underlying regression function, the expected outcome conditional on the running variable as a function of the running variable. In the CCT algorithm that selects bandwidth a fourth order polynomial is used to estimate bias due to functional form misspecification. The bandwidth selected using this method is usually between two and three.

	Nun	ber of Enr	olled Cour	ses	ex-pos	st GPA			Enrolled i	n College	
	all	other	in same	all	overall	in subj	stayed	in 4-yr	in other	in 4-yr	in other
	courses	courses	subj	courses		5	in	college	2-yr	college	2-yr
	in subj		•				school	-	college		college
							1yr				
	in Curre	nt Term	Next	Term				w/ in	3 yrs	Next	Term
overall	-	0.138	0.0864	0.448	-0.0662	0.422	-0.0828	0.273**	0.0780	0.0576	0.00205
	1.943***										
s.e.	(0.470)	(0.338)	(0.441)	(0.435)	(0.329)	(0.831)	(0.110)	(0.122)	(0.0941)	(0.0683)	(0.0496)
Obs.	27,403	40,442	8,930	27,363	36,058	20,881	40,593	40,593	40,593	40,593	40,593
Males	-	0.0719	-0.694	0.596	-0.292	0.0525	-0.0955	0.0658	0.0322	0.0171	-0.0483
	1.852***										
s.e.	(0.564)	(0.416)	(0.720)	(0.557)	(0.420)	(1.026)	(0.140)	(0.149)	(0.120)	(0.0863)	(0.0653)
Obs.	13,375	19,719	4,461	13,420	17,685	10,156	19,781	19,781	19,781	19,781	19,781
Females	-2.044**	0.327	0.877	0.368	0.215	0.729	-0.0525	0.520**	0.137	0.0975	0.0616
s.e.	(0.798)	(0.568)	(0.736)	(0.695)	(0.541)	(1.407)	(0.177)	(0.220)	(0.154)	(0.112)	(0.0797)
Obs.	14.028	20.723	4.469	13.943	18.373	10.725	20.812	20.812	20.812	20.812	20.812
Non-First Time Students	-1.653	0.482	0.280	0.463	-0.329	0.989	-0.105	0.287*	0.0824	0.0189	-0.0284
s.e.	(1.043)	(0.432)	(0.614)	(0.535)	(0.419)	(1.974)	(0.143)	(0.158)	(0.117)	(0.0905)	(0.0616)
Obs	22.326	32.611	7 301	21 991	29 122	17 339	32,733	32,733	32,733	32,733	32,733
Fist-Time Students	-	-0.679	-0.305	0.466	0.629	0.197	0.000616	0.229	0.0635	0.140*	0.0677
The buddents	2 079***	0.077	0.505	0.100	0.027	0.177	0.000010	0.227	0.0000	0.110	0.0077
S P	(0.377)	(0.542)	(0.608)	(0.717)	(0.536)	(0.589)	(0.142)	(0.172)	(0.154)	(0.0831)	(0.0851)
Obs	5 077	7 831	1 629	5 372	6.936	3 542	7 860	7 860	7 860	7 860	7 860
Non-foreign Students	5,077	-0.0154	-0.301	0.275	0,030	1 502	-0.110	0.353**	0.152	0.0402	0.0365
Non-Toreign Students	- 2 164***	-0.0154	-0.391	0.275	0.0409	1.592	-0.119	0.555	0.152	0.0402	0.0505
se	(0.544)	(0.408)	(0.856)	(0.502)	(0.394)	$(1 \ 142)$	(0.138)	(0.156)	(0.124)	(0.0839)	(0.0658)
Obs	18 945	28 486	5 585	18 586	25 080	(1.1+2) 14 225	28 607	28 607	28 607	28 607	(0.0050)
Eoreign Students	-1 606*	0.350	0.202	0.686	_0.300	-2 524	-0.0551	0.0011	-0.0601	0.0016	-0.0587
s e	(0.931)	(0.606)	(0.292)	(0.840)	(0.595)	(2.103)	(0.170)	(0.106)	(0.142)	(0.118)	(0.0716)
Obs	(0.931)	(0.000)	2 2 4 5	(0.0+)) 8 777	10.078	(2.195)	11.086	11.086	(0.142)	11.086	11 086
Minority Students	0,430	0.910***	0.155	0,777	0.159	0,030	0.175*	0.0662	0.0600	0.0145	11,960
Willofity Students	-	0.812	0.155	-0.098	0.138	-0.349	-0.175	0.0002	0.0009	-0.0145	-
	$1.700^{-1.0}$	(0, 205)	(0.291)	(0.424)	(0.202)	(2,696)	(0.0082)	(0.0945)	(0.0925)	(0.0459)	0.00855
s.e.	(0.001)	(0.303)	(0.281)	(0.424)	(0.303)	(2.080)	(0.0982)	(0.0843)	(0.0855)	(0.0438)	(0.0497)
Obs.	1,1/3	0.140	2,147	7,105	9,782	5,100	0.0020	0.0221	0.100	0.0425	0.0722
Asian Students	-1.22/**	0.140	0.258	0.563	0.282	0.325	-0.0830	-0.0231	0.100	0.0435	0.0723
s.e.	(0.555)	(0.538)	(0.943)	(0.722)	(0.498)	(0.967)	(0.1/2)	(0.193)	(0.149)	(0.112)	(0.0765)
Obs.	13,683	19,982	4,934	14,407	18,182	10,587	20,031	20,031	20,031	20,031	20,031
White Students	-	-0.0181	0.534	0.829	-0.596	0.404	-	0.303*	0.151	-0.0121	0.0609
	1.554***						0.370**				
s.e.	(0.527)	(0.497)	(0.548)	(0.533)	(0.503)	(0.935)	(0.182)	(0.184)	(0.142)	(0.105)	(0.0759)
Obs.	5,729	8,343	1,658	5,336	7,454	4,513	8,377	8,377	8,377	8,377	8,377
Old Students	-4.058	0.284	0.445	0.0430	-0.277	3.184	0.485*	0.651**	-0.0210	0.0641	-0.0641
s.e.	(7.204)	(0.772)	(0.647)	(0.948)	(0.673)	(13.49)	(0.288)	(0.309)	(0.195)	(0.159)	(0.106)
Obs.	9,360	13,606	2,954	7,995	11,658	7,126	13,682	13,682	13,682	13,682	13,682
Young Students	-	0.126	-0.591	0.609	0.108	0.418	-	0.170	0.0997	0.0589	0.0211
	1.849***						0.245**				
s.e.	(0.363)	(0.360)	(0.648)	(0.484)	(0.372)	(0.720)	(0.120)	(0.133)	(0.107)	(0.0723)	(0.0561)
Obs.	18,043	26,836	5,976	19,368	24,400	13,755	26,911	26,911	26,911	26,911	26,911
Cum. Course credits	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Cum. Enrolled courses	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
First Time Status	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Received Fin. Aid	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Female	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Goal Voc. Cert.	x	x	×	×	×	×	x	×	×	×	x
Goal 4-yr Degree	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table C.2: Local Linear TSLS, with control variables (BW of 5)

These regressions allow for linear functions of the running variable with different slopes on either side of the threshold. They also control for cumulative course credits earned, cumulative number of courses taken, whether the semester is the student's first, whether the student received financial aid, gender, and whether the student declared an intention to obtain a vocational certificate or transfer to a four year college. Here we use a rectangular kernel with a bandwidth of five on either side of the threshold.

 $E(Y|RV, W) = \alpha + \delta'W + Z \cdot \beta + \gamma^0 RV + \gamma^1 Z \cdot RV$

	Number of Enrolled Courses			ex-pos	st GPA		Enrolled in College				
	all	other	in same	all	overall	in subi	staved	in 4-vr	in other	in 4-vr	in other
	courses	courses	subi	courses		· · · · J	in	college	2-vr	college	2-vr
	in subj		J				school		college		college
	j.						1yr				
	in Curren	nt Term	Next Term				5	w/ in 3 vrs		Next Term	
overall	-	0.261	0.242	0.436	-0.0656	0.565	-0.0897	0.203*	0.0357	0.0662	-0.0117
	1.340***										
s.e.	(0.337)	(0.343)	(0.342)	(0.449)	(0.344)	(0.825)	(0.101)	(0.122)	(0.0966)	(0.0703)	(0.0514)
Obs.	27,398	40,431	8,929	27,355	36,047	20,876	40,582	40,582	40,582	40,582	40,582
Males	-	0.174	0.0253	0.703	-0.292	0.235	-0.0213	-0.0358	-0.0235	0.00410	-0.0738
	1.327***										
s.e.	(0.484)	(0.444)	(0.487)	(0.601)	(0.470)	(1.203)	(0.133)	(0.159)	(0.129)	(0.0930)	(0.0715)
Obs.	13,373	19,714	4,460	13,416	17,680	10,154	19,776	19,776	19,776	19,776	19,776
Females	-	0.436	0.457	0.207	0.233	0.550	-0.148	0.460**	0.117	0.143	0.0545
	1.293***										
s.e.	(0.474)	(0.542)	(0.491)	(0.691)	(0.523)	(1.123)	(0.156)	(0.205)	(0.150)	(0.111)	(0.0777)
Obs.	14,025	20,717	4,469	13,939	18,367	10,722	20,806	20,806	20,806	20,806	20,806
Non-First Time Students	-0.583	0.552	0.530	0.450	-0.376	0.791	-0.0803	0.200	0.0279	0.0376	-0.0402
s.e.	(0.645)	(0.435)	(0.493)	(0.541)	(0.440)	(1.483)	(0.130)	(0.155)	(0.119)	(0.0923)	(0.0633)
Obs.	22,321	32,600	7,300	21,983	29,111	17,334	32,722	32,722	32,722	32,722	32,722
Fist-Time Students	-	-0.238	-0.442	0.379	0.835	0.765	-0.0929	0.184	0.0426	0.113	0.0730
	1.915***										
s.e.	(0.345)	(0.506)	(0.442)	(0.767)	(0.562)	(0.745)	(0.127)	(0.169)	(0.156)	(0.0815)	(0.0861)
Obs.	5,077	7,831	1,629	5,372	6,936	3,542	7,860	7,860	7,860	7,860	7,860
Non-foreign Students	-	0.0774	0.525	0.210	0.0483	1.679	-0.129	0.284*	0.0977	0.0457	0.0198
ç	1.389***										
s.e.	(0.359)	(0.412)	(0.686)	(0.522)	(0.417)	(1.093)	(0.126)	(0.154)	(0.125)	(0.0857)	(0.0674)
Obs.	18,942	28,478	5,584	18,581	25,072	14,222	28,599	28,599	28,599	28,599	28,599
Foreign Students	-1.360*	0.460	0.0781	0.899	-0.493	-2.600	-0.0439	0.0311	-0.0688	0.0930	-0.0572
s.e.	(0.731)	(0.627)	(0.423)	(0.933)	(0.605)	(2.083)	(0.167)	(0.203)	(0.150)	(0.124)	(0.0754)
Obs.	8,456	11,953	3,345	8,774	10,975	6,654	11,983	11,983	11,983	11,983	11,983
Minority Students	-	0.636**	0.0452	-0.511	0.189	-	-0.0999	0.0550	0.0178	-	-0.0167
	1.373***					0.00798				0.00944	
s.e.	(0.323)	(0.271)	(0.229)	(0.363)	(0.273)	(1.067)	(0.0805)	(0.0778)	(0.0765)	(0.0422)	(0.0461)
Obs.	7,172	11,566	2,147	7,103	9,780	5,165	11,636	11,636	11,636	11,636	11,636
Asian Students	-1.030**	0.167	0.162	0.618	0.312	0.447	-0.113	-0.122	0.0803	0.0806	0.0710
s.e.	(0.433)	(0.582)	(0.619)	(0.852)	(0.557)	(0.999)	(0.164)	(0.211)	(0.163)	(0.123)	(0.0838)
Obs.	13,680	19,975	4,933	14,401	18,175	10,584	20,024	20,024	20,024	20,024	20,024
White Students	-	0.0994	0.631	0.740	-0.675	0.156	-	0.258	0.0803	-0.0291	0.0398
	1.341***						0.373**				
s.e.	(0.446)	(0.481)	(0.475)	(0.518)	(0.521)	(0.853)	(0.163)	(0.176)	(0.137)	(0.103)	(0.0738)
Obs.	5,728	8,341	1,658	5,336	7,452	4,512	8,375	8,375	8,375	8,375	8,375
Old Students	-0.426	0.636	0.414	0.124	-0.219	1.508	0.356	0.592**	-0.0725	0.0657	-0.0819
s.e.	(1.174)	(0.731)	(0.484)	(0.910)	(0.688)	(2.508)	(0.235)	(0.279)	(0.186)	(0.151)	(0.102)
Obs.	9,359	13,603	2,954	7,993	11,655	7,125	13,679	13,679	13,679	13,679	13,679
Young Students	-	0.146	0.0849	0.537	0.117	0.642	-	0.0933	0.0637	0.0854	0.00949
	1.601***						0.238**				
s.e.	(0.324)	(0.372)	(0.460)	(0.509)	(0.390)	(0.873)	(0.112)	(0.137)	(0.112)	(0.0763)	(0.0590)
Obs.	18,039	26,828	5,975	19,362	24,392	13,751	26,903	26,903	26,903	26,903	26,903
Race FEs	×	Х	×	х	×	Х	×	×	×	×	×
Reg. Priority Group FEs	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Year × Term FEs	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Subj. FEs	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

Table C.3: Local Linear TSLS, with more extensive control variables (BW of .)	5)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----

These regressions allow for linear functions of the running variable with different slopes on either side of the threshold. As before they control for cumulative course credits earned, cumulative number of courses taken, whether the semester is the student's first, whether the student received financial aid, gender, and whether the student declared an intention to obtain a vocational certificate or transfer to a four year college. They also control for race fixed effects, registration priority group fixed effects, term fixed effects and subject fixed effects. Here we use a rectangular kernel with a bandwidth of five on either side of the threshold.

	N					CD		Equalled in Caller			
	Number of Enrolled Courses			rses	ex-post GPA			Enrolled in College			
	all	other	in same	all	overall	in subj	stayed	in 4-yr	in other	in 4-yr	in other
	courses	courses	subj	courses			in	college	2-yr	college	2-yr
	in subj						school		college		college
							1yr				
	in Curre	Current Term Next Term				w/ in 3 yrs		Next Term			
overall	-1.469**	0.283	2.648	0.460	-1.111	-0.0263	-0.193	0.392	-0.0437	0.0861	-0.0961
s.e.	(0.579)	(0.726)	(8.075)	(0.843)	(0.787)	(1.257)	(0.217)	(0.271)	(0.201)	(0.146)	(0.110)
Obs.	18,046	26,276	5,840	17,897	23,375	13,530	26,372	26,372	26,372	26,372	26,372
Males	-1.067*	0.685	-27.74	0.359	-1.357	-0.547	0.0224	-0.0248	-0.101	0.0259	-0.0768
s.e.	(0.645)	(0.745)	(1,026)	(0.789)	(0.894)	(1.812)	(0.217)	(0.259)	(0.212)	(0.151)	(0.116)
Obs.	8,840	12,850	2,955	8,773	11,520	6,613	12,891	12,891	12,891	12,891	12,891
Females	-2.048	-0.780	8.599	0.731	-0.847	0.414	-0.781	1.431	0.166	0.235	-0.144
s.e.	(1.437)	(2.078)	(36.20)	(2.879)	(1.760)	(2.071)	(0.773)	(1.199)	(0.522)	(0.398)	(0.286)
Obs.	9.206	13.426	2.885	9.124	11.855	6.917	13.481	13.481	13.481	13.481	13.481
Non-First Time Students	-1 321	0.643	-42 70	0.146	-1 995	0.0493	-0.0767	0.229	-0.0932	0.0493	-0.188
s P	(1.187)	(0.948)	(1.261)	(1.065)	(1.407)	(3, 439)	(0.278)	(0.333)	(0.255)	(0.195)	(0.150)
Obs	14 650	21 127	(1,201)	14 352	18 831	(3.437)	21 205	21 205	21 205	21 205	21 205
Eist Time Students	14,050	0.316	2 281	0.020	0.385	0.528	0.452	0.710	0.0272	0.155	0.134
Fist-Time Students	- 1.585***	-0.510	-2.381	0.929	0.385	0.528	-0.432	0.719	0.0373	0.155	0.134
s.e.	(0.520)	(1.065)	(5.395)	(1.387)	(0.889)	(0.908)	(0.319)	(0.460)	(0.319)	(0.175)	(0.181)
Obs.	3,396	5,149	1,102	3,545	4,544	2,305	5,167	5,167	5,167	5,167	5,167
Non-foreign Students	-1.526**	0.167	0.184	0.0895	-0.578	1.338	-0.226	0.598	0.231	0.0542	-
U											0.00124
s.e.	(0.619)	(0.866)	(1.027)	(0.993)	(0.883)	(1.527)	(0.271)	(0.366)	(0.268)	(0.176)	(0.139)
Obs.	12,429	18,378	3,615	12,072	16,139	9,174	18,453	18,453	18,453	18,453	18,453
Foreign Students	-1.598	0.182	1.107	1.675	-2.536	-4.523	-0.110	-0.0872	-0.617	0.135	-0.274
s.e.	(1.353)	(1.400)	(1.091)	(2.052)	(2.102)	(5.185)	(0.378)	(0.455)	(0.455)	(0.278)	(0.215)
Obs.	5,617	7,898	2,225	5,825	7,236	4,356	7,919	7,919	7,919	7,919	7,919
Minority Students	-	0.679**	-0.0293	-0.569	0.227	-0.0645	-0.0822	0.0770	0.0146	-0.0222	-0.0334
-	1.296***										
s.e.	(0.332)	(0.279)	(0.236)	(0.392)	(0.283)	(1.096)	(0.0828)	(0.0800)	(0.0786)	(0.0435)	(0.0480)
Obs.	6,820	11,013	2,047	6,768	9,300	4,915	11,080	11,080	11,080	11,080	11,080
Asian Students	-0.621	0.174	1.078	0.403	-0.527	0.130	-0.390	0.164	-0.0877	0.225	-0.130
s.e.	(0.554)	(0.923)	(1.260)	(1.168)	(0.783)	(1.133)	(0.295)	(0.341)	(0.258)	(0.211)	(0.136)
Obs	8 996	12.926	3 205	9 422	11 755	6 841	12.965	12.965	12.965	12.965	12.965
White Students	-2 315**	0.0505	-1 460	-0.124	-1 648	-0.989	-0.227	0.473	0.0383	-0.199	0.00674
se	(1.088)	(0.943)	(3.053)	(0.801)	(1.229)	(1.536)	(0.294)	(0.369)	(0.261)	(0.212)	(0.142)
Obs	3 784	5 440	1.086	3 473	4 833	2 935	5 464	5 464	5 464	5 464	5 464
Old Students	5.820	4 409	0.550	0.467	-4 924	-1 575	0.0641	0.886	0.373	-0.113	-0.466
s e	(65.07)	(5.816)	(0.861)	(2, 422)	(6.440)	(7.400)	(0.804)	(1, 233)	(0.784)	(0.572)	(0.506)
obs	6.084	(3.810)	(0.801)	(2.422)	(0.449)	(7.490)	(0.804)	(1.255)	(0.784) 8 855	(0.372)	(0.390)
Voung Students	0,084	0.250	0.222	0.455	0.246	4,393	0.259	0.262	0.120	0.196	0,0305
Toung Students	- 1.214***	-0.339	-0.322	0.433	-0.240	0.210	-0.238	0.302	-0.120	0.180	-0.0203
s.e.	(0.391)	(0.676)	(1.142)	(0.912)	(0.685)	(0.965)	(0.202)	(0.261)	(0.200)	(0.141)	(0.105)
Obs.	11.962	17.468	3.957	12.763	15.863	8.937	17.517	17.517	17.517	17.517	17.517
Cum Course credits	× ×	x	× ×	× ×	X	× ×	×	×	× ×	X	×
Cum Enrolled courses	x	×	×	×	×	×	x	×	×	×	×
First Time Status	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	×	X	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	X	Ŷ	X	Ŷ
Received Fin Aid	× ×	~	~	~	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	~	$\hat{\checkmark}$	~ ~	\sim	~	\sim
Female	\sim	~	~	~	~	~	~	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	\sim	\sim	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$
Goal Voc. Cart	\sim	\sim	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	\sim	\sim
Goal 4 vr Dagraa	\sim	~	~	\sim	~	~	$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$	~	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	~	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$
Goal 4-yr Degree	x	×	X	x	×	×	×	×	x	×	x

Table C.4: Local Linear TSLS, with more extensive control variables (BW of 3)

These regressions allow for linear functions of the running variable with different slopes on either side of the threshold. They also control for cumulative course credits earned, cumulative number of courses taken, whether the semester is the student's first, whether the student received financial aid, gender, and whether the student declared an intention to obtain a vocational certificate or transfer to a four year college. Here we use a rectangular kernel with a bandwidth of three on either side of the threshold.